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THE EFFECTS OF THE GLOBAL CROSSING
BANKRUPTCY ON INVESTORS, MARKETS,
AND EMPLOYEES

THURSDAY, MARCH 21, 2002

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND INVESTIGATIONS,
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:05 a.m., in room
2128, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Sue W. Kelly,
[chairwoman of the subcommittee], presiding.

Present: Chairwoman Kelly; Representatives LaFalce, Tiberi,
Oxley, Jones, Capuano and Clay.

Also present: Representatives Slaughter and Baker.

Chairwoman KELLY. Good morning. This hearing of the Over-
sight and Investigations Subcommittee of the House Financial
Services Committee will come to order.

I want to thank all Members of Congress who are present today,
and without objection, all Members present will participate fully in
the hearing. Their opening statements and their questions will be
made part of the official hearing record. In the interest of ensuring
proper subcommittee consideration of H.R. 3763, The Corporate
and Auditor Accountability, Responsibility, and Transparency Act,
known as CARTA, we are here today to examine the status of the
telecommunications industry.

We will hear from the executives of the companies, from the in-
dustry experts, and from an accounting expert at the Securities
and Exchange Commission. Global Crossing’s bankruptcy in Janu-
ary marked the fourth largest bankruptcy in the history of the
United States.

It serves as an ominous warning to the financial and business
community and has had far-reaching consequences. While the over-
all downturn in the telcom industry was a factor in the collapse,
the fall of Global Crossing raises serious questions about current
accounting practices, disclosure requirements, and corporate man-
agement.

Just yesterday we learned that Global Crossing did not disclose
a complex communications deal, several months before the com-
pany filed for bankruptcy in January. Experts called the lack of
disclosure a serious lapse by management.

An estimated 500,000 jobs have been lost in the telecom indus-
try. Global Crossing’s bankruptcy resulted in the loss of an esti-
mated 9,000 jobs, and has caused real harm to investor confidence.
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It has had an impact on my home State of New York. Statewide,
Global Crossing has eliminated hundreds of local jobs, and the New
1York State Pension Fund lost $63 million as a result of the col-
apse.

How did a company that was perceived by all conventional meas-
ures as healthy, fall so far so fast? By all accounts, Global Crossing
was a winner, but now we know that it was actually a financial
time bomb.

Did some top executives know that the clock was ticking and
that time was running out? One thing is certain. We do know that
the bomb was tossed right in the lap of employees and investors
who didn’t have a clue that the company was going under.

The collapse of Global Crossing calls into question, how much
confidence employees, investors, and the public should have in fi-
nancial information that’s released by companies, particularly the
pro forma financial projections. Since these pro forma statements
are not required to use Generally Accepted Accounting Principles,
known as GAAP Principals or GAAP Accounting, a company such
as Global Crossing can massage the numbers on these pro forma
financial statements, or, in other words, these pro forma state-
ments can provide an easy opportunity to cook the books.

In the case of Global Crossing, the company’s pro forma state-
ments may have misinformed investors and employees as to the
profitability and performance of the company. In an examination of
Global Crossing’s filings submitted last spring with the SEC, the
company reported an additional $531 million in earnings in the pro
forma statement, pumping up earnings by nearly 50 percent as the
result of controversial swaps activities.

However, the $531 million was not included in the company’s
GAAP-compliant statement of earnings. Why not? Because under
present required disclosure regulations, it didn’t exist. It wasn’t re-
quired to exist.

In addition, we need to examine the way in which companies re-
port their swaps of indefeasible rights of use known as IRUs. It ap-
pears that swaps are being used as a quick and easy way to inflate
earnings, and make a company look more profitable than it really
is.

Investors deserve accurate information and in some cases, they
appear not to be getting it. We need to know how the SEC views
these IRUs, since some have alleged that this accounting practice
has misled investors and the companies’ employees as to the true
profitability of the corporations.

Other issues raised by the collapse of Global Crossing include
corporate governance and responsibility, including blackout periods
imposed on employee 401K plans. At the highest levels of Global
Crossing, top executives were selling stock and pocketing millions
before the company’s collapse. Former CEO Gary Winnick, sold
stock worth $734 million before the company collapsed, while this
winter, employees of his company watched their savings, invest-
ments, and severance packages disappear.

The purpose of this hearing is to take an honest look at the
issues surrounding this collapse. The ultimate goal is to protect
workers and investors and prevent this from happening in the fu-
ture through new legislation, if it’s necessary.



3

Accounting methods, financial disclosure, and transparency and
corporate governance are matters that the Full Committee is delib-
erating right now. I believe that CARTA provides a comprehensive
solution to our concerns and will restore investor and employee
confidence in company disclosures.

I would like to note for the record that we invited the President
of the Communications Workers of America to testify, however, he
was unable to join us due to scheduling problems. In addition, we
also invited the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
to testify, but they were also unable to accept the invitation.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Sue W. Kelly can be found on
page 50 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. Unfortunately, my friend, the Ranking
Member, Mr. Gutierrez, is unable to join us today, so I will now
recognize the Ranking Member for the Full Committee, Congress-
man LaFalce, for his opening statement. Mr. LaFalce.

Mr. LAFALCE. Thank you very much. First of all, I am delighted
that you are having this hearing today. I think it’s very, very im-
portant, and I am pleased we have such distinguished witnesses.

Once again, investigation into the companies, most particularly
Global Crossing’s conduct, by the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission and by the Justice Department have raised the specter of
another major United States company that may have been engaged
in very deceptive accounting practices.

While we do not yet know for certain if Global Crossing engaged
in fraudulent accounting practices, there are certainly very serious
questions as to whether it engaged in practices that had far more
to do with meeting analysts’ earnings estimates than with eco-
nomic substance.

While its ultimate failure may have had to do primarily with its
underlying business model, and also—and very importantly—ex-
cess industry capacity, Global Crossing may well have succeeded in
keeping its share price inflated much longer than was justified,
based upon its true value.

Global Crossing may not be alone within the world of companies
or within the world of telecommunications companies. The Finan-
cial Services Committee is currently considering legislation aimed
at correcting the systemic weaknesses that have become all to ap-
parent in our financial reporting system.

Mrs. Kelly has mentioned one of them, CARTA. That’s been in-
troduced by the Chairman and co-sponsored by many individuals in
this subcommittee. There is another approach, too. While there’s
nothing wrong with the CARTA approach, in my judgment, as far
as it goes, I just don’t think it goes nearly far enough, and so I've
introduced a bill, CIPA, The Comprehensive Investor Protection
Act, and it, too, has been co-sponsored by a great many Members
of our subcommittee and others within the House.

Some of the witnesses in our past hearings have warned that we
should not overreact to the collapse of Enron and some other com-
panies. Well, I don’t think we should overreact to anything, but I
don’t think we should under-react, either.

The failure of Global Crossing, Enron, and so forth, is a powerful
reminder that this is not just about the foibles of one or two compa-
nies, but it’s about fundamental weaknesses that afflict our finan-
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cial reporting system. The safegaurds intended to protect investors
have been overwhelmed by the temptation for companies to some-
times cheat, but more often, overstate or obscure their financial
disclosure to improve short-term results, to improve market cap-
italization, to meet analyst or investor expectations or analyst
hype.

If we are to break out of this cycle of improprieties, I believe that
we must fundamentally do a number of things. We must alter the
relationship of the auditor to its client, making sure that everybody
realizes that the auditor’s responsibility is a fiduciary responsibility
to the public.

We must strengthen corporate governance. I just think that the
line between the boards of directors and the offices sometimes has
been blurred, and boards of directors too often become passive pup-
pets of officers—not always, to be sure, but too often. This is espe-
cially true with respect to audit committees, and we must provide
meaningful oversight to both the accounting profession and the se-
curities industry analysts.

I've introduced a bill, as I've said, that seeks to do exactly that.
I look forward to working with the Members of our subcommittee
as we seek to learn the facts of the failure of Global Crossing and
its management practices, its accounting practices, as I look for-
ward to hearing today from other participants within the tele-
communications industry to gain their perspective. And I hope that
we can create a legislative response that will not simply follow the
lead of either the Chairman or the Ranking Member, but a legisla-
tive response that will take each issue, issue-by-issue, and attempt
to come up with a response that is the best way to deal with a par-
ticular issue, regardless of which side of the aisle it originated on.
I thank the Chair.

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you very much, Mr. LaFalce.

We turn now to the Chairman of the full Committee on Financial
Services, Mr. Oxley.

Mr. OXLEY. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, for this timely and,
we hope, illuminating hearing today. It seems that each day brings
us new allegations about the use or misuse of complex accounting
practices that hide the information needed by the markets to as-
sess a company’s health.

When this happens to a healthy company during a period of
growth, the company can work its way through it, but when the
company is already experiencing a severe downturn in its business
and then has its accounting question, as was the case with Global
Crossing, it can be devastating.

There are two sets of victims who get burned in this cycle: Inves-
tors suddenly receive new and damaging information about the
company, and then lose confidence in it, and worse yet, the employ-
ees then lose their jobs and their pensions when the businesses
turn bad and the capital markets freeze, because the good news
they had about the company was not necessarily true.

While the Enron bankruptcy first brought these issues to our at-
tention, it appears that Global Crossing, which has also declared
bankruptcy, and other telecom companies accounted for key activi-
ties in a way that raises serious concerns. Employees and investors
need to know whether they engage in swaps of capacity that had
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a legitimate business purpose or did not, and whether they were
accounted for properly or in a way that just pumped up their pro-
jected cash flow and stock prices.

Global Crossing entered into these capacity swaps with a number
of companies, including Qwest, Cable and Wireless, and WorldCom
at a time when the entire telecom world was experiencing an ex-
cess of capacity. We need to understand how the industry’s overall
problems intersected with the use of those swaps.

I want to thank the CEO and CFO of Global Crossing and execu-
tives of Qwest, WorldCom and Cable and Wireless for agreeing to
appear before us today to explain these issues to the subcommittee
and to the American people. It is only by investigating these prac-
tices that we can help investors to base their decision upon a com-
pany’s real financial condition, not just a projection released with-
out an objective opinion by an independent party.

Just as important to my way of thinking is the desire to protect
shareholders and employees from the kinds of activities that are
often characterized as sweetheart deals that might have had an ad-
verse impact on shareholder’s value. Some of these practices in-
clude special treatments for loans, bonuses and pension payouts.

We need to discuss the propriety of 401K blackout periods where-
in some employees are precluded from selling stock for specified pe-
riods of time. This hearing will be of enormous assistance in assur-
ing that H.R. 3763, The Corporate and Auditing Accountability, Re-
sponsibility, and Transparency Act of 2002, or CARTA, is success-
ful and effective.

In order for our Nation’s economy to remain on sound footing and
to continue its recovery and anticipated growth, it is vital for the
American investor to have access to the most recent, meaningful,
and accurate information possible. Good corporate governance is
necessary for such an environment to exist, and that is one of the
things we are seeking to accomplish by the introduction and imple-
mentation of the CARTA legislation.

Madam Chairwoman, we were pleased to have testimony yester-
day from the Chairman of the SEC, who indicated very strongly,
his support of our legislation and for a new way of looking at
things in this modern world, particularly in the telecommuni-
cations sector. And for that, I think all of us can learn a great deal,
not only from Mr. Pitt’s testimony, but certainly from our witnesses
today. And I thank you for the opportunity, and I yield back.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Michael G. Oxley can be found
on page 69 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

We turn now to Mrs. Jones.

Mrs. JONES. Thank you. To Chairwoman Kelly; Vice Chairman
Paul; Full Committee Chairman, Mr. Oxley; Ranking Member, Mr.
LaFalce; and Members of the subcommittee, the witnesses who
have come here this morning, thank you for coming.

In the wake of Global Crossing we have seen firsthand, the ef-
fects of poor corporate governance, perhaps, and financial irrespon-
sibility, perhaps. The issues have been complicated, at best. The
misdirection, finger-pointing, and complexity of personalities and
accounting involved in the situation have made the root issues dif-
ficult to parse.
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However, when the Gordian Knot has been tied by the Globals
of the world, I think that it’s best that we get back to basics and
move forward to evaluate our position as a Nation with regard to
corporate responsibility, governance, and ethics.

Let me first address those directly responsible for the well being
of those least able to protect themselves. At a basic level, it is the
role of the board of directors of any company to protect and act in
the best interest of the shareholders. Protecting shareholders is a
task simple enough to speak of, but seemingly infinite in its dif-
ficulty to perform.

Shareholders have no choice but to trust the board as fiduciary
agents to act in their best interest, and it is because of this depend-
ence that we must carefully evaluate what led to the down fall of
Global Crossing. Second, we must examine the role that Global’s
corporate auditors had in effecting the company’s downward spiral.

Is it more than a coincidence that Global Crossing and Enron
were both audited by Andersen? Perhaps. But we are sure that
both Enron and Global shared the same fate in Chapter 11 bank-
ruptcy.

The notion of true auditor independence is at issue, and, specific
to this hearing, how big of a factor it was in Global Crossing’s de-
mise, we hope to learn today.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the employees of Global,
who have often been overlooked in the media storm surrounding its
once proud employer. I received several letters in my Congressional
office from many of my constituents saying, why isn’t Global get-
ting the same attention as Enron? To each of my constituents who
wrote to me, today we’re going to address that issue.

Over 9,000 people lost their jobs as a result of the Global bank-
ruptcy, most of which were unaware of the accounting impropri-
eties that may have cost the company its life. The reach of the
Global Crossing debacle into the telecommunications sector was
deep: By some estimates over 500,000 jobs and $2 trillion in mar-
ket capitalization in the sector was lost as a direct result of Global
Crossing’s bankruptcy.

This is reason enough why we must continue to scrutinize what
happened to Global Crossing so that it will never happen again.
Madam Chairwoman, I am pleased that you are hosting this hear-
ing today. I thank everyone who has come out to testify, and I trust
that we will get to the bottom of many of the issues that have been
raised by both corporate leaders, by shareholders, by auditors, and
by the general public. I yield the balance of my time; thank you
very much.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Stephanie T. Jones can be
found on page 72 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KeLLY. Thank you very much, Mrs. Jones.

We turn to Mr. Tiberi. You have no opening statement at this
time? Thank you, Mr. Tiberi.

We turn to Mr. Capuano.

Mr. CAPUANO. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I have no open-
ing statement, because anything I said would probably be unprint-
able, based on this issue.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Thank you, Mr. Capuano.

We turn to Mr. Baker.



7

Mr. BAKER. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I especially want
to express your appreciation for your courtesy, not being a Member
of the subcommittee, to allow my participation this morning.

I'll be very brief, but, I hope, to a specific point. I first want to
express my appreciation for the gentlemen’s appearance here today
in helping the subcommittee to understand the mechanics of how
this reporting difficulty occurred, and hopefully leading us to some
resolution. It appears, preliminarily, that although there was com-
pliance with the letter of the law, the letters weren’t necessarily in
an order that spelled anything.

In my review of the pro forma financials, even after the July
1999 1043 revisions, it appears that compliance, technically, with
the warning statement, “Read at Your Own Risk,” sort of like a
Surgeon General’s warning, that if anyone wanted to get to the de-
tails of the content of corporate structure, you would go primarily
to the pro forma, because there appeared to be more information
than as to the GAAP standards.

It does indicate to me, at least, preliminarily, that the metrics in-
cluded increasingly greater amounts of cash receipts for future
sales and services that were not provided at the time of the rev-
enue being reported, on the belief that those sales would eventually
close.

In my simple calculation, that’s called counting your chickens be-
fore they hatch, but there may be reasons for that conduct. Clearly,
there is extraordinary pressure from Wall Street for corporations to
meet quarterly expectations for cash revenues and the adjusted
EBITDA, as it’s called, and I can understand the pressure to gen-
erate a report that indicates that the cash is coming or is in the
bank.

However, the definitions that were utilized, whether it’s cash,
cash receipts, adjusted EBITDA, are not apparently consistent from
one telecom company to another in the methodology by which these
quantities are measured or reported.

For example, a cash receipt in this instance would have been for,
I believe, the sale of broad band capacity for portions of the net-
work not yet complete. Madam Chairwoman, let me make that
point. If I'm understanding the reports properly, they booked rev-
enue in the current quarter for sale of broad band capacity for a
portion of the network which was not yet constructed. I think that
is something that needs to be thoroughly discussed.

And, further, the company would incur substantial out-of-pocket
expenses to fulfill these obligations at a later time, but that deduc-
tion was not taken in adjusted EBITDA. It appears that some of
the transactions were actually swaps and not cash revenues, or,
stated another way, money round tripped between parties that did
not add value.

All of this apparently is within the context of the law, as I under-
stand it, under the preliminary cover of legitimate business pur-
pose, which is not a regulatory not statutory definition, but an ac-
counting convention.

I think we need help in examining legitimate business purpose.
It appears that the reporting, although consistent with rule and
regulation, would lead a person to come to conclusions about cash
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adequacy that were entirely inappropriate in relation to the actual
cash standing at the time of the report.

Madam Chairwoman, I don’t have sufficient time to examine all
of these questions this morning, and I would ask your further dili-
gence, Madam Chairwoman, if I could perhaps provide more clarity
with my questions in a written comment for the Chair to consider
forwarding at the appropriate time, and I thank you for your cour-
tesies.

Chairwoman KELLY. With unanimous consent.

Mr. Baker, you had mentioned that you were not a Member of
the subcommittee, but you are a Member of the full Financial Serv-
ices Committee, and, as such, you are welcome here at this panel.
CIW% turn now to Mr. Clay. Have you an opening statement, Mr.

ay?

Mr. CrAy. Madam Chairwoman, at this time, I will forego an
opening statement, and wish to hear from the panel and have ques-
tions for them, thank you.

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you very much.

Ms. Slaughter.

Ms. SLAUGHTER. Madam Chairwoman, I thank you very much for
allowing me to be here this morning. As you know, I'm not a Mem-
ber of this subcommittee, and you are very gracious in allowing me
to come. I appreciate the opportunity to submit my statement for
the record.

And my interest in this hearing stems from the fact that thou-
sands of people from my district have been affected by Global
Crossing’s bankruptcy filing. Actually, all the people in my district
have been affected by it, because the economic displacement has
the possibility of being quite profound.

Global Crossing’s North American headquarters were located in
Rochester, New York, and I hope they still are. They owned Fron-
tier Communications which had an outgrowth from the Rochester
Telephone Company, which had given wonderful service to the peo-
ple of Rochester area for over 100 years. And then their 13,000
workers were taken over by Global Crossing with 220 workers.

Now, as I said, the effect is devastating, and came as quite a sur-
prise, as we had every indication in Rochester that Global was
doing well, and, indeed, was planning to consolidate and move, and
had gotten from the local IDA some §400,000 to help expedite that,
on the grounds that they would immediately hire 72 new workers.

The bankruptcy came as a surprise to a lot of people because, in-
deed, the company still had adequate assets according to most peo-
ple that I've spoken to, to continue. As a matter of fact, one of the
first things that struck us as strange was that the offer for Global
Crossing of $750 million was going—I think that was something
like 69 percent ownership of that company, which claimed to have
assets of $22 billion.

On March 9th, we hosted a public forum in Rochester, and over
250 people came to talk about their experiences, and it was heart-
breaking. I'd like to quote from an article I received, written by a
gormer employee, who summarizes the general sentiment at the

orum:

“Many former employees have been economically devastated as
the result of corporate greed and the mismanagement of Global
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Crossing. People spent their life savings, they’'ve had to cash in
their deflated—since the stock market plummeted—retirement
401K plans, just to survive the last few months, after Global Cross-
ing abruptly ceased their promised severance payments.

“Some former employees are forced to file bankruptcy them-
selves, while others may lose their homes, have had to drastically
change their lifestyles, and are barely surviving.” Again, another
impact on my community is that many of those extraordinarily tal-
ented and gifted people may have to leave our community alto-
gether, because they are not able to find jobs that they can take
care of their family.

According to the press reports, there appears to be striking par-
allels between the cases of Enron and Global Crossing, including
a lack of auditor independence, questionable executive mismanage-
ment, misleading accounting methods, and questions on the acces-
sibility of employees’ 401K accounts before the bankruptcy filing.

And unlike the small shareholders and company workers, current
and former top executives walked away the winners. This hearing
begins the process of Congress asking the tough questions on how
this occurred. Where did the system break down and allow this to
happen?

Hearings like this will serve as a wakeup call to Congress, and,
we hope, to corporate America, particularly those who are orga-
nized in Bermuda, that these types of business practices and bank-
ruptcies can be neither sustained nor tolerated.

Additionally, current law must change to better protect the work-
ers and investors, and, across the board, investors are now skiddish
about relying on auditors’ reports and analyst recommendations
and that is a tragedy.

I certainly look forward to listening to the witnesses’ views, their
experience, and their suggestions on how Congress can take effec-
tive action, and I thank you again, Madam Chairwoman.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Louise Slaughter can be found
on page 73 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KeLLY. We thank you.

If there are no further opening statements, I will introduce our
distinguished panel of leaders of the telecommunications industry.
We sincerely appreciate the effort that it took for you to prepare
testimony on this difficult issue, and to travel here today. Mr.
McGrath, you came from England, and I think you get our award
for the longest traveled visitor to get here today, and for that, you
get a free glass of water. I thank you all for making the effort.

Our panel consists of Mr. John Legere, the Chief Executive Offi-
cer; and Mr. Dan Cohrs, the Executive Vice President and Chief Fi-
nancial Officer of Global Crossing, Ltd. Next, we have Mr. Afshin
Mol}?ebbi. I'm pronouncing that wrong. Mr. Mohebbi, is that cor-
rect?

Mr. MOHEBBI. Yes.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Thank you, Afshin Mohebbi, the President
and Chief Operating Officer of Qwest Communications Inter-
national; Mr. Michael Salsbury, Executive Vice President and Gen-
eral Counsel of WorldCom, Incorporated, and, Mr. Salsbury, we
welcome you; and finally, Mr. Andrew McGrath, President of Serv-
ice Providers Channel, Cable and Wireless Global.
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We welcome you all here today, and we are looking forward to
your testimony, and we thank you for appearing here. We begin
with you, Mr. Legere.

Mr. LAFALCE. Madam Chairwoman, a parliamentary inquiry.

Chairwoman KELLY. Yes, sir?

Mr. LAFALCE. It is my understanding—not that it is necessary
to tell the witnesses, but it won’t hurt—the laws of perjury that ob-
tain when you are asked to stand and be sworn in are the same,
even though you’re not asked to stand and be sworn in. The mere
fact that you're testifying before Congress makes you fully subject
to all the laws of perjury; is that correct, Madam Chairwoman?

Chairwoman KELLY. That is correct.

Mr. LAFALCE. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman.

Chairwoman KELLY. You are still liable for your statements in
front of this subcommittee, even though we are not swearing you
in as witnesses. We all look forward to listening to your views on
these important issues we touched on in our opening statements,
and without objection, your written statements and any attach-
ments will be made part of the record.

You will each now be recognized for 5 minutes for a summary of
your testimony. There are lights in front of you and they indicate
the amount of time you have. The green light signifies that you're
in your first of the 4 minutes. The yellow light will turn on when
you have 1 minute remaining; the red light will turn on when your
time has expired. If possible, I would like to ask you to keep your
summaries within the 5-minute sequence, so that people can ask
questions.

And we'll begin with you, Mr. Legere.

STATEMENT OF JOHN J. LEGERE, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
GLOBAL CROSSING, LIMITED

Mr. LEGERE. Good morning, Chairwoman Kelly and Members of
the subcommittee. We prepared a longer statement, which I under-
stand will be filed for the record. Now, this is my first appearance
before a Congressional subcommittee, and I'm honored to con-
tribute to your effort to take a serious look and a substantive look
3t the difficult financial issues facing the telecommunications in-

ustry.

Our difficulties at Global Crossing and the measures we are tak-
ing as we continue our restructuring in bankruptcy, is a microcosm
of an industry under tremendous economic pressure. I'm accom-
panied here today by Dan Cohrs, Global Crossing’s Chief Financial
Officer, and Ralph Ferrara, who is our outside counsel.

In response to the questions posed in your letter of invitation, we
would like to respond to the three issues you raised. Dan Cohrs
will respond to the first two of your questions, and I would like to
provide a brief overview of Global Crossing and our efforts to re-
build our company.

My written statement amplifies on these remarks to respond to
your final question, and to address steps that can be taken to en-
hance investor confidence in the accounting for and disclosure of fi-
nancial information in the telecommunications industry.

Now, it’s all too easy to dismiss Global Crossing’s bankruptcy as
the failure of yet another dot.com company or to attribute its col-
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lapse to fancy or misleading accounting. The media in this post-
Enron environment, continue to focus on these issues.

The reality is that thousands of our employees continue to oper-
ate the real Global Crossing. Today, Global Crossing has over
85,000 customers, corporations, governments, associations, and or-
ganizations in over 200 cities in 27 countries who transmit voice
and data over our global network.

Every day our employees keep coming to work, keep helping the
customers keep the data moving, and keep their spirits high. I
want to take this opportunity to thank them publicly and to thank
our thousands of loyal customers who have supported us through
this challenging time.

A few facts about what Global Crossing really does: We transmit
over $5 trillion U.S. dollars in financial transactions every business
day. We connect over 7,000 financial institutions and hundreds of
scientific research centers across the globe.

The Global Crossing network carries CNBC’s video between Ft.
Lee and London, over our high-capacity sub-sea fiber optic cables,
something previously only satellites could do. NBC transported
hundreds of hours of Winter Olympic news broadcasts to its affil-
iate stations across America over our network.

Because of our network, customers in KB Toy Stores can charge
their purchases five times faster, and diplomats in over 240 British
Embassies and Consulates can correspond with their colleagues,
24/7, reliably and securely. Many people who will see these hear-
ings on television and reported on the nightly news shows, will be
watching signals transmitted over our network.

Now, our pride in what we have accomplished is, of course, offset
by tremendous disappointment. Although our network infrastruc-
ture is unique and unparalleled in the industry, building it came
at a very high price, in excess of $15 billion U.S. dollars.

Global Crossing, like many other telecommunications companies,
built aggressively as the forecasts of industry analysts, financial
analysts, and technology experts predicted that our world would
soon be one where classrooms would reside on computer desktops;
movies would flow electronically on demand; and millions of people
would be able to communicate through millions of personal chan-
nels.

And though we continue to believe that people will one day be
able to take advantage of this expansive infrastructure, the de-
mand simply hasn’t materialized as quickly as predicted. In what
became a very volatile environment for the entire telecommuni-
cations industry, our company simply could not cut costs back fast
enough to accommodate the sudden changes.

We need to take a more realistic approach. Part of what we're
doing through the Chapter 11 bankruptcy process and through a
continued series of painful cost reductions, is to restructure our
balance sheet and realign our operations.

Since my arrival 6 months ago, my prime focus has been to real-
ize the true potential of our company. With our restructuring now
well underway, and despite the necessary and often painful actions
we have had to take, my belief is that we will come back stronger
than ever.
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You asked for our views on H.R. 3763. We believe it provides a
useful framework for discussions on auditing accountability, and
we have offered several specific suggestions in our written testi-
mony.

While our company and our industry continue the challenging,
critical process of building the new business model in the more re-
alistic context, we fully support the efforts of this subcommittee to
develop, in parallel, ways of encouraging financial accountability
that will enhance investor confidence in financial reporting in the
telecommunications industry.

We have an opportunity, working together with you, with the
SEC, with the accounting industry, and with our telecommuni-
cations industry colleagues here today, to improve the way we com-
municate. Whether this is through reformed accounting principles
or clearer and more timely reporting practices, we support and in-
tend to be the market leader, not only in how we run our business,
but also in how we report on what we’re doing. I'm confident, with
our joint efforts, this industry, and Global Crossing, in particular,
will once again be in a position to contribute strongly to this great
Nation’s prosperity. Thank you very much.

[The prepared joint statement of John J. Legere and Dan J.
Cohrs, Ph.D., can be found on page 74 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. We turn to you, Mr. Cohrs. Do you have a
statement?

STATEMENT OF DAN J. COHRS, Ph.D., EXECUTIVE VICE PRESI-
DENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, GLOBAL CROSSING,
LIMITED

Mr. CoHRrS. Yes, ma’am, if I may. Good morning, Chairwoman
Kelly and Members of the subcommittee and also the Full Com-
mittee. John Legere has asked that I briefly address the accounting
issues raised in your invitation to appear here.

Our industry and the accounting profession have struggled with
how to adapt historic concepts of accounting for leases and real es-
tate to purchases and sales of fiber optic capacity. Global Crossing
settled upon an accounting model that our independent account-
ants advised was most appropriate to our business.

The accounting for the majority of our revenue, which is derived
from providing voice and data services to our 85,000 customers, is
not controversial. The accounting for the company’s sales to other
carriers of fiber optic capacity on its network raises the issue of the
proper accounting for transactions known as sales of IRUs.

An IRU, which is an indefeasible right of use, is a contract like
a lease, granting the right to use a fixed amount of capacity for a
specified period. IRUs have been used in the telecom business for
many years.

Typically, the sale of an IRU involves an up-front cash payment
of the full contract amount. However, revenue from the sale of an
IRU is recorded only over the life of the lease. For example, for a
20-year lease for $20 million of capacity, only $1 million is recorded
as GAAP revenue in the income statement for the first year and
each year thereafter.

The other $19 million of cash paid up front on the contract is not
recorded as revenue, but is recorded on Global Crossing’s GAAP
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balance sheet as a liability called deferred revenue. Although Glob-
al Crossing has the cash in its bank account and the cash is non-
fefundable, it earns the revenue only over the 20-year life of the
ease.

Not surprisingly, banks and investment analysts who need to as-
sess the company’s ability to service its debt were interested in our
cash flow, including the amount of cash collected through IRU
sales, which was shown as deferred revenue. The cash entering the
deferred revenue account was not reflected in GAAP revenue or
earnings.

To present a clearer picture of cash flow, two measures—cash
revenue and adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization, which we called adjusted EBITDA—were re-
ported to the market to supplement our GAAP revenue and earn-
ings. These measures included the cash from IRU sales; they were
clearly defined, and we believe they were well understood by the
marketplace.

Some questions have been raised about the quality of the com-
pany’s disclosure respecting cash revenues and adjusted EBITDA.
We are confident that Global Crossing fully and fairly disclosed the
meaning of these terms in its press releases and SEC filings, and
we believe that the additional information provided by these meas-
ures was useful to investors.

The focus of virtually all the attention to Global Crossing’s ac-
counting model has been directed at how the company accounted
for the relatively simultaneous purchase and sale of IRUs to the
same counterparty. As the Global Crossing network grew, we and
other carriers understood that it was sometimes cheaper and faster
to buy capacity from another carrier than to build it ourselves.

In our case, we needed additional capacity on certain routes, re-
dundant capacity to provide backup for potential network prob-
lems, and extensions of our network into new markets where build-
ing would not have been economic. Accordingly, we purchased IRUs
for cash, as well as sold IRUs for cash, sometimes with the same
counterparty.

These were two, independent transactions, each evaluated on its
own merits. Nonetheless, due to the proximity in time of the two
transactions, the question has been presented of whether revenue
should be recognized on these sales with the purchases recorded as
capital expenditures, rather than simply netting the sale and pur-
chase amounts.

According to the accounting model that was developed and ap-
proved by our independent accountants, revenue and capital ex-
penditures should be recognized on the two transactions, if, first,
there was a valid business purpose for the asset we bought, and,
second, the assets bought and sold embodied different risks and re-
wards of ownership.

In our case, the second test can be satisfied if the rights to the
capacity sold had the risk profile of an operating lease and the
rights to the capacity purchased had the risk profile of a capital
lease. Today, some have raised questions as to whether the process
we conducted adequately established the valid business purpose for
our purchase of assets; that is, did we satisfy the first test? And
that is the crux of the controversy.



14

It’s the subject of a detailed review by our Board of Directors and
its independent counsel. The SEC and our independent accountants
are also reviewing these transactions.

As we conduct these reviews, it’s critically important to consider
only the facts and circumstances that existed at the time the trans-
actions were closed, not use hindsight. We now know that since the
second quarter of 2001, the astounding deflation in the demand for
fiber optic capacity has devastated our industry.

As demand waned in the industry, there was less need for both
the capacity that we had built and for the capacity that we had
purchased. These difficulties have also been experienced by others
in our industry.

We hope to have fully considered conclusions on these matters in
the very near future, and I'll be pleased to respond to any of your
questions, thank you.

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you very much, Mr. Cohrs.

We turn to you, Mr. Mohebbi.

STATEMENT OF AFSHIN MOHEBBI, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF OP-
ERATING OFFICER, QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTER-
NATIONAL

Mr. MoHEBBI. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, and Members of
the subcommittee. My name is Afshin Mohebbi, President and
Chief Operating Officer of Qwest Communications International,
Incorporated. I want to thank you for inviting me to appear today
at your hearing.

Permit me to tell you a little bit about Qwest. Qwest is the
fourth largest local telephone company in the United States with
25 million customers. We provide local services in a 14-state area
that covers nearly 40 percent of the land mass of the United
States. We have about 60,000 employees and annual revenue of
more than $19 billion.

About 80 percent of our revenues, and more than 90 percent of
our profits come from our local phone service. We also provide data
and long distance services to businesses in 27 cities outside our 14-
State local area, and we are the Nation’s fourth largest long dis-
tance company.

In addition, we have about half a million high-speed internet
service customers, more than a million wireless customers, and a
large Yellow Pages business, and a product line that ranges from
the most basic telephone service to the most sophisticated internet
and data technologies available.

We're also very proud that we just completed one of the most
technically trouble-free Olympics in history in Salt Lake City,
where Qwest was one of the primary providers of communications
services to the Olympics event.

Qwest has a state-of-the-art, worldwide fiber optic network in the
United States, Asia, and Latin America and through its related
company KPN Qwest in Europe. In addition to its fiber optics net-
work, Qwest has 16 web-hosting centers that safeguard the critical
data of banks, corporations, healthcare providers, and Government
agencies, among others. Qwest does business with 60 percent of the
Fortune 1000 companies around the world.



15

Qwest’s strategy in building its domestic network was to provide
facilities for our own use, as well as constructing facilities for sale.
Conduit, fiber, and capacity sales have paid for substantial portions
of the cost of building our U.S. network.

As we completed our domestic network, we began to expand over-
seas. We made decisions whether to build or buy these inter-
national facilities. Based upon the analysis of time and cost, we
purchased facilities to connect our network to Europe, Asia, and
Latin America.

It was in this context that we entered into IRU transactions with
a number of companies, including Global Crossing. The IRUs
Qwest sold to Global Crossing were principally on domestic routes
we built to sell. The IRUs that Qwest purchased from Global Cross-
ing enabled us, quickly and cost-efficiently, to build our network
internationally to locations that we could not otherwise serve.

An IRU is an indefeasible right of use, which is the exclusive
right to use a specific amount of capacity or fiber for a specific pe-
riod of time, usually 20 years or more. An indefeasible right is one
that cannot be revoked or voided. IRUs are for specific point-to-
point assets. IRUs are not services and are generally asset sales.

Once sold, they belong to the customer and cannot be moved
without the consent of the customer. An IRU allows the purchaser
to carry voice, data, video, or other traffic on that specific fiber or
channel asset.

In some cases, Qwest enters into two transactions that occur at
about the same time: One, to sell IRUs to companies; and, second,
to acquire optical capacity from such companies. The agreements
for the sale of such optical capacity are separate legal agreements
that are enforceable, regardless of whether the other company per-
forms under the separate purchase contract.

In accounting for the purchase and sale of IRUs, Qwest complies
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles known as GAAP.
Qwest’s auditors review our IRU transactions in the context of re-
viewing our financial statements each quarter.

When Qwest sells IRUs, the customer receives the exclusive
rights to a specific asset, and the risks and rewards of ownership
passes to the buyer. Under the relevant accounting rules, Qwest
recognizes revenue when Qwest delivers the asset, the buyer ac-
cepts it, and Qwest receives adequate consideration for those as-
sets.

Where the purchase and sale transactions occur at about the
same time, Qwest applies the more restrictive rule for revenue rec-
ognition on what the accountants called a non-monetary trans-
action. The revenues attributable to IRU sales that occurred at the
same time as purchases of an IRU in 2000 and 2001, were approxi-
mately 2 percent in 2000 and 3.5 percent of total reported revenues
of Qwest, respectively.

Qwest publicly disclosed the network expansion plans and the
nature, size, and the accounting treatment of the IRU transactions
undertaken to further that strategic objective. In various press re-
leases and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
Qwest made appropriate disclosure of the existence of the IRU
transactions and the way Qwest accounted for them.
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In conclusion, as part of our business strategy to build a world-
wide fiber optic network, we bought and we sold IRUs. When ap-
propriate and in compliance with GAAP, we recognized revenue as
well as costs from these transactions, when we entered into them,
and although IRUs were not a material component of our revenues
in the last 2 years, we publicly disclosed them and how we ac-
counted for them.

We'’re proud of the state-of-the-art network we have built and the
services it enables us to provide, and I will be glad to answer any
questions that you may wish to ask. Thank you for the opportunity.

[The prepared statement of Afshin Mohebbi can be found on page
104 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you very much, Mr. Mohebbi.

And we now turn to Mr. Salsbury.

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL H. SALSBURY, EXECUTIVE VICE
PRESIDENT AND GENERAL COUNSEL, WORLDCOM, INC.

Mr. SALSBURY. Thank you, and good morning. My name is Mi-
chael Salsbury, and I am the General Counsel of WorldCom, Incor-
porated. The questions and issues that the subcommittee seeks to
address in this hearing, how accounting standards and Federal
policies may have contributed to the problems experienced by Glob-
al Crossing and the industry are valid and important.

There has been a lot of press recently about swap transactions,
whereby carriers record revenue from selling capacity that is not
likely to be used, in return for a purchase of capacity that is not
used and is capitalized rather than expensed. WorldCom does not
participate in such transactions.

WorldCom sells IRUs and occasionally purchases them where
needed, but in all cases, accounts for them appropriately. To put
this into perspective, during 2001, WorldCom recorded recurring
revenues of approximately $23 million out of total 2001 revenues
for WorldCom of $35.2 billion from the sale of IRUs.

During December 2001, WorldCom entered into two IRU trans-
actions with Asia Global Crossing—not Global Crossing. WorldCom
purchased needed capacity on AGC’s East Asia Crossing Cable and
AGC purchased capacity on WorldCom’s Australia-Japan Cable.

Each transaction was for $20 million over a 10-year term. Be-
cause neither lease has yet become operational, WorldCom has not
yet recognized either transaction on its P&L. As each IRU becomes
operational, WorldCom will recognize approximately one-half mil-
lion dollars per quarter in revenue and in operating expense over
a 10-year period. Again, to place this into perspective, our 2001
revenues were $35.2 billion.

The subcommittee also asked to what extent certain factors
served as a trigger for industry problems. WorldCom does not use
unique accounting standards and does not issue pro forma revenue
projections.

As many companies do, WorldCom issues pro forma profit and
loss statements in conjunction with our regular financial state-
ments to show the effect of acquisitions or of revenue from consoli-
dated entities. WorldCom believes such statements assist investors
in understanding the impact of certain transactions.
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It has become fashionable recently to blame the large number of
failures in competitive sectors of the telecommunications industry
on bad planning. These claims, which generally emanate from the
monopoly sectors of the industry and their pundits, but occasionally
also from regulators, suggest that new entrants invested too much
in new facilities and mis-forecast the demand for telecom services.

There may well have been invalid assumptions by new entrants,
but they related more to the expectation that Federal regulators
would fairly and vigorously enforce the telecommunications and
antitrust laws than to assumptions about consumer demand. By re-
peatedly favoring monopoly interests and undermining competition,
these regulators increased the costs for new entrants, which led di-
rectly to higher prices and lower consumer demand for local tele-
phone services and high-speed data services such as DSL.

The current problems in the competitive sectors of the tele-
communications industry were not caused primarily or even signifi-
cantly by accounting issues or assumptions about capacity utiliza-
tion; rather, those problems resulted directly from the unrelenting
efforts of the Bell Companies to retain their monopoly power, and
the fundamental failure of the FCC and the DOJ to properly and
effectively implement and enforce the law.

In WorldCom’s view, those failures have destroyed far more mar-
ket capitalization and robbed far more value from shareholders’ in-
vestments than any accounting issues. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Michael H. Salsbury can be found on
page 118 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you very much, Mr. Salsbury.

Mr. McGrath.

STATEMENT OF ANDREW McGRATH, PRESIDENT, SERVICE
PROVIDERS CHANNEL, CABLE & WIRELESS GLOBAL

Mr. McGRATH. Good morning, Chairwoman Kelly, Congressman
LaFalce, and Members of the subcommittee. My name is Andrew
McGrath, and I am the President of Cable & Wireless’s Service
Providers Division. Cable & Wireless is a global provider of tele-
communications services, headquartered in the United Kingdom.

Cable & Wireless, with annual revenues of $11 billion, provides
services ranging from local telephone services to internet backbone
and web-hosting services in more than 70 countries. Cable & Wire-
less has been in business for over 100 years. It is well financed and
has no net debt.

We are proud to have a substantial presence in the United
States, where we provide IP and data services and solutions to
business customers. I have been with Cable & Wireless since 1991,
and currently head the Global group within Cable & Wireless that
provides a broad range of services to carriers, ISPs and content
owners.

I hold an engineering degree from Surrey University in the
United Kingdom, and an MBA from London Business School. I
have been invited to appear today to address the subcommittee’s
inquiry regarding telecommunications capacity transactions, typi-
cally called Indefeasible Rights of Use, or IRUs.

The nature of the telecommunications industry makes it essen-
tial for carriers to contract with each other to provide services to
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their respective customers. It is not always cost-effective for a car-
rier to build all aspects of its global network for its own exclusive
use.

It has been a long-established industry practice for carriers to
interconnect with other carriers and to purchase network capacity
from other carriers, either through leases or IRUs. Cable & Wire-
less has undertaken IRU purchases for the purpose of obtaining
the network capacity necessary to support its customer require-
ments.

Our internal governance policies are designed to ensure that, in
each case, our acquisition of capacity serves a legitimate commer-
cial need. Cable & Wireless has also sold network capacity to other
carriers.

These IRU sales are a very small part of Cable & Wireless’ busi-
ness. At their peak, in the year ending March 31, 2001, such sales
accounted for less than 5 percent of Cable & Wireless’ revenues
and have since declined as carriers have largely completed their
network build-out programs.

In building its global network, Cable & Wireless has purchased
capacity from several operators. A small proportion of these trans-
actions has been with Global Crossing. As always, the network ca-
pacity we obtained through these transactions served specific com-
mercial needs.

Cable & Wireless states its accounts in accordance with Gen-
erally Accepted Accounting Principles—GAAP—as adopted in the
United Kingdom, as it must do as a U.K. public limited company.
As an additional disclosure, Cable & Wireless separately reports
the amount of its IRU sales.

Our accounting policies with regard to the treatment of such
transactions are disclosed as part of our financial statements and
are readily available to the public. Because Cable & Wireless
ADRs—American Depository Receipts—trade on the New York
Stock Exchange, it also discloses its financial results in SEC Form
20-F.

For these purposes, Cable & Wireless states its results, including
IRU transactions in accordance with U.S. GAAP. A reconciliation
of the net income under U.K. GAAP and that under U.S. GAAP is
disclosed as part of our financial statements and is also readily
available to the public.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear today. I welcome any
questions from the Members of the subcommittee.

[The prepared statement of Andrew McGrath can be found on
page 126 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. We thank you, Mr. McGrath.

One of the issues that I'm most concerned about here is the issue
of the pro forma financial statements by telecommunications com-
panies. I'd like the entire panel to respond to my first question, and
I’'d appreciate it then, if you will, answer my followup questions.

I'd like to know how common pro forma financial statements are
in your industry, and we will begin with anyone who wants to start
the answer, but I'm going to ask each one of you to answer that.
Mr. Cohrs, Mr. Legere?

Mr. CoHRS. Yes, Ms. Chairman. My understanding is that in the
industry, the use of pro forma statements is relatively common for
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the purposes of explaining the impacts of merger and acquisition
activities, so that the presentation of pro forma statements can pro-
vide an apples-to-apples comparison from one period to the next
when a significant number of companies have been either bought
or sold by the company. And, in fact, I know that Global Crossing
has used that to provide fair comparisons between one quarter and
the next.

I believe that your question probably refers to the use of meas-
ures like cash revenue and adjusted EBITDA, which are pro forma
measures, and those measures became common as the industry of
selling fiber optic capacity developed. It’'s a new industry.

I indicated in my opening remarks that there’s a big divergence
between the cash coming into the company and what’s reflected in
the GAAP statements, that is, in my example, $20 million IRU sale
only is recorded as $1 million of revenue, even though the cash is
in the bank and non-refundable. And so in our case, we adopted
the practice of using pro forma measures to supplement our GAAP
reporting so that we were showing investors the full picture of cash
in addition to the GAAP picture.

Now, that practice was adopted by a number of other companies
who went public after Global Crossing. Global Crossing was essen-
tially the pioneer among publicly traded companies in the sub-sea
business, and therefore, I believe we were the first to use those
particular measures, and they were adopted by others in the indus-
try after that.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Mr. Mohebbi.

Mr. MoHEBBI. Madam Chairwoman, in terms of Qwest, the pri-
mary reporting vehicle that we have is GAAP revenues and GAAP
accounting. However, Qwest is a company that was created as a re-
sult of six acquisitions, so sometimes as a supplement to our GAAP
reporting, we provide, for the purposes of the investors who have
specifically asked for it, pro forma numbers as a supplement, but
our purpose, our main purpose of reporting and way or reporting
our results are GAAP financials.

Chairwoman KELLY. Mr. Salsbury.

Mr. SALSBURY. I think I would sort of reiterate what the others
have said.

Chairwoman KELLY. Well, the others said two different things,
sir, I'm sorry.

Mr. SALSBURY. Right. As I said in my testimony, our primary
method of conveying our financial results is GAAP accounting and
our regularly reported financial statements. Occasionally, as noted
earlier, I think by Mr. Cohrs, we have obviously had acquisitions,
and it’s useful to supplement our financial statements with pro
formas showing the effect of acquisitions over time, so that you
have an apples-to-applies comparison.

Most companies, not just in telecommunications, do this. I cer-
tainly have been reading about occasions where companies have
not done this. I was reading the paper this morning, and that’s
been criticized, because it gives a misleading—looks like companies
are growing faster, when you don’t show the effect of acquisitions.

We also have an investment in Embratel in Brazil, and it’s not
a consolidated entity, but it’s often useful to show, with a pro forma
statement to our investors, the effects of—a pro forma statement,
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with Embratel and without. So those are the two examples I'm
aware of. I'm not an accountant, and I don’t pretend to know every
single instance that the company may have used them, but we do
not use pro forma revenue statements.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Thank you.

Mr. McGrath.

Mr. McGRATH. Cable & Wireless provides a full disclosure of its
accounts, consistent with U.K. GAAP. In addition, we provide sepa-
rate disclosure of all IRU transactions. Our accounts are audited
by KPMG, who have always provided an unqualified, clean audit
report.

We find that with that level of disclosure, that we don’t need to
provide pro forma statements, and we haven’t done so.

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you. Mr. McGrath, you were saying
that you do not file pro forma statements; is that correct?

Mr. McGRATH. That is correct.

Chairwoman KELLY. Just for clarification, could you all just an-
swer with a simple yes or no, did all of your companies file pro
forma statements last year.

Mr. Salsbury.

Mr. SALSBURY. I don’t know the answer.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Mr. Mohebbi.

Mr. MOHEBBI. I believe we did, but I’'m not sure of it.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Mr. Cohrs.

Mr. CoHRrs. Yes, we did.

Chairwoman KELLY. Do you all know if you all used the same
methodology, if you filed pro forma statements?

Mr. Cohrs.

Mr. CoHRrs. I just can’t speak to any other companies’ state-
ments. I haven’t studied them, so I just don’t know the answer to
your question.

Chairwoman KELLY. Do any of the rest of you know the answer?

Mr. MCGRATH. No, ma’am.

Chairwoman KELLY. So you don’t know if there is a consistent
methodology in preparing a pro forma; is that correct? I'd like an
answer from the three of you, since Mr. McGrath doesn’t have a
background in the pro formas.

Mr. CoHrs. Well, if I may respond?

Chairwoman KELLY. Yes, Mr. Cohrs.

Mr. CoHRS. The objective of a pro forma statement can serve var-
ious purposes. For example, if the pro forma statement is designed
to normalize for the results of merger and acquisition activity, then
the methodology, I believe, is relatively consistent across compa-
nies, because it’s an attempt to show apples-to-apples comparison,
as if that merger had not happened.

In the case of measures like cash revenue and adjusted EBITDA,
as I said, I just don’t know the details of other companies’ disclo-
sures, and so I'm just not aware if there are any differences. I be-
lieve that the measures are, you know, relatively similar, but I'm
just not aware if there are differences in reports from other compa-
nies.

Chairwoman KELLY. Mr. Mohebbi, do you have any knowledge of
that?
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Mr. MoHEBBI. Madam Chairwoman, I certainly have no knowl-
edge of how other companies, obviously, report on the pro forma
basis, so I cannot say that there is a uniform or a non-uniform way.
I do know that in some cases, again, as an appendix or a supple-
ment to our GAAP reporting, which is our primary reporting of rev-
enues, profits, and activities financially, we have provided pro
forma to show the investors the differences between before and
after acquisitions, but I can’t give you an answer on an industry-
wide basis or multi-company look.

Chairwoman KELLY. Mr. Salsbury, is it safe to assume that your
answer would be similar?

Mr. SALSBURY. Yes.

Chairwoman KELLY. I guess the nature of my question is, the in-
vesting public will look at a pro forma and try to make some sense
out of it. And if the pro formas are not based on the same types
of procedures, the same type of methodology, it would be very dif-
ficult, if you wanted to invest in the industry itself, to determine
between companies, which company had a better pro forma, if
there is no structure that’s a solid methodology underneath each
one of the pro forma statements. Would that be a correct state-
ment? And you can just answer quickly by saying yes or no.

Mr. Legere.

Mr. LEGERE. I think inherent in your statement is that the an-
swer would have to be yes. I mean, when we were reviewing H.R.
3763 and looking at some of the things that the industry could ben-
efit from, one item is that at times when an industry is going
through revolutionary change, as opposed to an evolutionary proc-
ess, sometimes accounting or information disclosure could use some
assistance from an otherwise staid set of rules.

And, you know, in the period we’re talking about, this may have
been an environment where some governing body could have en-
hanced the ability for the industry to have consistency in under-
standcilng so that this transparency that you speak to could be at-
tained.

Certainly we look to our individual sets of auditors to provide us
guidance from an industry expertise standpoint, but looking for-
ward, I think we would all benefit from some knowledge about in-
dustry standards, things that we could apply to ensure that our in-
formation would be consistently viewed.

Chairwoman KELLY. OK, thank you. I am out of time. I am turn-
ing now to Mr. LaFalce.

Mr. LAFALCE. Thank you very much, Madam Chairwoman. Mr.
Legere, first of all, thank you for coming to my office before the
meeting. I'm sorry we didn’t have more of an opportunity to discuss
the issues.

I have the honor of representing over 90,000 in Monroe County
and all of the almost 45,000 people in Orleans County, most of
whom are serviced by Global Crossing, formerly Frontier, formerly
Rochester Telephone. In this morning’s Rochester Democrat and
Chronicle, Mr. Legere, there’s an article on the business page, enti-
tled “Ex-Frontier Group to Bid on Global.”

It is written by Richard Mullins, and it says “A Rochester group
of former Frontier executives wants to buy a major part of the now-
bankrupt Global Crossing. Leading the group is Anthony Casara,
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the former President of Frontier’s Carrier Services Division. Also
involved is Louis Massaro, the former Chief Financial Officer of
Frontier. ‘The group knows the business, the customer require-
ments, the infrastructure, and we understand how to realize its un-
derlying potential with the right strategy,” said Casera. ‘I believe
there isn’t a management team better suited for this opportunity
than the team who originally built Frontier’s North American busi-
ness.””

Mr. Legere, as the ranking Democrat of the Financial Services
Committee, I just want you to know that I strongly endorse, sup-
port, the effort by this local group of Rochester businessmen to re-
purchase that portion of Global Crossing. And I know that this is
a business judgment that you, under the auspices of the Bank-
ruptcy Court, will have to make, but I hope that our judgments will
coincide. Fair enough?

Mr. LEGERE. Congressman, we know these individuals. They're
fine telecommunications people, and at this point in time, as part
of the Chapter 11 restructuring process, we are engaged in period
of time where any interested bidder can come forward through our
advisors, the Blackstone Group, and make a proposal that they be-
lieve can maximize the return to all constituents who have a piece
of the estate. And we look forward to seeing their proposal, along
with, right now, over 40 interested parties that have gone to the
point of non-disclosures to look further at the company. So, we cer-
tainly look forward to it.

Mr. LAFALCE. I appreciate that there are 40 bidders. I also ap-
preciate the fact that these individuals are from Western New
York; they’re from Monroe County, in particular. They are the ones
who originally built Frontier’s North American business; they are
the ones who are most likely best suited to enhance the future
prospects for the company, its employees, the community in which
it exists, and I think that that should be given great, great weight.

Now, Mr. Legere, I have about 20 questions, and I'm not going
to be able to get through more than a few of them. And so I am
going to submit them to you in writing, and ask you to respond for
the record to each of them. Would you be willing to do that?

Mr. LEGERE. Anything that can be provided to our counsel, I'll
be glad to do that.

Mr. LAFALCE. We will do that.

Chairwoman KELLY. If the gentleman will yield.

Mr. LAFALCE. Yes.

Chairwoman KELLY. Its my intention to hold the record open for
30 days. There are Members who are unable to be here today, and
we will hold the record open for written questions and written an-
swers to be inserted into the record, thank you.

Mr. LAFALCE. I thank the Chairlady for that.

Sir, it’s my understanding that the auditor was hired by Global
Crossing to become the Executive Vice President for Finance; is
that correct?

Mr. LEGERE. Joseph Perone, who is currently our controller of
the company is a former Andersen employee; that’s correct.

Mr. LAFALCE. OK, well, did the Audit Committee ever think that
this might compromise the independence of the audit to have the
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CFO, the former partner in charge of the audit from the auditing
firm?

Mr. LEGERE. This hiring took place before I arrived, but it is my
understanding that those were considered by the Audit Committee.

Mr. LAFALCE. OK, well, do we know if the Audit Committee ever
spoke with the auditor out of the presence of the corporate officers?
Do we know that?

Mr. LEGERE. I'll defer to Mr. Cohrs, who was there.

Mr. CoHRrs. Yes, Congressman, our Audit Committee had the
practice, at each Audit Committee meeting, which were held regu-
larly, of asking the senior executives to leave the room and to
speak privately with the auditors.

Mr. LAFALCE. For 5 minutes? Was this done regularly? Was it
done in-depth? Did they spend a half a day going over the various
books, or was this just a pro forma thing?

Mr. CoHRS. Well, since I wasn’t in the room, I actually don’t
know the content of the conversations, but that was the purpose of
asking me to leave the room.

Mr. LAFALCE. About how long did these meetings usually last,
when you weren’t in the room?

Mr. CoHRS. It was done regularly.

Mr. LAFALCE. But about how long did they last?

Mr. CoHRs. I would say that they lasted anywhere from 10 min-
utes to an hour. And they were done regularly at every meeting of
the Audit Committee.

Mr. LAFALCE. OK. My point is, very often the Audit Committee—
that’s a superficial meeting. Let me go on to two other areas, secu-
rities analysts and attorneys:

When representatives of Global Crossing met with securities an-
alysts, did they ever ask you or your colleagues about these swap
transactions or your pro forma presentations? Did they have any
questions about them?

And who were these security analysts, especially those that were
hyping the Global Crossing stock?

Mr. CoHRS. Yes, Congressman, we had regular contact with secu-
rities analysts, and since the beginning of the company, there
were——

Mr. LAFALCE. Did they ever question the swap transactions or
your pro forma presentations?

Mr. CoHRS. We had discussions about swap transactions, so-
called swap transactions, which were

Mr. LAFALCE. Did they ever challenge the so-called swap trans-
actions?

Mr. CoHRS. They asked questions about the transactions, and we
explained to them, actually, an explanation which is very much the
same as was in my opening remarks, which was that these were
independent transactions, separately negotiated, and that the prop-
er accounting for the transactions was not to account for them as
swaps. And we explained the economic reason for buying the assets
and for selling the assets. We did have those discussions with secu-
rities analysts.

Mr. LAFALCE. Well, I'm going to be going into the economic rea-
sons for buying and selling at considerably greater length. I can’t
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do it now; I don’t have time. But I'm going to question the so-called
economic rationale.

What was the role of your outside counsel in reviewing your pub-
lic disclosure, outside a formal capital-raising scenario, and did
they look at your 10K before it was filed? Did they look at your
10Qs?

Mr. CoHRS. Our outside counsel reviewed all of our filings, and
they reviewed our earnings releases, as well as all of our SEC fil-
ings, and all of the filings that we made in the process of the public
securities offerings that we did. Those filings were reviewed by our
outside counsel and by our outside auditors at some length.

Mr. LAFALCE. Let me just tell you what I'm getting at right now.
I think it’s imperative that we look at the propriety of the actions
of corporate officers, who I have a lot of questions about, because
so often their salary is based upon their stock options—or their
compensation is based upon their stock options, and, therefore,
they have a tremendous interest in enhanced market capitaliza-
tion.

The same thing is true with respect to the audit committees, and
then the accounting firms have their own conflicts. And the pri-
mary focus has been placed upon the auditing profession, but I
think we need to put much greater focus, too, on the securities in-
dustry and the quality of their analysis.

Most investors don’t look to what’s said by corporate presidents—
they expect puffery—or even the boards of directors or even the ac-
countants. And most investors don’t look at your statements, your
10Ks, your 10Qs, your financials, your pro formas; they look to the
recommendations of the securities analysts.

And so I really think we need to focus in on them more, because
I think that sometimes there’s an awful lot to be seen that wasn’t
seen and conveyed by the securities industry. And also there’s a fi-
duciary responsibility on the part of attorneys, too, and attorneys
hired by a firm should not be in the business of giving firms advice
and counsel that the firm wants to hear, but they should be in the
business of giving companies the advice and counsel that they need
to hear. And I don’t know that that has been done.

My time has expired, Madam Chairwoman. I appreciate that. I
will submit the balance of my questions in writing.

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you very much, Mr. LaFalce.

We go to the Committee Chairman, Mr. Oxley.

Mr. OXLEY. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman.

Mr. Legere and Mr. Cohrs, in his letter to the Global General
Counsel on August 6th, Mr. Roy Olafson asserted, among other
things in his letter, that the terms that the company used do not
really mean what you said that they mean; that there were
amounts included in the cash flow definitions that shouldn’t have
been included, and that although Asia Global Crossing was a global
subsidiary, it defined and calculated its cash flow differently.

Can both of you address the points made in Mr. Olafson’s letter?

Mr. CoHrs. Yes, Congressman, the first question had to do with
an allegation that the measures that we reported were somehow
not what we claimed them to be. The pro forma measures, the cash
flow and adjusted EBITDA, were very precisely defined in every
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one of our filings. Our press releases and our SEC filings defined
exactly what these terms meant.

In fact, the origin of cash revenue and adjusted EBITDA was in
our loan covenants. The bankers who were lending money to the
company designed the loan covenants using adjusted EBITDA, and
so these were very well understood by the banking community as
representations of cash flow. The definitions were precise and they
were well understood by the banking community and by the securi-
ties analyst community.

Mr. OXLEY. So, there was really full disclosure—from your per-
spective, there was full disclosure and transparency going forward
with that issue?

Mr. CoHRS. We believe there was.

Mr. OXLEY. Let me ask you also, in this complaint, Mr. Olafson
referred to swaps of about $100 million in capacity between Qwest
and Global in each of the first two quarters of 2001, but that each
company accounted for the transactions differently, despite having
the same outside auditor.

It’s not clear from your quarterly statements if that is true. Did
the swaps actually happen?

Mr. CoHRrs. We did transactions with Qwest and, you know, we
had transactions, capacity transactions, with Qwest. We accounted
for them in the manner I described in my remarks, and I just
couldn’t comment on any accounting practices at Qwest.

I would say that the accounting treatment for any transaction
depends on the facts and circumstances of that transaction, and ac-
counting treatments can differ, based on different facts and cir-
cumstances, but I certainly couldn’t comment on how Qwest did
any accounting.

Mr. OXLEY. Mr. Mohebbi, would you care to comment on that?

Mr. MoHEBBI. Congressman Oxley, again, we did transactions
with Global Crossing in 2001. The specific amount is not exactly
$100 million, as you indicated. However, the transaction involved
Qwest buying capacity, international capacity that we needed to
build our business strategy, which was to expand our international
network.

And we had a number of bids from, if I'm not mistaken, three
different providers, and Global Crossing’s terms and conditions for
those purchases were deemed to be the best, and we purchased
those assets from Global Crossing.

Mr. OXLEY. Do you recall who the other bidders were?

Mr. MoHEBBI. I don’t exactly recall, but I believe that there were
a number of providers in this particular transaction who I believe
were in Asia, and I believe that there are a number of providers
in Asia that have the capacity where we wanted it, and we received
bids from them. But I don’t remember the specific names, Con-
gressman.

Mr. OxLEY. Was that a common practice, to bid that out and to
have a competitive arrangement for that capacity?

Mr. MOHEBBI. As an internal process in Qwest, again, as we are
buying capacity, part of the process is to look at the market-based
pricing and see what other providers have as price. So that’s one
of the conditions in the process for reviewing what the winning pro-
posal looks like, Congressman.
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Mr. OXLEY. Are you able to supply for the subcommittee at a
later date, the identification of the other bidders?

Mr. MoHEBBI. I will be certainly happy to go back to our files
and look at the information that we had on those transactions.

Mr. OXLEY. I would appreciate that.

Let me ask actually all of you on the panel, in Mr. Legere’s testi-
mony, he said that the IRUs did not play a significant role in Glob-
al Crossing’s problems, but have the revelations about the cash
flow presentations of a number of telecom companies has that led
to a loss of confidence by the investing public? Or what has hap-
pened with the overall perception of stock in the telecom sector,
and has this led to a lack of support and confidence in that sector
by the investing public? Anybody?

Mr. SALSBURY. Congressman, let me just take a crack at it. I do
believe that the—as I mentioned in my testimony—that some of
the policies that have been followed by the FCC and the Depart-
ment of Justice clearly have had a negative impact on the results
of companies in the competitive sector. And I think that has led,
with a combination of other events like the downturn in the econ-
omy last year, and so forth, to having poor results. And I think
that has led to the sector somewhat being out of favor. I think ac-
counting issues are a relatively small part of it.

Mr. LEGERE. Congressman, if I could just add that I think there
is a cause-and-effect situation. I'd just like to go back to some of
my initial comments. The bankruptcy of Global Crossing is not the
reason for the loss of 9,000 jobs. The 500,000 jobs that have been
lost in the industry are indicative of an industry that has for a pe-
riod of time, going across the board, pretty significant declines in
market capitalization, because many companies in the sector found
themselves over-capitalized, needing to reduce costs significantly,
just to survive. So the restructuring that Global Crossing has gone
through, which unfortunately led to a Chapter 11 restructuring, is
similar to what the entire industry has gone through, and, I be-
lieve, you know, needs to go through in order to prepare itself for,
hopefully, the return to normalcy of the industry.

But certainly that has been a period of shareholder concern, not
only about the situations of reporting, but about the industry and
the ability to make returns on the significant amount of capital
that has been put into the industry over the last several years.

Mr. OXLEY. So it is—at least the perception by the layman would
be—and I think you touched on it—that over-capacity in that sector
really caused the downturn and the ultimate loss of confidence in
the market; is that correct?

Mr. LEGERE. Well, it’s important to note that the perception of
over-capacity is just as damaging in customer purchases as real
over-capacity, because, in effect, carriers who are larger purchasers
of capacity, will delay purchases in anticipation of huge amounts
of increase in capacity, which generally will lead to significant price
declines.

So we have, at least as a minimum, a perception of an over-ca-
pacity of supply, globally. There are differing opinions, including
this morning’s USA Today, which are presenting information that
suggests that the capacity and the supply of fiber optic capacity
may not be as over-supplied as perceived.
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But, I think we did have a time in the industry where demand
was suppressed, because of a perception, at a minimum, of over-ca-
pacity, and, therefore, the value of the investments made by many
players in capacity was, and still is, suppressed.

Mr. OXLEY. And do other witnesses share that same view, from
the other companies?

Mr. McGRATH. Yeah, I think, from my perspective in Cable &
Wireless, I think that one of the visible signs that the industry is
becoming extremely competitive is that companies start to fail and
exit the market.

I think that’s a very visible sign which is seen by shareholders,
and it will affect confidence. It’s a visible sign that there has been
potentially over-supply, real or perceived; that the shareholders
will see that and will demand increased scrutiny and be more con-
servative about investing in the sector. I think the simple answer
to your question is yes.

Mr. OXLEY. And that’s not necessarily a bad thing; is it?

Mr. McGRATH. I think increased scrutiny, greater understanding
in detail and the reality of business plans being understood is prob-
ably a good thing.

Mr. OXLEY. I think that’s been shared, Madam Chairwoman, by
other witnesses that we’ve had in Mr. Baker’s subcommittee as
well as yours, that perhaps after all of this, we will have learned
some valuable lessons in the marketplace, and that, indeed, mar-
kets can be very punishing, perhaps even more so than the Govern-
ment as we work our way through some of these difficult problems.
I thank the Chairlady for her indulgence, and I yield back.

Chairwoman KEeLLY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mrs. Jones.

Mrs. JoONES. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. There are so
many questions I want to ask that 5 minutes won’t allow me, but
let me try and get started.

Mr. Legere, in an article around the time of the filing of the
bankruptcy of Global Crossing, you're quoted as saying: “Ours is a
balance sheet issue, not an operational one. Today’s actions are in-
tended to directly address this issue. Even with financial uncer-
tainty, we’ve recently experienced that customers have continued to
choose our network over many others.” And it goes on and on and
on.
But, I want to go back to “ours is a balance sheet issue, not an
operational one.” Would you be a little more specific and tell me
what you meant?

Mr. LEGERE. I'd be glad to. When I became the chief executive
on October 3rd, I immediately started a process of refocusing the
company, lowering its cost structure, and significantly preparing it
to do what every family in American needs to do, which is live on
existing means.

We have over $3 billion in service revenue, and I had prepared
the company to start to generate enough cash to service its oper-
ating capital expenditures. The issue we have is, we were paying
between $2 and $3 million a day on interest to service our debt.
And that debt burden was just too large for us to be able to, as a
young company, to be able to create the underpinnings of an orga-
nization and operations to support that debt.
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Mrs. JONES. Thank you. Now, however, the debt was not so large
as for them to pay you. How much did you receive to become the
CEO of Global Crossing?

Mr. LEGERE. I think my salary is public information.

Mrs. JONES. I asked you, what did you receive, sir?

Mr. LEGERE. My salary is $1.1 million a year.

Mrs. JONES. And you received a signing bonus, also, sir?

Mr. LEGERE. I had a $3.5 million signing bonus.

Mrs. JONES. And in another article, there is a young lady by the
name of—let me see if I can find her name real quickly. I just had
it cleared—ah-hah—oh, here she goes—a Ms. Hinton said that: I
was required to take—her severance pay in spread-out payments,
rather than a lump sum. Note that all of her medical benefits were
terminated, all of her 401K retirement plan was held for more than
30 days. Is that a correct statement, sir?

Mr. LEGERE. I'm not familiar with the situation.

Mrs. JONES. Well, assume its a correct statement for purposes of
this question. The employees of Global Crossing weren’t able to re-
ceive a lump sum payment to pay their debts. They weren’t able
to receive any medical benefits, but what did you tell me your sal-
ary was, again, sir?

Mr. LEGERE. My salary is $1.1 million.

Mrs. JONES. And you got a signing bonus of how much?

Mr. LEGERE. $3.5 million.

Mrs. JONES. And if Ms. Hinton made $79,000 a year, how many
Ms. Hintons could you have paid or could your company have
helped with the $3.5 million bonus that you received, sir?

Mr. LEGERE. Well, first of all, you know——

Mrs. JONES. My question is, how many Ms. Hintons could you
have helped if you had paid

Mr. LEGERE.——tremendous—for the issues——

Mrs. JONES. Hold on a second. I asked a question.

Mr. LEGERE. And I also——

Mrs. JONES. and you give the answer.

Mr. LEGERE. I also believe that my pay——

Mrs. JONES. Sir, Mr. Legere, stay with me, sir. My question is,
how many Mrs. Hintons could you have helped or paid if they
made $79,000 a year, with your $3.5 million bonus?

Mr. LEGERE. As a rule, I don’t do math in public.

Mrs. JONES. Well, as a rule, would you pull out a calculator and
do it for me, please?

Mr. LEGERE. Well, I don’t——

Mrs. JONES. I mean, I don’t want—I'm trying to be real clear in
my questions, and I'm not looking for smart answers, sir. You're
here to help Congress come up with some decisions about how they
handled this situation, Mr. Legere.

Mr. LEGERE. I understand.

Mrs. JONES. And I do not appreciate the quirk.

Mr. LEGERE. I certainly understand as well——

Mrs. JONES. And I hope you will apologize.

Mr. LEGERE.——That there’s a difficulty in trying to understand
the complexities of a Chief Executive Officer in a turnaround situa-
tion of a major telecommunications company. To believe that any-
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one would have those skills is an understatement of the complexity
of the task that we face.

Mrs. JONES. Mr. Legere, I don’t believe that’s what I said. I
merely asked you, how many Ms. Hintons could you have helped
with your $3.5 million, and seeing how you don’t choose to do my
math, let me proceed.

Is Arthur Andersen still your auditor, sir?

Mr. LEGERE. Yes, they are.

Mrs. JONES. And you've chosen to stick with them, even amidst
all that’s been going on; is that a fair statement?

Mr. LEGERE. Yes, we have.

Mrs. JONES. Can you give me a statement as to how much infor-
mation is provided to your Audit Committee from Arthur Andersen,
and are they serving also as consultants in addition to auditors?

Mr. LEGERE. I'll defer to Mr. Cohrs on that question.

Mr. CoHRs. Well, on your first question, Congresswoman, we pro-
vide all of the information that we need to provide to the auditor
and all the information that they request. And so they have full ac-
cess to any information that they need to do their audit.

The second question is, have we used Arthur Andersen as con-
sultants? Yes, we have.

Mrs. JONES. But are you using them currently as a consultant,
sir?

Mr. CoHRS. We have some consulting engagements. For example,
Arthur Andersen has helped us collect the information required,
which is a massive amount of information, to prepare our bank-
ruptey filings.

Mrs. JONES. Are they still your auditors, sir?

Mr. CoHRS. Yes, they remain our auditors today.

Mrs. JONES. Are you aware, Mr. Legere—I'm going to go back to
him—that of the question in the industry with regard to the impro-
priety, ethically, of having auditors as both accountants and con-
sultants? And I'm going to terminate in this area, Madam Chair-
woman, if you’ll allow me.

Mr. LEGERE. I don’t believe there is any impropriety associated
with the roles that Andersen is playing in our company.

Mrs. JONES. That wasn’t the questions. I said, are you aware, sir,
in the industry, the concern about an auditor serving both as an
auditor and as a consultant?

Mr. LEGERE. I'm aware of it from the standpoint that I reviewed
H.R. 3763 and understand that it’s one of the issues that is poten-
tially going to be addressed, so, in that sense, I do understand.

Mrs. JONES. And you just did tell me, sir, that you have all these
great qualifications to be a CEO, and so forth, in the industry, and
that’s why you were paid $3.5 million?

Mr. LEGERE. The pay was decided by the Compensation Com-
mittee with outside experts; the Committee offered me to take on
the role.

Mrs. JONES. The point I'm trying to make to you, sir, is, right
now, in these United States, there are investors and shareholders,
and employees out here who are concerned about auditors serving
both as auditors and consultants, but that doesn’t appear to be an
issue for your company; is that a fair statement, Mr. Legere?
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Mr. LEGERE. In my understanding, I don’t believe there’s any-
thing improper in the roles that our auditors are playing inside of
our company.

Mr. OXLEY. [Presiding] The time of the gentlelady has expired.
The gentleman from Massachusetts, Mr. Capuano.

Mr. CApPUANO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Legere or Mr. Cohrs, whoever is appropriate to answer, has
your company ever received a qualified audit?

Mr. CoHRS. I'm sorry, Congressman, are you referring to a quali-
fied audit?

Mr. CAPUANO. Has your audit ever come back with a qualifica-
tion?

Mr. CoHRS. No, it has not.

Mr. CApuaNoO. Has it ever had a disclaimer?

Mr. CoHRS. No, it hasn’t.

Mr. CAPUANO. Has it ever had an adverse opinion of any kind?

Mr. CoHRS. No, our audit opinions have been unqualified.

Mr. CApuaNO. Thank you. Mr. Mohebbi, relative to Qwest, have
you ever had a qualified report?

Mr. MOHEBBI. I'm not aware of one, Congressman.

Mr. CAPUANO. Have you ever had a disclaimer of any kind or an
adverse opinion of any kind.

Mr. MOHEBBI. I'm not aware of one.

Mr. CapuANoO. OK, Mr. Salsbury, has your company ever had an
adverse report, a disclaimer, or a qualification?

Mr. SALSBURY. Not to my knowledge.

Mr. CAPUANO. Mr. McGrath, you earlier said that you had not
qualifications of any kind. I would take all of you and suggest to
you that Enron also never had a qualification or a disclaimer or an
adverse report, so, therefore, when you tell me you have clean
audit reports, at this point in time with your auditors, it doesn’t
mean anything to me, and I would just suggest that it doesn’t
mean much to the general public as well.

Mr. McGrath, I would also suggest that—I don’t know exactly
the makeup of your company, but I know very well that the audit-
ing rules and accounting rules in England are much more strict
than we have in the United States, and for whatever businesses
you do here, keep your eyes open; use your English requirements
as opposed to your American requirements; you'll be safer and we
won’t have to call you back here at a future time.

Mr. McGRATH. Thank you.

Mr. CAPUANO. I guess it’s not a real surprise that my under-
standing is that four of the five companies sitting in front of us
have the same auditor and the same auditing company, and it is
no surprise at all to me that Global Crossing has retained Arthur
Andersen. When they were here, they did a very good job defending
their relationship with you, so, therefore, I'm not surprised at all
that the camaraderie is a two-way street.

But I'm going to tell you that I don’t have a whole lot of ques-
tions, because, honestly, I don’t like the answers I'm getting. I don’t
think we’re going to get the answers, I don’t think. I think this is
the greatest forum. I think the SEC and the appropriate legal ju-
risdictions will be the ones who will ask tougher questions and will
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get the appropriate answers, and I will have to trust them at this
point in time.

But I've got to tell you, from where I sit, the whole thing you're
talking about is nothing more than a much more fancy and, you
know, certainly larger Ponzi scheme, nothing new. You bought
something you didn’t need with money you didn’t have, and sold it
to somebody who didn’t need it and didn’t have any money, and
you hid the bookings.

Gee, never heard that before. You're just doing it with a lot big-
ger money, nice, fancy technical terms, because you’re in a new
business. But the result is the same. The result is the same.

And that’s why earlier I didn’t have a whole lot of opening state-
ments. I don’t appreciate the way you do your business. I do appre-
ciate the businesses you do. I find it unfortunate, to be perfectly
honest, for the American public and for the entire business commu-
nity, that we have to be sitting here having these hearings.

I don’t like doing them. I don’t like overreacting to individuals
in the business community that do these kinds of things. And I'm
not going to sit here and blame any one of you individually. I’ll
leave that to the appropriate people as well, including your share-
holders, who may or may not come after you.

But I will tell you that what you have done or what your compa-
nies have done or what your predecessors have done, no matter
how you measure it, and no matter what you have said here today
on the record, we all know in our hearts what you have done. I
hope—I don’t think—I'm sure you're not embarrassed. I'm not sure
you’re not repentant, and it’s not for me to make you so.

But I will tell that that’s why I'm not asking questions today, be-
cause I don’t expect to get answers that are going to be clear and
concise. I don’t expect to get answers that are going to do anything
to help the employees that you have hurt, the shareholders that
you have hurt, and I don’t see any way that we can take steps to
reconstitute the trust the American people once had in the Amer-
ican business community.

It will take time, and these kinds of auditing procedures, this
kind of greed, absolute, unfettered greed, I don’t think it’s good for
America. And I'm sorry that you or your predecessors did it, and
I'm terribly sorry that your auditors allowed you to do it.

Mr. OXLEY. The gentleman’s time has expired.

The gentlelady from New York, Ms. Slaughter.

Ms. SLAUGHTER. I thank you, Mr. Oxley.

Mr. Legere, I can appreciate the difficulty that you face in trying
to reconstitute a company, but I want to add on to what my col-
league, John LaFalce, said, and to make a plea to let my people
go in Rochester, and look favorably, if you can, to trying to recon-
stitute Frontier. The 13,000 jobs there mean the world to us.

Mostly I want to talk about some things that I've read in the pa-
pers that I'm really dying to talk to you about. First there’s a piece
from the New York Times on February 19th which says “Mr.
Perone authored a memo dated February 10, 1999, before his hir-
ing by Global Crossing, in which he recommended how to best ac-
count for capacity swaps. The suggestions contained in the memo
were to keep the contracts 60 days apart, apparently to avoid sus-
picion that the deals were reached merely to help each party meet



32

its quarterly financial objectives, and to require each party to sub-
mit separate cash payments, apparently to create the look of a
valid deal.”

To the untrained eye, gentlemen, that looks like you were trying
to fool the public. Actually, I think that Global Crossing did decide
that this was a pretty smart fellow over there at Andersen, and
frankly, you decided to hire him for the company, perhaps to over-
look this or look it over. I understand that he did have several rel-
atives that he was also able to contribute.

What was the intent, other than fooling the investors and Wall
Street, to have that kind of a system put together, which basically
said that this will make it look all right?

Mr. CoHrs. Congresswoman, there are a number of memos, as
I described in my testimony. The accounting for the transactions
that we’re talking about, any IRU transaction, whether they are
relatively simultaneous or whether they are stand-alone IRU trans-
actions, there are very difficult accounting questions.

We were struggling to adapt accounting rules that were origi-
nally applied in real estate and the leasing industry, because those
were the only accounting standards available. And so our indus-
try—the entire industry, as well as the entire accounting profes-
sion—was struggling to understand the right way to account for
these transactions.

I described in my opening remarks that the GAAP treatment
that’s used now bears no relationship to the cash flow of the com-
pany. Now, for example, there was a meeting sponsored by Arthur
Andersen, in which Global Crossing participated, in which all of
the major accounting firms, the SEC, the FASB, at least one law
firm, and participants from the industry met to try to develop the
correct accounting for these transactions.

So that’s the environment that we——

Ms. SLAUGHTER. But, Mr. Cohrs, what I read here, what I under-
stood from this, is that you were not looking for correct accounting
procedures.

Mr. CoHrs. Well, if I could——

Ms. SLAUGHTER. But you were looking for a way that if you
did}rll’g—that your revenue appears to have come from bookkeeping,
right?

Mr. CoHrs. Well, if T could just finish.

Ms. SLAUGHTER. All right.

Mr. CoHRs. In that context, the accounting memos that were de-
veloped by Arthur Andersen were extensive, going through a great
deal of accounting theory on how these transactions should be de-
veloped, and a particular accounting model was developed that we
applied.

And we were advised that that was proper GAAP accounting.
But in addition——

Ms. SLAUGHTER. But when it says that it is being done to avoid
suspicion, wouldn’t that make you feel a little peculiar about it?

Mr. CoHRs. Congresswoman, we applied the accounting to the
best of our ability. In addition to applying the accounting, in our
press releases, when we did these transactions that were relatively
simultaneous, we disclosed the transactions. We described the
transactions that we were doing. We can provide you with the
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earnings releases that we issued in the first, second, and third
quarter of 2001.

Mg SLAUGHTER. In which you never made a profit; isn’t that
true?

Mr. CoHrs. Well, as I said, we disclosed these transactions in
those releases. In those releases

Ms. SLAUGHTER. Because that was the only transaction——

Mr. CoHRS.——We also——

Ms. SLAUGHTER.——That you had, were the swaps. Let me go on.

Mr. CoHRs. No, that’s

Ms. SLAUGHTER. I don’t want to use my time up here.

Mr. CoHRS. They were a small number of the transactions that
we had, to correct the facts.

Ms. SLAUGHTER. Let me just comment on this, because this is an-
other statement. “Instead of a stampede of customers to fill up the
fiber optic highways, the industry found itself with too many va-
cant lanes, way too many. What had once seemed a brilliant idea,
carriers buying and selling future access on the networks to meet
expected demand, became a swap meet unto itself with its own pe-
culiar bookkeeping,” which reiterates, again, what you were saying.

But their own peculiar bookkeeping and the fact that Arthur An-
dersen was so close with what you were doing that you hired the
man who authored it, I think is really a matter of some suspicion.

There are a couple of other things here that I want to comment
on: One is that in an August, 2001, letter Mr. Olafson said that
Global Crossing’s Chief Financial Officer, Daniel J. Cohrs, had sent
an e-mail message to Thomas Casey, who was chief executive, and
to other high-ranking executives, expressing concern about a news
release that Qwest had issued, giving the details of the IRU agree-
ments, because Mr. Cohrs was worried that the Qwest statement
would draw unwanted attention to Global Crossing’s IRUs, Mr.
Olafson said. Would you comment on that? You may not have had
an opportunity to comment on that since it was printed.

Mr. LEGERE. I'll comment on it, Dan. I think the most important
thing was——

Ms. SLAUGHTER. I was asking Mr. Cohrs, since he was the author
of the memo.

Mr. LEGERE. Well, I think that since it refers to Mr. Cohrs, if I
could make one quick comment?

Ms. SLAUGHTER. Certainly, Mr. Legere.

Mr. LEGERE. And that is that, as was mentioned before, the SEC
is doing a very detailed investigation of all the items that you
spoke about. Our Board is doing the same, and we very much look
forward to participating in those. I think the information that we
can jointly share is the output, which will answer a lot of these
questions, including most of what was written in Mr. Olafson’s let-
ter.

Ms. SLAUGHTER. All right, well, let me just close with reiterating
what Ms. Tubbs Jones said, and that is that it’s very real, the pain
in Rochester. I've talked to people who have had to put their homes
up for sale, people who have no jobs, brilliant people who had very
high positions in your company who are looking to see if they can
run filling stations or something for a little while until they can
tide themselves over; people who have lost their healthcare; people
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who are terrified of the future, young people, and scared that
they’re going to have to move and start all over again and look at
something else.

Then there are the other people. The people who worked forever
for Rochester Telephone, going out in the dreadful weather at
night, going up those poles, making sure that the phone service
worked. They are going; they have great concern about their pen-
sions. And in that regard, I want to say that we are very much con-
cerned that Global has not turned over the pensions to Citizens
Communication. That, in itself, would moderate a great deal, I
think, some of the fear of the workers up there.

But those who were let go who were promised severance and
didn’t get it, I don’t think, unless you've had an opportunity to talk
to them or look into their faces, that you could ever gauge the
depth of the pain. These were people who liked your company, Mr.
Legere. These were people who invested everything they had in it.
Many of them left good jobs, enticed over because they thought
that they saw the future.

Suddenly, 4 years later, it’s all over, and they are left in an econ-
omy that’s pretty bad, with very little hope, and it’s devastating.
So, let me say again to you, if there is an opportunity for us to back
up and reconstitute Frontier, please give us every consideration to
let us do it.

Rochester’s economy really needs it, and we ask you most sin-
cerely to give that your utmost attention and to let that survive,
so that these people can again have a job and a decent wage.

Mr. OXLEY. The Congresswoman’s time has expired.

Mr. LEGERE. We feel the pain more than I think you understand.
It’s a very horrible thing that we’ve had to do to try to do some-
thing that I believe is in the best interests of Rochester, which is
to save this company, save the jobs that exist, and hopefully get
back to a time when we can grow jobs and bring new jobs back into
Rochester.

Ms. SLAUGHTER. We do want you to save those jobs; they're very
important to us. Thank you.

Mr. OXLEY. The gentleman from Washington State.

Mr. CrAY. Mr. Legere, one of the great outrages in the Enron col-
lapse was the decision by management to black out their employ-
ees’ ability to sell their stock while the executives retained their
ability to sell their stock as the company was collapsing.

I've been told—and I'll just ask you—that there was a similar
blackout for almost a month in your situation from December 14th
to January 18th, while your employees were essentially blocked
out, shackled, not allowed to sell their stock, and executives were
allowed to sell theirs.

Regardless of what was happening in the market at that time,
was that the case, and if so, how would you justify blacking out,
locking down, your employees during that situation, particularly in
light of the fact that the world came to know what happened to the
Enron employees, even before you ordered that lockdown?

Mr. LEGERE. I appreciate the opportunity to address this, and I'll
start, and then ask Mr. Cohrs for some specifics.

What you're referring to is a lockdown period of our 401K plan,
and it was locked down for everyone who participates, regular em-
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ployees, as well as executives. It was announced first to the em-
ployees on October 2nd, and it was part of a move from Putnam
to Fidelity as the manager of the plan.

Between October 2nd and the time from December to January
when it was shut down, they were notified multiple times. And just
for the record, one of the major differences here is on October 5th,
our stock was trading at 83 cents. On October 9th, our stock was
trading at 38 cents.

When the plan closed down on December 18th, approximately,
the stock was trading at 67 cents. When it reopened in the middle
of January with plenty of time to continue to sell, the stock was
trading at 54 cents, so we're dealing with a very different scenario
from the standpoint of what happened during the period of time.
It was a planned, scheduled change between Putnam and Fidelity.
It was announced many times in the time period going up to it, so
it does have the similarities in that there was a blackout, but that’s
where the similarities cease to exist.

Mr. CoHrs. If I could just add, Congressman, the reason for the
blackout period, as it’s called, as Mr. Legere said, was the transi-
tion from one provider to the other. That was necessary because we
had multiple 401K plans because of the acquisitions we had done.

So we had multiple plans with different levels of service, and we
were in the process of consolidating those plans so that we could
actually provide better service in the plans. And it’s just necessary
when you change providers to freeze the activity so that all the
data can be transferred over. But as Mr. Legere said, this was an-
nounced 2%2 months before the blackout period began.

Mr. CrAY. And the executives who held stock themselves were
free to sell their stock outside the 401K during that time; is that
the situation?

Mr. LEGERE. All 401K participants were blacked out at the same
time. All shareholders could sell under the rules, and executives
who were not subject to a blackout period or a period of time that’s
normal for officers, could trade.

Mr. CLAY. Well, do you think it makes sense to allow executives,
in that context, to be able to sell their stock while the company’s
falling apart, and lock down the employees who are in the 401K?
Do you think that should be the rules of engagement, if you will?

Mr. LEGERE. I don’t have the data, but maybe it would be impor-
tant to look. During the blackout period of the 401K, I don’t believe
any people were trading shares outside of the program, either.

Mr. CLAY. That’s one thing we’ll appreciate. I want to ask about
swaps. And this has been a eye-opener for me, and, I think, for a
lot of Americans. There is an old movie called “The Flim-Flam
Man,” and it starred George C. Scott.

And why he didn’t use swaps, I don’t know, because to me, this
has enormous potential for abuse, where you essentially buy an
asset, spread out the cost over many years, with a counterparty
and then sell it and take the revenue in 1 year, just has tremen-
dous potential for abuse, it seems to me.

Now, I'm told that in your situation there was substantial swap-
ping with other parties or counterparties, even though there was
excess capacity pretty well known in the industry at that time. Tell
us, to the extent you can, what economic rationale there was for
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those, and tell us, to the extent there was, if you will, simply a
transfer by both parties, of a potential stream of revenue to some-
thing you book immediately as a stream of revenue?

Mr. LEGERE. If I could start, Congressman, I think the important
difference between what you've described and what was taking
place here is the notion almost sounds as if youre dealing with
people sitting in empty rooms who are walking out, buying some-
thing, holding on to it, and then selling it to another.

We've constructed a 101,000 route-mile network that connects 27
countries and over 200 cities in the world. And it was through the
process of building and acquiring the routes on this network, which
is not just to sell capacity, but to serve enterprise customers ad-
vance data requirements. That’s the requirement that drove us to
looking to capacity that we would require to finish that network.

And when you have 101,000 route-miles of network, you also are
a logical place for people who need to buy things from someone, to
come to, because you have the broadest reach. And, Dan, if you
want to add:

Mr. CoHRs. If I could just address the accounting points that you
mentioned, Congressman, it is quite often repeated improperly in
the newspapers that these transactions generated revenue and
spread the costs out over many years. That is simply not true.

As I explained in my opening remarks, an IRU transaction has
the revenue recognized over the life of the lease, and the cost is
amortized actually over a shorter period. So, in our GAAP account-
ing, the revenue on a 20-year IRU is only recognized, ratably, over
20 years. It is not recognized up front.

The cost of those assets is depreciated, just like any other asset
that we would buy or build, generally over a shorter period, gen-
erally 12 to 15 years. And so the amortization of our cost on these
transactions is actually much faster than the rate at which we
booked the revenue.

The confusion comes because we also reported as a supplemental
report, the number we called cash revenue. In addition to the
GAAP revenue that I just described, we reported cash revenue be-
cause the cash was collected up front, and we felt it was important
to our investors and our lenders and the markets as a whole to give
both views, the GAAP view, of course, which we were required and
which is the proper GAAP accounting, but also the view that more
closely corresponded to the cash coming into the company.

I'd just like to say and repeat that it is not true that these trans-
actions generated up-front revenue with costs amortized over a
long period of time. It’s actually almost the opposite.

Mr. OXLEY. [Presiding.] The gentleman’s time has expired.

Mr. CLAY. Thank you.

Mr. OXLEY. Let me thank this panel for your participation. As
the subcommittee Chair indicated, the record will remain open for
30 days for written questions from the Members, and they will be
forthcoming. Again, gentlemen, we thank you for your participa-
tion, and this panel is dismissed.

Chairwoman KELLY. [PRESIDING] I would like to thank the second
panel for joining us today. And our second panel is going to discuss
the accounting principles involved in the company’s filings and dis-
closures, the state of the industry, and how some of the energy
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companies also tread into the telecom world and were caught in the
vortex.

For our second panel, we welcome John Morrissey, Deputy Chief
Accountant for the Securities and Exchange Commission; Scott
Cleland, CEO of the Precursor Group; and a noted telecommuni-
cations industry analyst, Will McNamara, Director of Energy In-
dustry Analysis for SCIENTECH, Incorporated.

I want to thank each of you for testifying here before us today,
and I welcome you on behalf of the Full Committee. Without objec-
tion, your written statements and any attachments that you have,
will be made part of the record.

You will each now be recognized for a 5-minute summary of your
testimony. Your full written testimony, as I said, will be a part of
the record. We begin with you, Mr. Morrissey.

STATEMENT OF JOHN M. MORRISSEY, DEPUTY CHIEF
ACCOUNTANT, U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Mr. MORRISSEY. Congresswoman Kelly, Congressman LaFalce,
and Members of the subcommittee. I'm John Morrissey, Deputy
Chief Accountant at the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission. Thank you for the opportunity to testify today on be-
half of the Commission concerning several accounting issues affect-
ing the telecommunications industry.

As the subcommittee has requested, my testimony will address
the accounting by providers of indefeasible rights of use of tele-
communications network capacity, the accounting for non-monetary
transactions, including swaps, and the reporting of pro forma fi-
nancial information. My written testimony addresses those matters
in more detail, and I ask that it be included in the record.

As Global Crossing has disclosed, the SEC is investigating cer-
tain issues associated with the company’s accounting and disclo-
sure practices. The Commission appreciates the subcommittee’s
recognition of the non-public nature of its investigation. The Com-
mission also asks that, in light of its ongoing investigation, the sub-
committee understand our reluctance to address specific issues re-
lated to compliance with Federal securities laws at this time. You
can be assured that the Commission staff is thoroughly inves-
tigating allegations of financial reporting improprieties.

Confidence in our markets begins with the quality and trans-
parency of financial information available to help investors decide
whether and when to invest their hard-earned dollars. The goal of
the Federal securities laws is to promote honest and efficient mar-
kets and informed investment decisions through full and fair dis-
closure of all material facts.

Transparency in financial reporting, that is, the extent to which
financial information about a company is visible and understand-
able to investors and other market participants, plays a funda-
mental role in making our markets the most efficient, liquid, and
resilient in the world.

The SEC’s responsibility is to ensure that the financial markets
are transparent and hospitable to all investors. Congress wisely in-
grained in the Federal securities laws the philosophy that investors
have the right to be fully informed of all material factors and to
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use markets that are free from fraudulent, deceptive, and manipu-
lative conduct.

Telecommunications service providers often sell access to the net-
works on the basis of an Indefeasible Right of Use, or an IRU. Ac-
counting for such capacity sales raises a number of issues that can
become quite complex.

Perhaps the most important and basic accounting issue is when
to recognize revenue from an IRU sale. My written testimony pro-
vides more detailed information on some of the considerations that
go into this evaluation, and I will not repeat them here. However,
I will note that the specific terms of the network capacity agree-
ments between a provider and a purchaser can have a significant
impact on how and when to recognize income from such sales
under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

For example, network capacity purchase agreements that qualify
to be accounted for as leases could result in up-front revenue rec-
ognition, provided that certain criteria are met. Alternatively, net-
work capacity purchase agreements that are not leases must be ac-
counted for as service contracts, which typically requires that the
related revenue be recognize into income over time as the access
to the capacity is provided.

Several recent articles in the financial press have focused on the
business practices of telecommunications companies swapping net-
work capacity. These articles raise a number of legitimate ques-
tions about the accounting for network capacity swap transactions,
which is discussed in my written statement.

While I cannot comment on specific companies or specific trans-
actions, I assure you that if any financial reporting improprieties
or violations of Federal securities laws have occurred, the Commis-
sion staff will not hesitate to seek appropriate remedies to protect
investors.

Furthermore, recent press articles have focused on the use of pro
forma financial information in Global Crossing’s and others’ earn-
ings releases. While pro forma financial information can serve use-
ful purposes, the Commission is concerned that pro forma financial
information, under certain circumstances, can mislead investors if
it obscures GAAP results.

On December 4, 2001, the Commission issued cautionary advice
that companies and their advisors should consider when releasing
pro forma financial information. The cautionary advice is part of
our ongoing commitment to improve the quality, timeliness, and ac-
cessibility of publicly available financial information.

At the same time, the Commission is focusing on ways in which
our current periodic reporting and disclosure system can be up-
dated to fill the void that pro forma statements may be attempting
to fill.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear today. I am happy to
try to respond to any questions that the Members of the sub-
committee may have.

[The prepared statement of John M. Morrissey can be found on
page 132 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. I thank you very much, Mr. Morrissey.

Mr. Cleland.
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STATEMENT OF SCOTT C. CLELAND, CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER, THE PRECURSOR GROUP

Mr. CLELAND. Yes, thank you for the honor of testifying today,
Chairwoman Kelly. I'm Scott Cleland, founder and CEO of the Pre-
cursor Group, an independent, research broker/dealer that provides
telecom-tech investment research to institutional investors. I will
try to provide the subcommittee with a broader, big-picture per-
spective today.

Global Crossing’s bankruptcy is not unique; it’s part of a broader
telecom spiral, debt spiral in the sector. And we believe that the
recession was not the cause of many of these telecom bankruptcies;
it was only the trigger.

Nor is the cause what Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Green-
span called irrational exuberance. I surmise that the causes were
the rational manipulation of the capital market system and the ir-
rational economics of the telecom-internet sector, which created
and burst the NASDAQ market bubble.

I suspect there is some rational manipulation going on here.
Global Crossing’s bankruptcy is a wakeup call to us all.

First, we must improve our clearly inadequate investment re-
search system that can’t even expose a trillion-dollar fib. Investors
depend on investment research for an objective assessment of the
facts and due diligence on a company. However, they were not in-
formed that the single most important trend buttressing Global
Crossing’s business model and that of most all the data traffic mod-
els, was hugely overstated and inflated for years.

The conventional wisdom, repeated by almost everyone for a few
years, was, from 1997 to 2001, that the data traffic growth was ex-
ploding; that it was doubling every 3 to 4 months. But that is an
800 to 1600 percent annual growth rate through 1996 to 2001.

Unfortunately, it simply wasn’t true. The actual growth rate was
closer to 100 to 200 percent. Now, if you can see the chart that we
brought with us, you can see then that roughly 14 companies,
predicated on this exploding data thesis, that their market capital-
ization increased during that period by over a trillion dollars.
That’s the T-world, over a trillion dollars, and then it fell by over
a trillion dollars as the bubble burst and the hype on data traffic
was exposed.

But more troubling than that is that this is not an isolated inci-
dent. It appears that there may be a pattern of misrepresentation
in the telecom-internet sector.

In addition to this trillion-dollar data traffic fib, U.S. investors
lost almost another trillion dollars of shareholder wealth on the
internet dot.com investment thesis, where everybody thought or ev-
erybody was told that the virtual economy was purported to obso-
lete the old economy.

Now, second, I think it’s pretty obvious from this that we do not
have a well-functioning market. If these kinds of misrepresenta-
tions can go largely unchallenged in the system of investor protec-
tions, the system simply does not produce what investors need—
trustworthy audits and investor research.

Effectively, the Big Five auditors function as a cartel where it’s
hard for investors to find a pure audit company that would best
serve investor interest. Effectively, Wall Street functions as an in-
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vestment banking cartel, where it is hard for investors to get objec-
tive investment research that’s free of investment banking bias,
that may be better at discovering the problems behind a Global
Crossing.

In response, the Precursor Group, along with Argus Research
and Egan-Jones, we're forming the Investor Side Research Associa-
tion, and our mission is to increase the investor and pensioner
trust in the U.S. capital market system through the promotion and
use of investment research that is aligned with investor interests.

We'’re currently recruiting additional members, and recruiting or-
ganizations that support our mission, and our website will be
www.investorsideresearch.org.

Now, third, we believe we must make our capital market system
much less prone to manipulation. Growth or story stocks like Glob-
al Crossing have become very prone to manipulation, and, more-
over, the options compensation culture that we have created for
company management now, can perversely incent the management
of publicly-traded companies to engage in very high risk behavior
that this hearing is about today.

It’s the one-way nature of options that’s the problem. It is that
they only have something to gain on the way up, but in a down
market or if there is a problem, they have nothing to lose on the
way down, and, therefore, they can use the balance sheet as a
piggy bank, as a way to goose the stock.

So, like a car, we believe that this system is badly out of align-
ment, which can allow it to dangerously veer off the road. And our
capital market system is badly out of alignment, essentially leaving
investors and pensioners potentially wounded in the ditch. It’s
skewed toward company interests over investor interest, and the
system is skewed toward equity markets over credit markets.

In conclusion, I'm testifying today to try and bring the overall
problem into better perspective. We believe there’s no easy solu-
tion, however, the Government can improve the inadequate re-
search investment system to prevent future trillion-dollar fibs. It
can discourage the rational manipulation of the capital markets by
better protecting investor interest, and it can also undo the irra-
tional economics that led to the telecom and the internet debacle.
Thank you very much again, Madam Chairwoman, for the oppor-
tunity to testify.

[The prepared statement of Scott C. Cleland can be found on
page 145 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. Thank you, Mr. Cleland.

Mr. McNamara.

STATEMENT OF WILL McNAMARA, DIRECTOR, ENERGY
INDUSTRY ANALYSIS, SCIENTECH, INC.

Mr. McNAMARA. Thank you, Chairwoman Kelly and Members of
the subcommittee. I thank you for the opportunity to appear before
you today. My name is Will McNamara, and I’'m Director of Energy
Industry Analysis for Scientech, an energy consulting firm focused
on energy trends, both domestically and internationally.

The purpose of my testimony today is to discuss the recent trend
of energy companies that may have expanded into the telecom sec-
tor through significant investments, and may have incurred finan-
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cial or accounting problems as a result of the downturn in the
telecom sector.

Deregulation of both the energy and the telecom sectors enabled
the convergence between the two. An argument could be made and
was often made that it was a strategic move for energy companies
and electric utilities to expand into telecom, based on the following
conditions:

Most of the companies already had the trenches in which to lay
fiber optic cable. In addition, pushing voice and data files seemed
similar to electricity distribution.

There were great expectations for the growth of dot.com compa-
nies, and energy companies traditionally have low-growth pros-
pects, and many were looking for other revenue-drivers. Companies
such as Enron Corporation and Williams Companies led the move-
ment by buying or constructing many miles of fiber optic capacity.
However, the prognosis for energy companies that expanded into
telecom is virtually the same for the pure-plate telecom companies.

What we are witnessing is that demand was greatly overesti-
mated; there was a glut of capacity or a perceived glut of capacity;
there were heavy debt loads for telecom units and diminished op-
portunities for sales.

To provide you with some specific examples of energy companies
that moved into telecom and suffered the consequences, I provide
the following data: Enron Corporation, former CEO of Enron, Jef-
frey Skilling, had previously anticipated a $450 billion worldwide
market for band-width trading by 2005, and specifically evaluated
the valuation of Enron’s own broad band unit at $35 billion.

However, in the second quarter of 2001, Enron reported a $102
million loss in its broad band unit, and by the third quarter of
2001, although the company had stopped separating telecom earn-
ings, the company also reported that losses had continued. In addi-
tion, Enron acknowledged that its sales prospects for the telecom
sector had dried up.

Williams Company, based on Tulsa, Oklahoma, had spun off its
telecom unit, Williams Communications, but in March of 2002, said
it could face a loss due to a stock-backing arrangement between the
two companies. Williams Communications has about $5.16 billion
in debt, currently.

Houston-based Dynergy, Inc., lost $31 million in telecom during
the first 6 months of 2001. The company says it won’t make any
money from telecom for a year or more.

Butte, Montana, Montana Power, and Touch America, as it is
now known, is the extreme example of an electric utility trans-
forming into a pure-plate telecom company. The move has been met
with financial losses, a lawsuit from shareholders, and community
backlash due to rate increases that occurred as a result of the
transformation.

Moreover, expansion into telecom has not been a successful strat-
egy for energy companies thus far, although some companies main-
tain that their telecom investments will prove financially lucrative
in the long term.

The degree of current financial impact on energy companies that
moved into telecom depends on the extent of their investment. In
terms of recommendations, energy companies will need to manage
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their own financial risk exposure to the telecom sector as most are
currently doing.

To protect investors and enable analysts to have accurate finan-
cial data about energy companies, the SEC is widely working to re-
vise financial disclosure and accounting rules, along with potential
legislation supported by this subcommittee.

I thank you for the opportunity to appear before you. I have gone
into much greater detail in my written testimony, and I welcome
the opportunity to address any of your questions. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Will McNamara can be found on page
160 in the appendix.]

Chairwoman KELLY. I thank you, Mr. McNamara.

I want to get back to the issue of the pro forma financial state-
ments by the telecommunications companies. Mr. Morrissey, in
your testimony you discuss that there is the new SEC guidance on
pro forma financial statements. I wonder if you’d be willing to dis-
cuss what the SEC is planning to do in the future to address your
concerns about those statements?

Mr. MORRISSEY. I'd be happy to. First of all, the Commission is
very concerned about the misuse of pro forma financial informa-
tion. This concern is translated into tangible, substantive action on
a number of different fronts:

On one front, we recently issued cautionary advice on the use of
pro forma financial information. This cautionary advice acknowl-
edges that pro forma information, when properly presented, can
provide very useful and meaningful information to investors to help
them understand what’s going on.

But it also reminded individuals and preparers that the anti-
fraud provisions of the Federal securities laws apply to a company
issuing pro forma financial information. In addition, we offered
some guidance in order to help avoid misleading investors in terms
of preparation of this pro forma financial information.

For example, we said that they need to clearly disclose the basis
of the presentation. They need to not omit material information
that is meaningful to investors. They need to do it in plain English,
so people can understand what the deviations are from GAAP, and,
I think, very importantly, companies need to compare that informa-
tion to GAAP-reported numbers, so that investors can be able to
understand where the numbers come from, and have that basis of
comparison.

And I think this has all been very well received within the com-
munity, the investment community and investors. Some informa-
tion I received is that companies have welcomed this because if
their desire is to present more meaningful information, to try to ex-
plain their results, they also want it to be perceived as being cred-
ible. And this is a way for them to comply with these guidelines
and give it the type of credibility that, theoretically, they’re looking
for.

Second, on the other front, the Commission has been very active
in also pursuing violations of the securities laws with respect to
material misrepresentation. We recently brought a case against
Trump Hotels, in which there is evidence to show that there was
misleading financial information, pro forma financial information
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being disclosed, and we went after them and we prosecuted them
and we brought that case.

So I think that one of the things that we’ve seen is that the new
cautionary advice is now out there. It’s being digested by preparers
of financial information, and I think we’re already seeing benefits
from that now.

Where do we go from here? We need to, I think, wait and see a
little bit to see how the improvement goes.

Chairwoman KeELLY. Thank you.

Mr. Cleland.

Mr. CLELAND. Yes, could I add a point? The problem with pro
forma is, it tends to be—it can be—not all times—it can be spin.
And when it’s put out, it is designed to then go to the investor rela-
tions department, to the public relations department as their press
releases, where they may have had a GAAP accounting loss, how-
ever, on a pro forma basis, they’re showing an improving financial
situation.

And they know that by putting the pro forma first, in advance
of the GAAP, that the headline will be, you know, “Company Beats
Expectations,” or “Company Showing Improving Results.” And by
baring the GAAP at the end, the perception of the public, through
the media and through Wall Street, which loves the pro forma—
and they’ll talk about the pro forma, pro forma, pro forma—they
don’t get an accurate picture of what the real financial situation is
that can be compared to other companies, because that’s what
GAAP is all about, is to know, should I invest in Company A, Com-
pany B, or in Bond A or Bond B?

You need to have a common language, and that’s what GAAP ac-
counting is. And so the trouble is that pro forma contributes to a
perception game that can mislead investors.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Mr. Cleland, there are statements on the
pro forma statements that are caveats. It seems to me that Mr.
Morrissey—and, Mr. Morrissey, you may join in answering here—
there may be a need for a stronger statement or for a pro forma
to carry something that says very clearly, up front—Mr. Baker
talked about the Surgeon General’s terse warning on every pack of
cigarettes. Well, maybe there should be—my question to you really
is, should there be a terse warning, large type, up front, on every
one of these pro forma statements, so that everybody gets it, and
the perception is, this is—what the company is saying, this is not
an audited statement.

I know that you do require some things, but perhaps we need to
take a look at how that’s working. Mr. Cleland, Mr. Morrissey,
would you want to jump in there?

Mr. CLELAND. Where I jump in is that the problem isn’t nec-
essarily with one individual piece of the system; it’s how the sys-
tem behaves together, in the sense that the pro forma, by itself,
might be innocuous, and the way investor relations may decide to
put it out, it may be innocuous by itself. But it is the system that
comes together, where everybody has an interest to say the good
stuff about the stock and not the bad stuff about the stock.

And so what you get is the perception created. And we all know
that the average investor reads the headlines and reads the first
paragraph, or that’s what we take away. We hear the radio an-
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nouncement or the TV announcement, which is just the best stuff,
and all of the other stuff just tends to fritter away. So, 99 percent
of the perception is the good stuff, and you have to go digging for
the bad stuff.

Chairwoman KELLY. Mr. Cleland, let me just follow up on that
for 1 minute, and then I'd like to have Mr. Morrissey kind of jump
in on that original question. But, in recent years, the telecom in-
dustry has really just gone right straight up in terms of markets
and so forth.

My interest in asking you this question is, whether or not there
was any kind of a Government action, any kind of a Government
policy that made this an arc rather than a continued curve up? I'm
wondering if this was policy or if this was something that was driv-
en by the companies themselves?

Mr. CLELAND. Well, it’s a very good question, and when you look
at the result on that chart, you see that the NASDAQ, which every-
body thought was a bubble and went up, it went up 287 percent.
And these data traffic stocks went up 1800 percent, so there is
something extraordinary going on in that segment, and that seg-
ment helped drive that NASDAQ up 287 percent.

Now, the bubble that we all talk about was driven largely by
telcom and tech. There was this culture of what I call rational ma-
nipulation of a system. It may not be any one individual, but they
all said the same thing and they all knew they all benefited from
hyping the traffic growth. That was the essence of it.

But there was also a Government problem in the sense that the
Government created a set of irrational economics. Number one, you
know, the Government commercialized essentially a not-for-profit
peering system, so the entire industry structure of internet data
traffic is not profitable.

On top of that, the Government massively subsidized data at the
expense of voice, billions of dollars every year. And what it did is,
it added more cost to the telecom voice system and subsidized data,
so it created this kind of free-lunch atmosphere.

Then you had the Telecom Act come in and said that everybody
should build out these new data networks, and the problem was
that this is a capital-intensive business where if you add risk, all
the people that own the debt freak out and they don’t want to nec-
essarily be invested in it. So the Telecom Act essentially took an
industry where capital was welcome and changed it into an indus-
try where capital wasn’t welcome.

And then the other thing that Government policymakers did is,
they added the internet tax moratorium, which gave the perception
that the internet was special. Essentially, if we transacted business
over the internet, we didn’t have to pay a tax, but if I did it over
the phone or if we did it in person, the exact same purchase would
be taxed, and so we created this unreal tax haven.

So all four of those things, the Government policy tended to in-
flate the bubble, and the market looked at the Government and the
Government was the main cheerleader. So this is a dual problem.

Chairwoman KELLY. Would either Mr. Morrissey or Mr. McNa-
mara like to get in here? Now, Mr. Morrissey, I said I'd come back
to you, so let’s start with you.
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Mr. MORRISSEY. I guess I'd like to respond to your original sug-
gestion and say I think that it has a lot of merit. It’s a good idea
to have a statement that may say something to the effect that
these statements do not represent full financial information in ac-
cordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and
should be read in conjunction with financial statements prepared
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. I
think that idea has a lot of merit, and I appreciate the suggestion.

One of the tensions you have, though, in reporting information,
is that, we desire to have material information reach the market
as quickly as possible. And one of the issues you have is that you
may have some financial information that’s of interest to investors,
but not yet have prepared your financial information, financial
statements in their entirety.

So the question is, do you withhold that information until the fi-
nancial statements are ready, or do you go and do them at different
times? And that’s just one of the tension issues that needs to be
addressed as we try to work through these different types of issues
with respect to pro forma earnings releases.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Mr. McNamara.

Mr. McNAMARA. I would add that we spoke earlier about meth-
odologies that companies use for pro forma accounting, and how
often they vary from company to company and may not be disclosed
to the public. So along with the disclaimer recommendation, which
I think has a lot of merit, I think that the methodologies that com-
panies use for their pro forma accounting projections should also be
disclosed in the line of greater transparency. Certainly that is
something that the SEC appears to be moving toward.

Chairwoman KEeLLY. Do you want to respond to that, Mr.
Morrissey? Are you moving toward that?

Mr. MORRISSEY. As I said, with respect to pro forma, we had this
recent initiative. It is something that we’re watching very closely.
We're hoping to see a significant shift in the market reaction to the
issuance of pro forma information, in conjunction with the guide-
lines that we have established. And we have to watch and see the
progress that’s being made.

Chairwoman KELLY. I would like now to just kind of go to swaps,
the swaps issue. In July of 1999, the FASB mandated that the com-
panies could not recognize all revenue earned from the new swaps
in the current year. That was a change.

And they required then that the contract be amortized over its
life. How did that affect the telecommunications companies’ finan-
cial projections? And this is for all of you.

Mr. MORRISSEY. Do you want me to go first? Basically what was
occurring within the industry and with an interpretation of the ac-
counting literature was that it was progressing, evolving, and be-
coming more refined. And the statement that I believe you're refer-
ring to added clarification as to what type of lease these IRUs
should be accounted under.

And what that statement said is that basically they have to be
accounted for under the literature that applies to real estate trans-
actions. Associated with real estate transactions are a whole series
of criteria that you have to meet in order to recognize the revenue
up front on one of these types of IRU transactions.
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And my understanding is that when that statement came out, it
effectively presented a significant hurdle that was very difficult to
overcome for many of these types of transactions that had been re-
corded in the past with up-front revenue recognition. So my under-
standing is that, from an industry perspective, it had a significant
impact, and that it reduced companies’ ability to recognize the rev-
enue up front.

Chairwoman KeLLY. Thank you.

Mr. Cleland.

Mr. CLELAND. You know, the problem here is that you have a set
of irrational economics in the industry. You have this extraordinary
hype and expectations that were created. When you have, you
know, 1800 percent increase in the market capitalization of 14 com-
panies, you've created an unreal circumstance.

Then you have a culture which has a lot riding on keeping that
stock up, because the options culture is one way; they want it to
have momentum and to go up. And so what it does, it created enor-
mous pressure, and investors wanted that money created. So, in-
vestors, the investment bankers, the auditors, the lawyers, every-
body, had an interest in making sure that this bubble didn’t get
burst.

And so in that context of an unreal world and overextended ex-
pectations, I think people looked to the accountants and said, you
know, how can we, within the rules, make this look the best pos-
sible? And what I think is important is, lots of times people can
address the letter of the law, but not address the spirit of the law,
and they’ll say, well, I did this right; I did this right; and I did this
right; there isn’t anything wrong. When doing the three of those
things together, you add them up, and it is a clear, obvious mis-
representation of the circumstance.

So we need to step back and look at these things in context to
see whether or not there was rational manipulation or misrepre-
sentation going on.

Chairwoman KELLY. Mr. McNamara.

Mr. McCNAMARA. I would just add that I think Mr. Cleland’s as-
sessment is accurate. There is a parallel between the telecom’s use
of IRUs and the energy industry’s use of the mark-to-market tech-
nique, although they’re vastly different and involve different busi-
nesses and different commodities.

What essentially would be the same is that the pressure is to in-
flate current earnings on the basis of transactions that may not
materialize until down the line. And so as changes regarding rules
governing pro forma accounting emerge, it would be helpful to look
at both industries.

Chairwoman KELLY. Mr. McNamara, you have delivered some
really interesting testimony today. Any subsequent figures and
facts that you can bring to flesh that out, the subcommittee would
appreciate, because I think you've had some very interesting testi-
mony.

I'm going to ask you just a couple of very straightforward ques-
tions, and basically I'm concerned that companies over-valued earn-
ings. And I'm concerned that investors really didn’t get a clear pic-
ture here. And it seems to me your testimony is saying that, and
all I want to know is, if my perception is a correct one? And you
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can just answer that yes or no, and you can just start down the
line and give me a quick answer.

Mr. McNAMARA. I would say that the answer is yes, but I would
say that both pro forma and real-time financial earnings are impor-
tant, and why not offer both to investors and analysts, and they
can choose which one they want to follow.

Chairwoman KEeLLY. Mr. Cleland.

Mr. CLELAND. I think you can have as quick a disclosure and as
complete a disclosure, and then you want to have a system that
has people that are looking out for investors, either auditors that
are pure audit companies or investor-side research, because we
have a systemic problem here where the system is no longer work-
ing for investors. That’s how Enron, Global Crossing, the bubble,
happened. It is that the system got out of alignment and then it
always wanted to go up.

And the thing is, markets don’t always go up; they have ups and
downs; they have corrections and whatever, but this system is out
of alignment, and it will continue to veer off into the ditch until
you figure out a way to let the free market and competitive use of
ideas flourish. Because if somebody would have stood up and said
there’s a problem with Enron early on, and because they’re paid by
the system to find those things, or if, you know, if somebody was
paid to find those things with Global Crossing and the telecom de-
bacle, you would have identified those things. But the system didn’t
Fay for capital preservation; it paid for stock promotion. It’s a prob-
em.

Chairwoman KELLY. Mr. Morrissey.

Mr. MORRISSEY. I guess the way I would answer the question is,
at the Securities and Exchange Commission, we fully expect com-
panies to comply with the Federal securities laws and comply with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, and to reflect trans-
actions based upon their substance.

And that to the extent that mere compliance with the technical-
ities of the literature does not present a fair picture of what’s hap-
pening, they have an obligation to disclose what really is going on
in management’s discussion and analysis, so that investors have a
clear understanding of really what is happening.

If that is not occurring, they’re going to have a serious problem
with my fellow colleagues in the Division of Enforcement, and we
expect that from all investors.

Chairwoman KerLy. All right, thank you. I have a few more
questions, but I'm going to submit those in writing.

This has been a relatively long hearing. The Chair notes that
some Members will have, in all probability, additional questions for
this panel, and they will submit them in writing, so without objec-
tion, the hearing record is going to remain open for 30 days for the
Members to submit written questions to these witnesses and to
place their responses in the record.

We thank you very much for your patience in waiting through
the first panel, and for your subsequent testimony here. This sec-
ond panel is excused with our great appreciation for your time.

I want to briefly thank the Members who are here and other
Members of this subcommittee who have shown a great deal of in-
terest in this topic, and I also want to thank especially the staff
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that we have, my staff, and the staff on the Financial Services
Committee. They have been terrific in making this hearing pos-
sible, and with that, this hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 12:40 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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Opening Statement of Chairwoman Sue W. Kelly

Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations
Committee on Financial Services Hearing on:
The Effects of the Global Crossing Bankruptcy on
Investors, Markets, and Employees
March 21, 2002; 2128 Rayburn

In the interest of ensuring proper committee consideration of H.R. 3763, the Corporate
and Auditor Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency Act, known as CAARTA,
we are here today to examine the status of the telecommunications industry. We will hear
from the executives of the companies, from industry experts, and from an accounting
expert at the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Global Crossing’s bankruptcy in January marked the fourth largest bankruptcy in the
history of the United States. It serves as an ominous warning to the financial and business
community and has had far-reaching consequences. While the overall downturn in the
telecom industry was a factor in the collapse, the fall of Global Crossing raises serious
questions about current accounting practices, disclosure requirements and corporate
management.

Just yesterday, we learned that Global did not disclose a complex communications deal
several months before the company filed for bankruptcy in January. Experts called the
lack of disclosure a serious lapse by management.

An estimated five hundred thousand jobs have been lost in the telecom industry. Global
Crossing’s bankruptcy resulted in the loss of an estimated 9,000 jobs and has caused real
harm to investor confidence. It has had an impact on my home state of New York. State
wide, Global Crossing has eliminated hundreds of local jobs and the New York State
Pension Fund lost $63 million as a result of the collapse. How did a company that was
perceived by all conventional measures as healthy, fall so far, so fast?

By all accounts, Global Crossing was a winner, but now we know that it was actually a
financial time-bomb. Did some top executives know that the clock was ticking and time
was running out? One thing is certain - we do know that the bomb was tossed right in the
lap of employees and investors who didn’t have a clue that the company was going under.

The collapse of Global Crossing calls into question how much confidence employees,
investors and the public should have in financial information released by companies,
particularly pro-forma financial projections.
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Since these pro-forma statements are not required to use Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles, known as GAAP accounting, a company such as Global Crossing can massage
their numbers on these pro forma financial statements, or in other words, these pro-forma

statements provide an easy opportunity to ‘cook the books.’

In the case of Global Crossing, the company’s pro-forma statements may have
misinformed investors and employees as to the profitability and performance of the
company. In an examination of Global Crossing’s filings submitted last spring with the
SEC, the company reported an additional $531 million in earnings in the pro-forma
statement, pumping up earnings by nearly 50 percent, as the result of controversial swaps
activities.

However, the $531 million was not included in the company’s GAAP-compliant
statement of earnings. Why not? Because under present required disclosure regulations it
didn’t exist. It wasn’t required to exist.

In addition, we need to examine the way in which companies report their swaps of
Indefeasible Rights of Use, known as IRU’s. It appears that swaps are being used as a
quick and easy way to inflate earnings and make a company look more profitable than it
really is. Investors deserve accurate information and in some cases they are not getting it.
We need to know how the SEC views these IRU’s since some have alleged that this
accounting practice has mislead investors and the companies’ employees as to the true
profitability of these corporations.

Other issues raised by the collapse of Global Crossing include corporate governance and
responsibility, including blackout periods imposed on employee 401(k) plans. At the
highest levels of Global Crossing, top executives were selling stocks and pocketing
millions before the company’s collapse. Former CEO Gary Winnick sold stock worth
$734 million before the company collapsed, while this winter, employees of his company
watched their savings, investments, and severance packages disappear.

The purpose of hearing is to take an honest look at the issues surrounding the collapse.
The ultimate goal is to protect workers and investors and prevent this from happening in
the future through new legislation.

Accounting methods, financial disclosure and transparency, and corporate governance are
matters that the full Committee is deliberating upon now. I believe CAARTA provides a
comprehensive solution to our concerns and will restore investor and employee
confidence in company disclosures.

I would like to note for the record that we invited the President of the Communications
Workers of America to testify, however he was unable to join us due to scheduling
problems. In addition, we also invited the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants to testify, but they were also unable to accept the invitation.
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All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a
retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic,
mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written
permission of the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

Summary

Paragraph 1 of FASB Statement No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, states,
"This Statement establishes standards for recognition of profit on all real estate
sales transactions without regard to the nature of the seller's business." This
Interpretation clarifies that the phrase all real estate sales includes sales of real
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estate with property improvements or integral equipment that cannot be
removed and used separately from the real estate without incurring significant
costs.

This Interpretation is effective for all sales of real estate with property
improvements or integral equipment entered into after June 30, 1999.

Introduction

1. Paragraph 1 of FASB Statement No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, states,
"this Statement establishes standards for recognition of profit on all real estate
sales transactions without regard to the nature of the seller's business." Although
Statement 66 states that it is applicable to all sales of real estate, it does not
explicitly define real estate or identify the real estate transactions to which it is
specifically applicable. As a result, diversity developed in practice with regard to
whether transactions involving the sale of real estate with property
improvements or integral equipment such as manufacturing facilities, power
plants, and refineries are subject to the sales recognition criteria of Statement 66.
The FASB was asked to clarify how the phrase all real estate sales, as it is used in
Statement 66, relates to those transactions.

Interpretation

2. Statement 66 applies to all sales of real estate, including real estate with
property improvements or integral equipment. The terms property improvements
and integral equipment as they are used in this Interpretation refer to any physical
structure or equipment attached to the real estate that cannot be removed and
used separately without incurring significant cost, Examples include an office
building, a manufacturing facility, a power plant, and a refinery.

3. The provisions of Statement 66 do not apply to transactions that involve the
following:
a. The sale of only property improvements or integral equipment without
a concurrent (or contemplated) sale of the underlying land?
1 Except for sales of property improvements or integral
equipment with the concurrent lease (whether explicit or
implicit in the transaction) of the underlying land to the
buyer. Those transactions should be accounted for in
accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of Statement 66. In
addition, sales of property improvements or integral
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equipment subject to an existing lease of the underlying land
are also subject to the provisions of Statement 66.
b. The sale of the stock or net assets of a subsidiary or a segment of a
business if the assets of that subsidiary or that segment, as applicable,
contain real estate, unless the transaction is, in substance, the sale of real
estate
c. The sale of securities that are accounted for in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities.?
2 Sales of those types of securities are addressed by FASB
Statement No. 125, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities:
4. In the first sentence of paragraph 38 of Statement 66, the phrase property
improvements is interpreted to include both property improvements and integral
improvements (to conform that paragraph to the scope clarification provided by
this Interpretation).

Effective Date and Transition

5. The provisions of this Interpretation are effective for all sales of real estate with
property improvements or integral equipment entered into after June 30, 1999.
For this purpose, a transaction is considered to have been entered into at the date
that a written agreement that specifies the principal terms of the sale has been
signed by the parties in interest to the transaction.

This Interpretation was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Edmund L. Jenkins, Chairman

Joseph V. Anania

Anthony T. Cope

John M. Foster

Gaylen N. Larson

James J. Leisenring

Gerhard G. Mueller

Appendix
Background Information and Basis for Conclusion

Introduction
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6. This appendix summarizes considerations that Board members deemed
significant in reaching the conclusions in this Interpretation. It includes reasons
for accepting certain views and rejecting others. Individual Board members gave
greater weight to some factors than to others.

Background Information

7. In October 1982, the Board extracted the specialized sale and profit recognition
principles and practices from the AICPA Industry Accounting Guides,
Accounting for Profit Recognition on Sales of Real Estate , and Accounting for Retail
Land Sales, and the AICPA Statements of Position 75-6, Questions Concerning
Profit Recognition on Sales of Real Estate, and 78-4, Application of the Deposit,
Installment, and Cost Recovery Methods in Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, and
issued them as Statement 66. Statement 66 establishes standards for recognition
of profit on all real estate sales transactions without regard to the nature of the
seller's business.

8. Although Statement 66 states that it is applicable to all sales of real estate, the
scope of that Statement is not explicitly defined. As a result, diversity developed
in practice with regard to identifying which transactions are subject to the sales
recognition criteria of Statement 66.

9. In May 1998, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force asked the Board to clarify
the scope of Statement 66 as it relates to sales of real estate with property
improvements or integral equipment such as manufacturing facilities, power
plants, and refineries. Some had asserted that application of Statement 66 should
be relatively narrow (that is, primarily to sales of physical land and any real
property whose main value as an asset is as real estate, for example, rental and
residential property developments). That approach would have excluded sales of
operating facilities such as manufacturing facilities, power plants, and refineries
from the scope of Statement 66. Others had asserted that Statement 66 did apply
to sales of operating facilities such as operating power plants and manufacturing
facilities.

10. On October 13, 1998, the Board issued an Exposure Draft, Amendment to FASB
Statement No. 66, Rescission of FASB Statement No. 75, and Technical Corrections. The
Board received nine letters of comment in response to the Exposure Draft.
Generally, respondents were supportive of the Board's efforts to make minor
technical corrections to existing accounting literature, but the primary concern’
expressed in the comment letters related to the proposed clarification of the
scope of Statement 66. Based on the comments received, the Board decided to
separate the issues dealing with Statement 66 from the other technical
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corrections. In February 1999, the Board issued FASB Statement No. 135,
Rescission of FASB Statement No. 75 and Technical Corrections.

Basis for Conclusions

11. Paragraph 1 of Statement 66 states, "this Statement establishes standards for
recognition of profit on all real estate sales transactions without regard to the nature of
the seller's business" (emphasis added). In addition, paragraphs 38 and 39 of
Statement 66 address transactions in which the seller sells property improvements
and leases the underlying land to the buyer of the improvements. Property
improvements are not defined in Statement 66, but they are defined in footnote 2
to paragraph 6 of FASB Statement No. 98, Accounting for Leases, as "any physical
structure or equipment attached to the real estate, or other parts thereof, that
cannot be removed and used separately without incurring significant cost." The
Board questions why some would assert that a transaction involving the sale of a
power plant with a concurrent lease of the underlying land would be within the
scope of Statement 66 but that the sale of a power plant, including the sale of the
underlying land, presumably would not be within the scope of Statement 66.

12. The Board rejected the view that the scope of Statement 66 should be narrow
because the Board does not believe that Statement 66 justifies following different
profit recognition criteria for the sale of (a) only land or land with property
improvements if the primary value of the property improvements is from the
underlying land and (b) land with property improvements if the primary value of
the property improvements is not from the underlying land. In addition, although
it may be possible (as is done for tax purposes) to separate the value of the
underlying land from the value of the property improvements or integral
equipment, the Board does not believe that it is appropriate to account for those
assets separately. The Board concluded that the focus should be on the physical
attributes of the combined asset (that is, the real estate with property
improvements or integral equipment) to determine whether the nature of the
asset is more like real estate (for example, long-lived, not removable, and secured
to the land) than equipment (for example, airplanes, computers, and cars). The
Board acknowledges that determining whether something is in substance real
estate is a matter of judgment that depends on the relevant facts and
circumstances.

13. The Board observed that paragraph 54 of Statement 66 provides a table of
typical minimum initial investment requirements for sales of certain real estate
properties. One type of real estate property identified in the table is "commercial
and industrial property." Although operating facilities such as manufacturing
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facilities, power plants, and refineries are not specified, those types of operating
facilities meet the description of an industrial property. The Appraisal Institute
provides the following definition of industrial property:
Land and/or improvements that can be adapted for industrial use;
a combination of land, improvements, and machinery integrated
into a functioning unit to assemble, process, and manufacture
products from raw materials or fabricated parts; factories that
render service, e.g., laundries, dry cleaners, storage warehouses, or
those that produce natural resources, e.g., oil wells. [The Dictionary
of Real Estate Appraisal, 1993]
14. As previously stated, the Board believes that the sales recognition criteria of
Statement 66 should apply to sales of land and physical structures attached to the
land that cannot be removed and used separately without incurring significant
cost. The Board believes that natural assets such as those that have been extracted
from the land (for example, oil, gas,® coal, and gold) are substantially different
and are, thus, not subject to the provisions of Statement 66. Similarly, the Board
believes that sales of timber or corn, wheat, or any other harvested crop (that is,
anything that will have been detached from the land by the time it reaches the
buyer) would not be subject to the provisions of Statement 66. However, the
Board views the sale of timberlands or farms (that is, land with trees or crops
attached to it) as being similar to the sale of land with property improvements or
integral equipment and thus subject to the provisions of Statement 66.
3 In accordance with FASB Statement No. 19, Financial Accounting
and Reporting by Oil and Gas Producing Companies, mineral interests in
properties include fee ownership or a lease, concession, or other
interest representing the right to extract oil or gas subject to such
terms as may be imposed by the conveyance of that interest.
Mineral interests in properties also include royalty interests,
production payments payable in oil or gas, and other nonoperating
mineral interests in properties operated by others.
15. Statement 98 was issued in May 1988. Among its provisions, that Statement
specifies the accounting by a seller-lessee for a sale-leaseback transaction
involving real estate, including real estate with integral equipment such as
manufacturing facilities, power plants, and office buildings with furniture and
fixtures. Statement 98 also addresses sale-leaseback transactions in which the
seller-lessee sells only property improvements or integral equipment and leases
them back while retaining the underlying land.

16. The purpose of Statement 98 was to clarify that a seller-lessee can report a
sale-leaseback involving real estate with property improvements or integral
equipment only if the transaction qualifies as a sale under Statement 66. Under
Statement 98, sale-leaseback accounting is only appropriate if the transaction is a
normal leaseback and if the payment terms and provisions (a) adequately
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demonstrate the buyer-lessor's initial and continuing investment in the property
(as specified by paragraphs 8-16 of Statement 66) and (b) transfer all of the other
risks and rewards of ownership as demonstrated by the absence of any other
continuing involvement by the seller-lessee (as specified by paragraphs 18, 25-39
, and 41-43 of Statement 66).

17. Before Statement 98 was issued, real estate transactions that were essentially
the same were reported differently depending on the transaction's structure. In
its current deliberations, the Board concluded that Statement 98 implicitly
prescribes sales of real estate with manufacturing facilities, power plants, or
refineries to be within the scope of Statement 66 and that the scope of Statement
66 should be made explicit in that regard. Assume an entity (the seller-lessee)
enters into a sale-leaseback transaction for a manufacturing facility (including the
underlying land) that it currently owns. The seller-lessee guarantees the buyer-
lessor's investment for an extended period of time. In accordance with Statement
98, the transaction would be accounted for as a financing because of the
continuing involvement by the seller-lessee. Accordingly, the manufacturing
facility and the land would remain on the seller-lessee's books and the sales
proceeds would be reported as a liability. If the seller-lessee sold the
manufacturing facility and the underlying land outright but guaranteed the
buyer's investment for an extended period of time, the Board questions why
some would assert that that transaction would not also be accounted for under
Statement 66.

18. Several respondents to the Exposure Draft requested that the Board define
real estate and specify whether real estate rights (for example, air, drainage,
water, and mineral rights, as well as easements) would be included in that
definition. The Board was asked to clarify the scope of Statement 66 because
practice differed as to which transactions are subject to its provisions
(specifically, manufacturing facilities, power plants, and refineries). The Board
concluded that the scope of the project should remain narrow to permit the
Board to resolve the primary issue at hand without unnecessary delay.

19. Other respondents expressed concern that the Board was proposing that the
scope of Statement 66 be consistent with the scope of Statement 98. Paragraph 6
of Statement 98 states that Statement 98 is applicable to sale-leaseback
transactions of only property improvements or integral equipment. Respondents
stated that they do not believe that the scope of Statement 66 should be extended
to include sales of only property improvements or integral equipment. That is,
they do not believe that sales of inventory that will become "integral equipment"
of the customer as well as sales of existing equipment that is currently "integral"
to the seller but sold separate and apart from the underlying land should be
subject to the provisions of Statement 66. For example, the manufacturer of
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turbines for electric generating plants (which normally meet the definition of
integral equipment — once the turbine is built at the site of the customer's
generating plant it normally cannot be removed and used separately without
incurring significant costs) should not be subject to the provisions of Statement
66.

20. Statement 98 is applicable to a sale and leaseback of only property
improvements or integral equipment when the seller-lessee retains the
underlying land because the right to use the property improvements or integral
equipment is being leased back to the entity that controls access to the
underlying land. The Board did not intend that Statement 66 also be applied to
sales of only property improvements or integral equipment without the
concurrent (or contemplated) sale of the underlying land.4 If there is no
concurrent (or contemplated) sale or lease of the underlying land, but the
property improvements or integral equipment being sold is subject to an existing
lease of the underlying land, then that transaction would be subject to the
provisions of Statement 66. Furthermore, the Board does not intend for the
proposed clarification of the scope of Statement 66 to change the requirements of
FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, with respect to leases involving
equipment as well as real estate.

4 Refer to footnote 1.
21. The Board believes that clarifying that sales of real estate with property
improvements or integral equipment are within the scope of Statement 66 is not
the same as saying that property improvements are, in and of themselves, real
estate. The Board decided to address the diversity in practice with respect to
sales transactions involving real estate with property improvements or integral
equipment such as manufacturing facilities, power plants, and refineries.

22. Those constituents who believe that sales of operating facilities such as
manufacturing facilities, power plants, and refineries should not be subject to the
provisions of Statement 66 said that because those types of operating facilities are
"businesses" whose operations are not "traditional real estate activities," they are
outside the scope of Statement 66. Furthermore, they said that those sales of
businesses may include receivables and payables in addition to land and
facilities and questioned how Statement 66 would be applied.

23. Statement 66 does not differentiate between traditional and nontraditional real
estate activities. It also does not differentiate between sales of real estate and sales
of businesses. Further, neither traditional real estate activities nor businesses are
currently defined in the accounting literature.

24. The Board believes that whether something is a business should not be a
factor in determining whether its sale would be subject to the provisions of
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Statement 66. Sales of hotels, motels, marinas, and mobile home parks, which are
specifically mentioned in Statement 66 as being within its scope, can also be
considered sales of businesses. As stated above, the Board concluded that the
attributes of the combined assets being sold (that is, the manufacturing facility,
the power plant, or the hotel plus the land, receivables, payables, and so forth)
should be considered to determine whether the nature of the assets being sold is
like that of real estate and the sale is therefore in substance the sale of real estate.

25. The Board acknowledges that determining whether a transaction is in
substance the sale of real estate requires judgment. However, the Board believes
that in making that determination, one should consider the nature of the entire
real estate component being sold (that is, the land plus the property
improvements and integral equipment), and not the land only, in relation to the
entire transaction. Further, that determination should not consider whether the
operations in which the assets are involved are traditional or nontraditional real
estate activities. For example, if a ski resort is sold and the lodge and ski lifts are
considered to be affixed to the land (that is, they cannot be removed and used
separately without incurring significant cost), then it would appear that the sale
is in substance the sale of real estate and that the entire sale transaction would be
subject to the provisions of Statement 66. The Board believes that transactions
involving the sale of underlying land (or the sale of the property improvements
or integral equipment subject to a lease of the underlying land) should not be
bifurcated into a real estate component (the sale of the underlying land) and a
non-real-estate component (the sale of the lodge and lifts) for purposes of
determining profit recognition on the transaction.

26. Paragraph 2 of Statement 66 states:
Although this Statement applies to all sales of real estate, many of
the extensive provisions were developed over several years to deal
with complex transactions that are frequently encountered in
enterprises that specialize in real estate transactions. . . . Those
using this Statement to determine the accounting for relatively
simple real estate sales transactions will need to apply only limited
portions of the Statement. The general requirements for
recognizing all of the profit on a nonretail land sale at the date of
sale are set forth in paragraphs 3-5... ..
Therefore, Statement 66 recognizes that certain of the specific continuing
involvement criteria are not applicable to all real estate sale transactions. The
Board acknowledged that the extensive provisions of paragraphs 19-43 of
Statement 66 may not be applicable to some sale transactions that are in
substance the sale of real estate, for example, the sale of real estate with a
manufacturing facility. However, the Board concluded that Statement 66 does
not provide an exception to the general profit recognition criteria (paragraphs 3-
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5 of Statement 66) for such transactions.

27. Paragraph 101 of Statement 66, as amended by Statement 135, includes as
examples of real estate sales transactions:
... sales of corporate stock of enterprises with substantial real
estate, sales of partnership interests,?® and sales of time-sharing
interests®? if the sales are in substance sales of real estate; and sales
of options to purchase real estate.
3 An example of a sale of a partnership interest that is
in substance a sale of real estate would be an
enterprise forming a partnership, arranging for the
partnership to acquire the property directly from
third parties, and selling an interest in the partnership
to investors who then become limited partners.
34 For purposes of this Statement, a time-sharing
interest that is in substance a sale of real estate is the
exclusive right to occupy a specified dwelling unit for
a designated period each year and represents fee
simple ownership of real estate.
28. EITF Issue No. 98-8, "Accounting for Transfers of Investments That Are in
Substance Real Estate," addresses whether the sale or transfer of an investment
that is in form a financial asset but is in substance real estate should be accounted
for in accordance with Statement 66 or Statement 125. Issue 98-8 states the
following:
The Task Force reached a consensus that the sale or transfer of an
investment in the form of a financial asset that is in substance real
estate should be accounted for in accordance with Statement 66.
... The Task Force also observed that a marketable investment in a
real estate investment trust (REIT) that is accounted for in
accordance with Statement 115 would not be considered an
investment that is in substance real estate. Accordingly, the sale or
transfer of an ownership interest in a REIT that is accounted for in
accordance with Statement 115 should be accounted for in
accordance with Statement 125. [Paragraphs 5 and 6.]
29. Several constituents requested that the Board clarify the scope of Statement 66
with respect to sales of securities accounted for under Statement 115. The Board
believes that a marketable investment in an entity with substantial real estate (for
example, an investment in a REIT) is in substance an investment in real estate.
However, the Board concluded that an exception to the provisions of Statement
66 should be provided for the sale or transfer of an investment in a security that
is accounted for in accordance with Statement 115, even if that investment is in
substance an investment in real estate. The Board concluded that the sale or
transfer of an investment that is in substance real estate and is accounted for
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under Statement 115 would be subject to the criteria provided in Statement 125,
for determining whether a sale has occurred. The Board believes that because
securities are generally highly liquid and easily transferable, the guidance
provided in Statement 125 is more appropriate than that provided in Statement
66 with respect to sales or transfers of investments in marketable securities,
regardless of whether they are in substance real estate. The Board observed that
the sale of an investment in a consolidated entity, an investment accounted for
under the equity method, or a cost method investment in a nonmarketable
security (that is, one that is outside the scope of Statement 115) that is in
substance real estate would continue to be subject to the provisions of Statement
66.

Effective Date and Transition

30. The Exposure Draft acknowledged that the proposed clarification of the scope
of Statement 66 would require transition for those entities that interpreted the
scope of Statement 66 to not include, for example, the sale of an operating facility
such as a manufacturing facility, power plant, or refinery, and, therefore, did not
consider the criteria of Statement 66 to determine whether sales recognition is
appropriate. The Exposure Draft proposed that the effective date and transition
for the proposed scope clarification of Statement 66 be for all real estate sales
transactions consummated after December 31, 1998. In addition, some Board
members expressed concern that during the period between the time the Board
decided on the scope clarification of Statement 66 and the proposed effective
date, significant real estate sales transactions might be consummated that did not
apply the criteria of Statement 66. Therefore, in the Exposure Draft, the Board
decided that unless an entity had an established stated policy that certain types
of real estate sales transactions are not subject to the provisions of Statement 66,
all real estate sales transactions entered into after September 9, 1998 should be
accounted for in accordance with the provisions of Statement 66.

31. Several respondents expressed concerns about the proposed transition and
asserted that any time the Board adopts a prospective, transaction-based
transition approach, transactions can occur prior to the effective date that
effectively become grandfathered by the prior rules. Respondents also noted that
an entity's prior policy to not apply Statement 66 to sales of operating facilities
such as manufacturing facilities, power plants, and refineries may be considered
reasonable in the light of the diversity in practice. The Board acknowledged
those concerns and decided that this Interpretation should be effective for all
sales of real estate with property improvements or integral equipment entered
into after June 30, 1999.



63

EITF ABSTRACTS
Issue No. 00-11

Title: Lessors' Evaluation of Whether Leases of Certain Integral
Equipment Meet the Ownership Transfer Requirements of FASB
Statement No. 13

Dates May 17-18, 2000; September 20-21, 2000; January 17-18, 2001;
Discussed: July 19, 2001

References: FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases
FASB Statement No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate
FASB Statement No. 98, Accounting for Leases: Sale-Leaseback
Transactions Involving Real Estate, Sales-Type Leases of Real Estate,
Definition of the Lease Term, and Initial Direct Costs of Direct
Financing Leases
FASB Interpretation No. 43, Real Estate Sales

ISSUE

1. Paragraph 2 of Interpretation 43 states that Statement 66 "applies to all sales of
real estate, including real estate with property improvements or integral
equipment.” Some have interpreted that guidance to mean that integral
equipment (as defined in Interpretation 43) should be considered real estate for
other accounting evaluations outside the scope of Statement 66, including, for
example, lease accounting evaluations. For any lease of real estate to be classified
as a sales-type lease by the lessor, paragraph 7(a) of Statement 13 must be met.

Paragraph 7(a) of Statement 13 (as amended by Statement 98) states:
The lease transfers ownership of the property to the lessee by the end of the lease term. . .

* This criterion is met in situations in which the lease agreement provides
for the transfer of title at or shortly after the end of the lease term in
exchange for the payment of a nominal fee, for example, the minimum
required by statutory regulation to transfer title. [Emphasis added.]
2. In the United States, real property (land and buildings) transfers are addressed
in state law. Recording a document of transfer in local land records evidences
transfer of ownership of real property. Transfers of personal property (tangible,
moveable goods) are addressed in Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code
(U.C.C). Although Article 2 of the U.C.C. provides a set of guidelines for
determining when title to personal property has passed, there is generally no
system for recording or registering title. Fixtures are a hybrid form of property,
defined as personal property that is closely associated with the real property to
which it is attached. Transfers of fixtures without the concurrent transfer of the
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underlying real property may not be subject to either a statutory title registration
system or Article 2 of the U.C.C.

3. The issues are:

Issue 1 — Whether integral equipment subject to a lease should be evaluated as
real estate under Statement 13

Issue 2 — If integral equipment subject to a lease is evaluated as real estate under
Statement 13, how the requirement in paragraph 7(a) of Statement 13 for the
transfer of ownership should be evaluated when no statutory title registration
system exists for the leased assets.

EITF DISCUSSION

4. The Task Force reached a consensus on Issue 1 that integral equipment subject
to a lease should be evaluated as real estate under Statement 13, as amended by
Statement 98. Members of the Task Force observed that Statement 98 was
intended to conform the requirements of Statement 13 with respect to sales-type
leases of real estate to the requirements of Statement 66 with respect to sales of
real estate. In order to maintain that conformity, integral equipment should be
evaluated as real estate for purposes of Statement 13 (because Interpretation 43
defines integral equipment as real estate for purposes of Statement 66).

5. The Task Force reached a consensus on Issue 2 that for integral equipment or
property improvements for which no statutory title registration system exists,
the criterion in paragraph 7(a) of Statement 13 (that the lease transfers ownership
of the property to the lessee by the end of the lease term) is met in lease
agreements that provide that, upon the lessee's performance in accordance with
the terms of the lease, the lessor shall execute and deliver to the lessee such
documents (including, if applicable, a bill of sale for the equipment) as may be
required to release the equipment from the lease and to transfer ownership
thereto to the lessee. This criterion is also met in situations in which the lease
agreement requires the payment by the lessee of a nominal amount (for example,
the minimum fee required by statutory regulation to transfer ownership) in
connection with the transfer of ownership. Notwithstanding the foregoing
guidance, a provision in a lease agreement that ownership of the leased property
is not transferred to the lessee if the lessee elects not to pay the specified fee
(whether nominal or otherwise) to complete the transfer of ownership is a
purchase option. Such a provision would not satisfy criterion 7(a) of Statement 13.

6. The consensuses in this Issue should be applied to (a) leases for which lease
inception occurs after July 19, 2001, and (b) leases modified after July 19, 2001,
that meet the criteria in paragraph 9 of Statement 13 to be considered as new
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agreements. The Task Force reached a consensus that companies should disclose
the effect on the balance sheet and the income statement resulting from a change
in lease classification under (b), above, for leases that at inception would have
been classified differently had the guidance in this Issue been in effect at the
inception of the original lease.

STATUS

7. No further EITF discussion is planned.
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EITF ABSTRACTS
Issue No. 00-13

Title: Determining Whether Equipment is "Integral Equipment"
Subject to FASB Statements No. 66 and No. 98

Date May 17-18, 2000
Discussed:

References: FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases
FASB Statement No. 28, Accounting for Sales with Leasebacks
FASB Statement No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate
FASB Statement No. 98, Accounting for Leases: Sale-Leaseback
Transactions Involving Real Estate, Sales-Type Leases of Real Estate,
Definition of the Lease Term, and Initial Direct Costs of Direct
Financing Leases
FASB Interpretation No. 43, Real Estate Sales

ISSUE

1. With the issuance of Interpretation 43, which concludes that sales of integral
equipment are within the scope of Statement 66, determining whether equipment
constitutes "integral equipment" has taken on increased importance as that
determination now affects whether the detailed guidance in Statement 66 should
be applied to a transfer of equipment. Further, the appropriateness of sales-type
lease classification by lessors for leases involving equipment is also impacted by
the determination of whether the equipment to be leased is "integral equipment."
In addition, that determination is important for reaching a conclusion as to
whether Statement 98, with its more stringent provisions, applies to a sale-
leaseback transaction.

2. Integral equipment is defined in Interpretation 43 as "any physical structure or
equipment attached to the real estate that cannot be removed and used
separately without incurring significant cost." The authoritative pronouncements
governing the accounting for leasing transactions and sales of real estate do not
provide any guidance for interpreting the phrase "cannot be removed and used
separately without incurring significant cost," and, as a result, there may be
diversity in practice with respect to determining what constitutes "integral
equipment" for the purpose of applying Statements 13, 66, and 98.

3. This issue is how the determination of whether equipment is integral
equipment should be made.
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EITF DISCUSSION

4. The Task Force agreed that the phrase "cannot be removed and used
separately without incurring significant cost" contains two distinct concepts: (a)
the ability to remove the equipment without incurring significant cost and (b) the
ability of a different entity to use the equipment at another location without
significant diminution in utility or value. The Task Force reached a consensus
that the determination of whether equipment is integral equipment should be
based on the significance of the cost to remove the equipment from its existing
location (which would include the cost of repairing damage done to the existing
location as a result of the removal), combined with the decrease in the value of
the equipment as a result of that removal. The Task Force agreed that, ata
minimum, the decrease in the value of the equipment as a result of its removal is
the estimated cost to ship? and reinstall the equipment at a new site. The nature
of the equipment, and the likely use of the equipment by other potential users,
should be considered in determining whether any additional diminution in fair
value exists beyond that associated with costs to ship and install the equipment.
11f there are multiple potential users of the leased equipment, the
estimate of the fair value of the equipment as well as the costs to
ship and install the equipment should assume that the equipment
will be sold to the potential user that would result in the greatest
net cash proceeds to the seller {current lessor).
5. When the combined total of both the cost to remove plus the decrease in value
(for leasing transactions, the information used to estimate those costs and the
decrease in value should be as of lease inception) exceeds 10 percent of the fair
value of the equipment (installed) (for leasing transactions, at lease inception),
the equipment is integral equipment.

6. Refer to Exhibit 00-13 A for an example that illustrates the application of this
consensus.

STATUS
7. No further EITF discussion is planned.
Exhibit 00-13A

ILLUSTRATION OF THE APPLICATION OF THE EITF CONSENSUS ON
ISSUE 00-13

Company A leases equipment to Company B for use in a manufacturing facility.
The fair value of the production equipment (installed) at lease inception is
$1,075,000. The estimated cost to remove the equipment after installation
(estimate is as of the beginning of the lease term) is $80,000, which includes
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$30,000 to repair damage to the existing location as a result of the removal. The
estimated cost to ship and reinstall the equipment at a new site (estimated as of
the beginning of the lease term) is $85,000. For this example, assume that the
equipment would have the same fair value (installed) to the seller and a potential
buyer. Therefore, there is no diminution in fair value of the equipment beyond
the discount a purchaser would presumably require to cover the cost to ship and
reinstall the equipment.

In accordance with this consensus, Company A would assess whether or not the
production equipment is integral equipment as follows ($80,000 + $85,000) +
$1,075,000 = 15.3 percent. Because the cost of removal combined with the
diminution in value exceeds 10 percent of the fair value (installed) of the
production equipment, the cost to remove the equipment and use it separately is
deemed to be significant. Therefore, the production equipment is integral
equipment.
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Opening Statement

Chairman Michael G. Oxley

Committee on Financial Services

Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee
The Effects of the Global Crossing Bankruptecy
on Investors, Markets, and Employees
March 21, 2002

Good Morning. I want to take this opportunity to thank the Chairwoman of the
Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, Congresswoman Spe Kelly, for
holding this important and particularly timely hearing.

It seems that each day brings us new revelations about the use or misuse of complex
accounting practices that hide the information needed by the markets to assess a
company’s health. When this happens to a healthy company during a period of
growth, the company can work its way through it. But when the company is already
experiencing a severe downturn in its business and then has its accounting
questioned, as was the case with Global Crossing, it can be devastating.

There are two sets of victims who get burned in this cycle: Investors suddenly
receive new and damaging information about the company and then lose confidence
in it. And, worse yet, the employees then lose their jobs and their pensions when the
business turns bad, and the capital markets freeze because the good news they had
about the company was not necessarily true.

While the Enron bankruptcy first brought these issues to our attention, it appears
that Global Crossing, which has also declared bankruptcy, and other telecom
companies accounted for key activities in a way that raises serious concerns.
Employees and investors need to know whether they engaged in swaps of capacity
that had a legitimate business purpose or did not, and whether they were accounted
for properly or in a way that just pumped up their projected cash flow and stock
prices. Global Crossing entered into these capacity swaps with a number of
companies, including Qwest, Cable and Wireless, WorldCom, at a time when the
entire telecom world was experiencing an excess of capacity. We need to
understand how the industry’s overall problems intersected with the use of those
swaps.

I want to thank the CEO and CFO of Global Crossing and executives of Qwest,
WorldCom, and Cable and Wireless for agreeing to appear before us today to explain
these issues to the American people.

It is only by investigating these practices that we can help investors to base their
decisions upon a company’s real finaneial condition, not just a projection released
without an objective opinion by an independent party.
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Just as important to my way of thinking is a desire to protect shareholders and
employees from the kinds of activities that are often characterized as “sweetheart”
deals and might have an adverse impact on shareholder value. Some of these
practices include special treatments for loans, bonuses, and pension payouts. We
need to discuss the propriety of 401(k) blackout periods, wherein some employees
are precluded from selling stock for specified periods of time.

This hearing will be of enormous assistance in assuring that H.R. 3763, the
Corporate and Auditing Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency Act of
2002, or CARTA, is successful and effective. In order for our Nation’s economy to
remain on sound footing and to continue its recovery and anticipated growth, it is
vital for the American investor to have access to the most recent, meaningful and
accurate information possible. Good corporate governance is necessary for such an
environment to exist, and that is one of the things we are seeking to accomplish by
the introduction and implementation of the CARTA legislation.

That concludes my comments, and I will now yield to the gentlelady from New York,
Mrs. Kelly, for what I anticipate will be a very interesting and illuminating hearing.

HHEE
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Statement of the Honorable Wm. Lacy Clay before the
Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, Thursday, March 21, 2002

Good morning Madam Chairman, members of the subcommittee and witnesses.

The success of our financial markets depends on the free flow of accurate and reliable
information. This is particularly important as more and more Americans invest in the
stock market and as more and more companies sponsor market-based 401(K) retirement
accounts. Therefore, in the wake of the Global Crossing Bankruptcy filing in January,
Congress must investigate why the supposed safeguards in the system did not work.

Thave seen documents and reports of over-investments, suspect accounting practices and
other allegations. However, along with many of my fellow Committee members here
today, I will avoid forming any conclusions about the causes of Global Crossing’s
collapse into bankruptcy until all of the evidence has been presented.

Ido have concerns about the damage that is done to the telecom sector of the economy
and to the employees of Global Crossing. This failure coupled with several other Chapter
11 filings has severely damaged the confidence that banks and the bond markets have in
the industry.

Were any pension laws broken when Global Crossing locked employees out of their
401(K) plans? During a three-week-period in late December and early January, Global
Crossing stock prices plummeted while employees were denied the ability to sell. But
there are currently no federal laws, which regulate how long -- or indeed when -- such
lockdowns can occur.

‘We must protect employees and their securities for their retirements.

Madame Chairman, I ask unanimous consent to submit my statement to the record.
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OPENING STATEMENT
Rep. Stephanie Tubbs Jones

The Effects of the Global Crossing Bankruptcy on Investors, Markets, and
Employees

3/21/02

Good Morning, Chairwoman Kelly, Vice Chairman Paul, Ranking Member
Gutierrez and Members of this Subcommittee. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous
consent that my full statement be included in the Record.

In the wake of Global Crossing we have seen first hand the -effects of poor
corporate governance and financial irresponsibility. The issues have been
complicated at best; the misdirection, finger pointing and complexity of the
personalities and accounting involved in this situation have made the root issues
difficult to parse. However, when the Gordian knot has been tied by the Global's of
the world, I think that its best that we get back to basics and move forward to
evaluate our position as a nation with regard to corporate responsibility, governance
and ethics.

Let me first address those directly responsible for the well being of those
least able to protect themselves-shareholders. At a basic level, it is the role of the
board of directors of any company to protect and act in the best interest of the
shareholders. Protecting shareholders is a task simple enough to speak of but
seemingly infinite in its difficulty to perform. Shareholders have no choice but to
trust the board as fiduciary agents to act in their best interest and it is because of
this dependence that we must carefully evaluate what led to the downfall of Global
Crossing's.

Secondly, we must examine the role that Global's corporate auditors had in
effecting the company's downward spiral. Is it more than a coincidence that Global
Crossing and Enron were both audited by Andersen? Perhaps, but we are sure that
both Enron and Global share the same fate in Chapter 11 bankruptcy. The notion of
true auditor independence is at issue and specific to this hearing, how big of a factor
it was in Global Crossing's demise.

And finally, I would like to acknowledge the employees of Global who have
often been overlooked in the media storm surrounding its once proud employer.
Over 9,000 people lost their job as a result of the Global bankruptey, most of which
were unaware of the accounting improprieties that may have cost the company its
life.

The reach of the Global Crossing debacle into the telecommunications sector
was deep. By some estimates, over 500,000 jobs and $2.0 trillion in market
capitalization in the sector was lost as a direct result of Global Crossing's
bankruptcy. This is reason enough why we must continue to scrutinize what
happened to Global Crossing so that it will never happen again.

Mr. Chairman, thank you for your time.
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Statement of Representative Louise Slaughter
March 21, 2002
Committee on Financial Services, Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations
Hearing on the effects of the Global Crossing bankruptcy on investors, markets, and
employees

Iwant to thank Chairwoman Kelly, Ranking Member Gutierrez and Members of this
committee for holding this hearing into Global Crossing’s bankruptcy.

I appreciate the opportunity to submit my statement for the record. My interest in this
hearing stems from the fact that thousands of people in my district have been affected by Global
Crossing’s bankruptcy filing. Global Crossing’s North American headquarters was located in
Rochester, New York, and had owned Frontier Communications, the local telephone company
which on its own employed 13,000 workers.

As we discuss the effect of Global Crossing’s bankruptcy on the marketplace, I would
like to emphasize the impact of this bankruptcy on the individual worker. On March 9, [ hosted a
public forum in Rochester where 250 people came to share their experiences. 1would like to
quote from an article I received that was written by a former employee which summarizes the
general sentiment at the forum: “Many former cmployees have been economically devastated as a
result of corporate greed and the mismanagement of Global Crossing. People have spent their life
savings and have had to cash in their deflated (since the stock market plammeted) retirement/401k
plans just to survive these last few months after Global Crossing abruptly ceased their promised
severance payments. Some (former employees) are now forced to file bankruptcy themselves
while others may lose their homes, have had to drastically change their life styles and are barely
surviving.”

According to press reports, there appears to be striking parallels between the cases of
Enron and Global Crossing, including a lack of auditor independence, questionable executive
mismanagement, misleading accounting methods, and questions on the accessibility of
employees’ 401(k) accounts before the bankruptey filing, And unlike the small shareholders and
the company’s workers, current and former top executives walked away the winners. This
hearing begins the process of Congress asking the tough questions on how this occurred -- where
did the system break down and allow this to happen?

Hearings like this one will serve as a wake-up call to both Congress and corporate
America that these type of business practices and bankruptcies can be neither sustained nor
tolerated. Additionally, current law must change to better protect workers and investors. Across
the board, investors are now skittish about relying on auditors’ reports and analysts’
recommendations. Ilook forward to listening to the witnesses’ views, cxperiences, and
suggestions on how Congress can take effective action.
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Before the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations of the

Committee on Financial Services
U.S. House of Representatives

Testimony of
John J. Legere
Chief Executive Officer
and
Dan J. Cohrs, Ph.D.
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Global Crossing

March 21, 2002

We are pleased to submit this statement in connection with today’s Subcommittee

hearing and in response to the March 14, 2002, letter to us from the Committee on Financial

Services. Initially, we want to thank the Subcommittee for calling this hearing to take a serious

look at the difficult financial issues facing the telecommunications industry, generally, and

Global Crossing, in particular. We believe that a thorough, well-considered discussion on these

matters is timely and appropriate.

The Committee’s letter asked that we address three sets of issues:

n

@

Fitst, how Global Crossing, and other companies with fiber optic networks,
accounted for relatively contemporaneous purchases and sales of fiber optic
capacity from the same counterparty, and the transparency given to public
investors of those transactions.

Second, whether the accounting model followed by the telecommunications
industry and assumptions respecting its growth served as the trigger for the rolling

deflation we have seen in this sector of our economy.
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(3)  Third, what can the Committee on Financial Services and the Congress of the
United States do to ensure that this industry is preserved and that investor
confidence can be regained.

In this statement, we will address these topics. If appropriate, we will provide

supplemental written testimony.

Before we begin, however, we want to emphasize that although we believe that there are
important lessons to be learned from our experience at Global Crossing, we are not just looking
back. Although it is important to put to rest all the questions that have been raised, we are also
building for the future. Nearly all of our energies are focused on strengthening our Company,
and continuing to provide global telecommunications to the world. We have a network that is
unparalleled in scope and capability. We have dedicated and loyal employees. We have tens of
thousands of customers who depend on us for their national and worldwide communications
needs. We simply will not let them down.

We are moving aggressively to execute a turnaround plan that makes good sense. Our
network is now complete. We are lowering all of our costs, both capital and operating
expenditures. We are continuing to earn recurring service revenues, over $3 billion last year. We
intend to emerge from Chapter 11 one way or another, and we hope that we will once again be
able to share with you an American success story.

Background

Global Crossing and Its Unique Network

Global Crossing was launched in 1997 and became a publicly traded company in 1998.
Since that time, Global Crossing has raised and invested billions of dollars to build the world's
most extensive fiber optic network. No other telecommunications company in the world has an

owned and controlled infrastructure — consisting of subsea and terrestrial cables, inter- and intra-
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metropolitan city networks, and associated equipment and buildings — that is as extensive as that
of Global Crossing. A map of the world showing Global Crossing’s network is appended to this
statement. This network, which is owned and managed by Global Crossing, provides a wide
range of services to other carriers, companies large and small and consumers. The Global
Crossing network also provides an essential backbone network for other major
telecommunication carriers throughout the world that have purchased capacity on it and route
large volumes of telecommunications traffic across it. Included in this group are the regional
Bell operating companies, many major European carriers and significant Asian carriers.

This unique asset, with its unparalleled infrastructure, is invaluable because it literally
connects the world as a global community. Multinational enterprises, across a spectrum of
industries, can create, exchange, collaborate, and compete, all with greater ease and security.

The Global Crossing network creates opportunities every day. The network securely and
reliably connects over 7,000 financial institutions, carries over $5 trillion in financial transactions
per day, and counts as its customers over 85,000 corporations, governments and other
organizations. Most recently, and among its many other accomplishments, Global Crossing
carried the news feeds for the Olympic Games for NBC in Salt Lake City.

The Effects of a Weakening Economy

As a result of a softening economy. and steep declines in demand, opportunities such as
these have not come fast enough. With the over $7.2 billion in debt that it took to construct and
operate Global’s network, given the continued high cost of local access charges from which the
incumbent telecommunications companies benefit and with an internal cost structure that could
not be cut back fast enough to keep pace with the collapse in demand, Global Crossing had no
alternative other than filing for Chapter 11 protection to ensure continued operation of our

network while the balance sheet is restructured.



77

With the benefit of hindsight, we now see that, in 2000, the telecommunications industry
experienced the first effects of consolidation as the capital markets closed and access to funding
became limited. In the early months of 2001, investor confidence showed signs of weakening,
resulting in significant contraction of debt and equity values. Certainly, by the third quarter of
last year, the market valuation of nearly every major company in the telecom sector had deflated
dramatically, prompted by a tumbling world economy, and the implosion of the dot-com
phenomenon.

Ironically, it was at about this time that Global Crossing announced that it had completed
its nearly 100,000-mile fiber optic network — a network connecting over 200 of the world’s top
business centers, designed for a new century of networked computing. In fact, the entire
industry, fueled by optimistic market research — which forecasted a society where everyone had
access to everything over communications networks — had built out ahead of demand.

At the end of the third quarter of last year, John Legere was recruited from Asia Global
Crossing to serve as the Company’s CEO. The Company needed to address an overwhelming
debt load and design and implement a business model that would enable it to continue and
compete. The leadership team immediately eliminated layers of management, implemented
dramatic cost reductions, including a reduction in force of more than 20%, and put together a
“SWAT” team gf strategists to redesign the business and financial model — all by early
November 2001.

Despite these immediate and serious measures, it became apparent that the cost of
servicing the Company’s debt, coupled with a realistic assessment of the market opportunity in
the context of a slowing and uncertain economy, required Global Crossing to explore all its
options. As a result, the Company accelerated discussions with banks and potential investors.

As the pressure of loan obligations increased, and on the advice of financial and legal advisors, it
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became clear that the Company’s situation called for measures more drastic than originally
expected.

Bankruptcy and Potential Investors

Knowing that it had to do the right, if difficult, thing in order to preserve the Company
and continue to operate the network on behalf of over 85,000 commercial and carrier customers
around the world, Global Crossing prepared for the possibility of a Chapter 11 filing.
Concurrently, the Company held negotiations with outside investors, which it pursued intensely.
At the end of January, Global Crossing became the fourth largest company in history to declare
bankruptcy.

At the same time, Global Crossing signed a letter of intent with Hutchison Whampoa and
Singapore Technologies Telemedia for a $750 million cash investment following a successful
restructuring. The potential investment, along with the financial restructuring, was designed to
strengthen the balance sheet and reduce debt, enabling Global Crossing to build upon its global
network and emerge a worldwide leader in networking services.

Since the bankruptcy filing, more than 40 investors have expressed interest in speaking
with the Company — investors who the Company hopes will recognize the value of Global
Crossing and its potential.

Global Crossing raised and expended billions of dollars to build the world’s first and only
seamless, global fiber optic network. This network is generating — and will continue to generate
— billions of dollars of revenue a year. Unfortunately, a soft economy, difficuities in the
telecommunications industry and the huge debt incurred over the past years to build this unique
and valuable asset have placed Global Crossing in a “buyer’s market.” The Company is
working very hard to structure a successful reorganization plan in the Chapter 11 proceeding so

that it can bring in new investors, continue network operations uninterrupted and realize its
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extraordinary potential — and to ensure a future for thousands of employees around the world
who have worked very hard to build the business, and who continue to work even through this
extremely challenging period to make the business successful.

The Shadow of Enron

Shortly after it announced its plan to restructure, the Company, including its new CEQ,
came under the public spotlight at a time when other large bankruptcies of a different nature —
most notably Enron — had aroused considerable public interest. Some may see superficial
similarities between Enron and Global Crossing: a collapse in the stock price, questions about
accounting practices, executive stock sales, questions about employee investments in 401(k)
plans, two highly visible and wealthy chairmen and, of course, Andersen, the independent
auditor. Perhaps not surprisingly, the SEC opened an investigation.

Let us be ciear: Global Crossing is no Enron. Global Crossing built and owns the
world’s most advanced fiber optic network, spanning the globe and touching five continents. It
is a very real asset, the value and significance of which is indisputable.  Global Crossing
provides services to 85,000 customers and has billions of dollars in revenues from providing
much needed telecommunications services globally.

With respect to the superficial similarities, we will address them one by one.

Accounting Practices: Global Crossing consistently applied accounting policies that it
developed in consultation with Andersen. These policies were derived from the applicable
accounting literature. The policies and practices common to the industry, to which the Company
adhered, were well understood and documented by the financial community and analysts who
followed companies in this sector. Samples of analysts’ reports discussing such policies and
practices have been provided to the Staff of the Subcommittee.

Accounting Practices -- Employee Complaints: Former employees at Enron and Global
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Crossing have alleged accounting improprieties. Although the Company cannot comment
specifically on these matters as they are currently the subject of litigation, in the case of Global
Crossing, following the receipt of a letter from a now-former employes, the Company did engage
outside counsel to review the matter, and outside counsel found the allegations to be without
merit. The Company’s Board of Directors has engaged independent outside counsel and is
currently reviewing these allegations.

Executive Stock Sales: Global Crossing’s stock price rose rapidly over a very short
period of time as the telecom industry expanded. Then, when the industry even more rapidly
contracted, the stock price fell — although along a trajectory far less steep than Enron’s. At its
height, Global Crossing was one of the most heavily traded stocks in the market, in the top ten
volume stocks on the New York Stock Exchange on almost a daily basis. The transactions by
present and former Company officials are currently the subject of review by the SEC and the
Company will be in a position to provide a further report on this subject at a later date.
However, it must be added that many other investors profited greatly from Global Crossing
stock. Unfortunately — but as is always the case — many investors also lost money because of
when they bought or because they chose not to sell.

Governmental Investigations: The SEC and the U.S. Attorney’s Office are conducting
investigations and the Company is cooperating actively with them to enable their reviews to
proceed as expeditiously as possible.

401(k) Issues: Following the purchase and sale of various businesses between late 1999
and June 2001, Global Crossing was left sponsoring three 401(k) plans for various active, retired
and former employees. To reduce expenses, enhance service and provide uniform plan features

to participants, the Company determined to consolidate the plans under a new record keeper,
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Fidelity Investments, effective January 1, 2002, which was the end of the plans’ annual reporting
and record-keeping cycle.

It is commonplace for administrators to request that such changes be made effective at
the beginning of a plan year and to have a “blackout” period during which plan participants are
restricted from making changes to their account. The idea is to “freeze” the plan data for a short
period so that it can be transferred from the old record keeper to the new one.

In the case of Global Crossing, plan participants were given ample advance notice of the
blackout period. The blackout for changing investment allocations began on December 14,
2001, and ended on January 18, 2002. All participants were first advised of that year-end
blackout by an announcement mailed by Fidelity on October 2, 2001, which was followed by an
internal email to U.S. employees on October 11, 2001. As the blackout drew near, a transaction
brochure was mailed on December 4 to each plan participant specifying key blackout dates,
followed by an internal email notice sent on December 11, 2001, again reminding employees of
the blackout commencement date of December 14, 2001.

Significantly, more than two months elapsed between the Company’s revised earnings
announcement of October 4, 2001 and the blackout. During those ten weeks, participants
remained free to re-allocate their investments. This contrasts with the situation involving Enron,
where the accounting charges that caused Enron shares to plummet were announced during the
blackout period itself.

Global Crossing’s shares lost just $.13 a share during the blackout period, falling from
$.67 a share on December 14 to $.54 a share on January 18, 2002. By contrast, in the 10 weeks
preceding the start of the blackout, Global Crossing shares fell 65%, from $2.09 on October 3 to
$.73 on December 13. Of course, the stock had steadily dropped from a 2001 high of $25.87

during the 11 months preceding the blackout.
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Industry Woes: The Roles of Accounting Methods and Federal Telecommunications Policy

Both Global Crossing and Enron are audited by Andersen. As one of only five global
accounting firms, Andersen necessarily audits a significant percentage of the companies whose
operations are global. Like Enron, Global Crossing also made selected use of Andersen’s well-
regarded consulting practice. This is not at all unusual.

We do not believe that issues relating to accounting methods or procedures for sales of
capacity in the form of Indefeasible Rights of Use, or IRUs, or the application of accounting
principles to specific transactions, played a significant role in the current financial troubles
confronting our industry. To begin with, the sale and acquisition of capacity via IRUs is an
essential part of creating efficient networks. Transactions involving IRUs are legitimate and
important to both buyers and sellers of capacity, and have been used for many years in the
industry.

A number of our sales of IRUs were contemporaneous with purchases from our
customers. Contrary to some popular misimpressions, during our Company’s history, these
contemporaneous transactions were not common: there were fewer than two dozen in 2000 and
2001. These transactions were entirely lawful, were reported in a manner in accordance with
applicable accounting principles and were fully disclosed. Neither these transactions nor our
accounting for them have anything to do. with the telecommunication industry’s — or our
Company’s — difficulties. Iilustrating this point, many carriers that do not sell IRUs to any
significant extent are also beset by today’s financial woes. Moreover, most of our Company’s
revenues were derived not from sales of IRUs, let alone contemporaneous transactions, but from
services.

The Committee has asked whether federal telecommunications policies played any

meaningful role as a trigger to the industry’s problems. Naturally, our company, like others, was
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bormn of deregulation and the competitive environment for telecommunications networks and
services, both in this country and elsewhere. We applaud our Nation’s trade negotiators, who
have helped to open up so many foreign markets, where we can now land cables and provide
services directly. These opportunities were attractive to us.

The federal government can play an ongoing role, however, in stimulating broadband
infrastructure investment and creating an environment to encourage consumer demand for these
services. Heightened consumer demand for bandwidth intensive services, coupled with
infrastructure development at the local level, will create a more robust telecommunications
market. Global Crossing and our carrier customers will compete vigorously to provide capacity
and services to satisfy this demand.

Once broadband services are rolled out in meaningful numbers to every home in
America, consumers will want to send and receive more data across our national
telecommunications networks, to watch movies, download music and exchange information on
an unprecedented scale. Congress, the FCC and the Administration are taking steps to encourage
broadband deployment. We very much welcome those measures and hope that they can be
accelerated. Conversely, to the extent that the government or others are taking actions that have
the effect of impeding the delivery of new networks and services to the home, or are not moving
rapidly enough on this front, there is a very significant risk that the installed capacity of Global
Crossing and others may continue to not be used to its fullest potential.

IRUs and Contemporaneous Sales of Capacity

There has been considerable interest in the telecom industry’s treatment of IRUs. In
short, an IRU is a mechanism that allows a carrier to expand the scope of its network by
purchasing a large block of capacity on another carrier’s network, thereby creating enormous

cost efficiencies for the industry and, by extension, for customers and end users around the
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world. The ability to buy — as well as build — capacity is critically important to Global Crossing
and other carriers. For some carriers in some markets, buying capacity may be the most efficient
way of building out or extending a network.

What is an IRU?

The terminology on this subject requires some explanation. IRUs have been used for
many decades to sell capacity on carrier networks. An IRU itself is merely a right that a carrier
conveys, typically by means of a long-term lease, to a fixed amount of communications capacity
for a defined period of time. The capacity may be in the form of an identified physical asset —
such as a specific strand of fiber optic cable or a specified wavelength on a strand — or capacity
on one or more parts of a carrier’s network. For example, one carrier might purchase an IRU
giving it the right to use a wavelength for a certain number of years, or might purchase the right
to use 2 fibers on one cable in Global Crossing’s global network for 20 years.

Carriers purchase IRUs to fill gaps in their own networks, to ensure that sufficient
capacity is available on crowded routes to meet peak demand and projected future demand, and
to provide diverse or redundant transmission paths to enhance the efficiency of their networks
and to ensure continued services in the event of an outage. These long-term IRUs also enable
carriers to obtain capacity, to plan and equip their networks for periods of time, while avoiding
the capital expense required to build all or part of their networks. The sale of IRUs to carriers
has always been and continues to be an important part of Global Crossing’s business model as
well as that of other major telecom carriers. In recent years, however, the Company has greatly
increased its revenues from the sale of telecommunication services to carriers and business
enterprises.

Accounting for IRUs

When a carrier, such as Global Crossing, sells an IRU via a lease, it generally is paid up
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front, in a single cash payment. As with most leasing activity, however, the proper accounting
for transactions involving IRUs is not a simple matter. Leases of IRUs generally fall into one of
two categories: sales-type leases and operating leases. To simplify greatly, in a sales-type lease,
the ownership of the fiber optic capacity (e.g., a defined unit of capacity or a fiber optic strand or
a wavelength on a fiber optic strand) that is leased ultimately may change hands and belong to
the purchaser. If the terms and conditions of the lease are not consistent with those required by
the accounting standards for a sales-type lease, then the lease will be treated as an operating
lease. Where the lease is an “operating lease,” ownership of the capacity stays with the seller.
The GAAP principles applicable to accounting for these two types of leases differ. Again
simplifying greatly, although both leases typically involve a single up-front cash payment, only
the revenue received on a sales-type lease may be recognized entirely in the year in which it is
received. The revenue from an operating lease must be recognized over the life of the lease (e.g.,
on a 20-year operating lease, only 1/20th of the total revenue may be recognized in that first
year, even though all of the cash was received in year one, and the remaining 19/20ths is
deferred and is only recognized in 1/20th increments per year over the life of the lease).
Generally speaking, in response to changes in the applicable accounting rules as well as
in our business model, after about mid-1999, Global Crossing was required to account for the
majority of its [RU leases in which it sold capacity to other carriers as operating leases.
Accordingly, Global Crossing recognized as GAAP revenue only the first increment of lease
revenue in the year in which payment was received. It deferred the remainder of lease revenue —
the far greater percentage of what it received from the purchase — over the succeeding years of
the lease. We understand that not all telecom carriers may have treated the leases that they sold
as operating leases. As noted earlier, based on their industry reports, the analysts who frequently

wrote about Global Crossing and other carriers seemed to fully understand the manner in which
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the Company accounted for its lease revenue.

Disclosure Terminology

As indicated, these same financial analysts, along with various banks and other lenders,
realized that Global Crossing generally did not record the up-front cash payments from sales of
IRUs as GAAP revenue in the period in which they were received (and disclosed such revenue
when it was recognized). As a result, Global Crossing also disclosed in its press releases and
filings the cash portion of lease revenue that was deferred and, therefore, not recognized as
current-year GAAP revenue in the Company’s financial statements. The reason for this was to
give the financial community a better sense of the cash flows, including cash spent on capital
expenditures, that Global Crossing was actually experiencing in a given period, as these amounts
were highly relevant to the Company’s ability to service its debt load and build out its network,
among other things.

To respond to this need on the part of the financial community, Global Crossing
employed the term “Cash Revenue.” Cash Revenue includes all of Global Crossing’s GAAP
revenue (e.g., the revenue Global Crossing receives each period from the sale of
telecommunications services) plus the cash portion of the change in its GAAP deferred revenue
(e.g., the totality of the IRU cash payments received by the Company during the period) for a
particular reporting period (as well as other items that are not important in this context). The
precise meaning of the term Cash Revenue, how it was derived and the fact that it was neither a
GAAP term nor GAAP revenue, were fully disclosed in every press release and periodic filing
where the term was used. A related concept, which again was not a GAAP reporting term,
“Adjusted EBITDA,” was also used; the definition, components and non-GAAP nature of this
term were also fully disclosed. Adjusted EBITDA is a concept that Global Crossing’s lenders

use in their loan covenants with the Company. - Our releases and filings reconciled Cash Revenue
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and Adjusted EBITDA with GAAP numbers.

In short, although there has been some confusion as a result of inaccurate reporting by the
media, Global Crossing accounted for the revenue it received from IRU leases in accordance
with GAAP. Although the cash payments for such leases were typically received in a single up-
front payment, the Company recorded as GAAP revenue only a fraction of such payments when
received, deferring the far larger remainder over the life of the lease. The Company did advise
the public and, in particular, the financial community that needed to know such information, as
to the total amount of cash it received from such leases through the use of the term Cash
Revenue, which was always reported concurrently with the much smaller GAAP revenue
number.

Contemporaneous Sales of Capacity

No one disputes that the sale of IRUs is a legitimate and appropriate business for
telecommunications companies. However, questions have been raised with respect to business
motives when two companies sell each other IRUs at approximately the same time. The
applicable and generally accepted accounting model permits the seller of an IRU to record the
revenue it receives as current revenue (an income statement item) or deferred revenue (a balance
sheet item). The cost of purchasing an IRU is properly treated as a capital expense and is
disclosed in the purchaser’s statements of cash flows. There is now a debate as to whether the
disclosures concerning these transactions may in some fashion have misled the market.

To promote transparency, Global Crossing disclosed these transactions in the Company’s
press releases and periodic filings in a manner that is accurate, complete and clear, and which
discusses their business purpose. Thus, for instance, in the press release for the second quarter of
2001, dated August 1, 2001, Global Crossing stated that:

Cash Revenue from the sale of capacity in the form of IRU’s was $567 million for the
quarter, an increase of 38% from the second quarter of 2000 and flat sequentially.
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Included in this amount, and in Recurring Adjusted EBITDA, was $345 million received
Jfrom significant carrier customers who signed contracts during the quarter to purchase
$381 million of capacity on the Global Crossing Network, and to whom Global Crossing
made substantial cash commitments during the quarter (see “Network and Capital Plan”
below).

* * * *
Network and Capital Plan
* * * *

During the quarter, Global Crossing entered into several agreements with various carrier
customers for the purchase or lease of capacity and co-location space. The transactions
were implemented in order to acquire cost-effective local network expansions; to provide
for cost-effective alternatives to new construction in certain markets in which the
Company anticipates shortages of capacity; and to provide additional levels of physical
diversity in the network as the Company implements its global mesh architecture. The
new cash commitments totaled approximately 3358 mililion.

(emphasis added).

As noted, Global Crossing entered into a relatively small number of transactions —
compared to all of its capacity sales to carriers — in which it sold IRUs or other capacity or
services to a company from which it purchased capacity or services at approximately the same
time. Given the recent allegations, the Company’s Board is currently examining these
transactions with independent counsel and auditors, including their business justification as well

as the manner in which revenue and expenses were recorded and disclosed.

Global Crossing and the Future

Global Crossing was created by visionaries who saw a need in the marketplace for a high
capacity global network. The founders of the Company successfully raised substantial amounts
of capital, which was essential both because of the huge companies (such as AT&T) against
which Global Crossing would have to compete and the staggering costs associated with virtually
encircling the planet with fiber optic cable. Based on the power of this business idea, the capital

was raised quickly, and construction was completed in record time.
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Global Crossing is very much a real company, with real tangible assets and a real vision.
The Company’s assets are its customers, its employees and its network, which is the most
advanced, most secure fiber optic network in the world, and which reaches the top 200 cities in
27 countries. The size and security of the network has attracted some of the world’s most
important companies, financial institutions and governments as customers, and the network is
utilized as a backbone network by other major telecommunications carriers throughout the
world.

The Company has continued to win business this year, even after its Chapter 11 filing.
That Global Crossing, even in this economic climate, has investors ready to sign on and infuse
cash validates the vision of Global Crossing’s founders. Unlike other companies without
substantial hard assets or the ability to deliver much-needed services, Global Crossing has
intellectual, creative and physical capital — despite the fact that its financial capital is restrained
until the economy improves and demand increases once again.

Pending Legislative Proposals

Finally, we are aware that the Committee has before it various legislative proposals
regarding auditing accountability, including H.R. 3763, “The Corporate and Auditing
Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency Act of 2002.” In response to the Committee’s
request, though not necessarily grounded in the Global Crossing experience, we have three
observations and suggestions in connection with these proposals: (1) outside directors need to be
fully informed with respect to the nature and scope of non-auditing sérvices provided by a
company’s auditors; (2) auditors should institute a partner review policy with respect to all
significant accounting judgments; and (3) the SEC needs to act, proactively and decisively, when
an industry is experiencing revolutionary change at a pace that outstrips the ability of industry

and private-sector standard setters to develop appropriate accounting standards in a timely
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fashion.

Outside Director Assessment of Non-Auditing Services

One lesson to be learned from many of the spectacular business failures of the past
several years is that outside directors of publicly traded companies must be equipped with
sufficient information to enable them to assess whether the company’s independent auditor is
truly independent and, therefore, capable of requiring that corrective action be taken when
needed with respect to a company’s internal controls or accounting practices. Clearly, the
auditor will not be truly independent in this sense unless it is fully prepared, if necessary, to
refuse to certify a company’s financial statements under GAAP. To be in a position to assess
auditor independence, the outside directors must have an intimate familiarity with the nature and
scope of the non-auditing services provided by the auditor. The outside directors must be
presented with information concerning the non-auditing services that the auditor proposes to
render before they are rendered and these directors must then make a disinterested determination
as to whether the cost, nature or scope of such services will compromise the independence of the
auditors. This kind of evaluative involvement by the directors should prove more useful, and
would certainly be more flexible and adaptable in rapidly changing industries, than a proscriptive
approach, in which identified practices are simply prohibited.

Second Partner Review of Accounting Judgments

Another lesson from the recent past is that it can be difficult for the principal partner on
an audit engagement to consistently exercise independent, unbiased judgment in difficult or
novel areas with respect to that partner’s significant audit clients. The reasons for this run the
gamut from not wishing to endanger a relationship that produces pecuniary benefit, to being too
close to the matters in question to be able to think critically, to not being able to deal at arm’s

length with company accounting professionals with whom the audit partner has developed a
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close working relationship over a substantial period of time. One potential solution for this
problem is to require the involvement of at least one additional partner from a geographically
distant office of the audit firm, who will receive no pecuniary benefit and who has no
professional or other relationship with the finance or accounting personnel at the company in
question. The province of this review partner would be to review, both critically and before any
certification is provided, and perhaps anonymously (at least vis-a-vis the engagement partner),
each significant accounting judgment made in connection with the audit of the company’s
financial statements. The concurrence of this review partner would be required in connection
with the judgments made as to each matter reviewed. This internal check would thus insert the
judgment of a comparatively disinterested auditor into the audit process, without unduly
lengthening the time required to complete the andit process.

The SEC Must Speak

The last decade has witnessed the emergence and growth of many new industries that
present industry-specific accounting and disclosure issues. At the same time, other industries
which have existed for decades have, like the telecommunications industry, experienced
precipitous transformational changes. Our industry includes both new and old members, and its
transformation, like that of other technology-driven industries, has been and continues to be
dramatic. When the emergence or transformation of new and existing industries occurs quickly
and is revolutionary, there is often the risk that the private sector standard setters will face
uncertainty as they attempt to adapt existing accounting standards and principles to new
practices, involving new products or services. As a result, the accounting profession may not be
able to reach a considered consensus on which principles govern, or even which model applies,
as quickly as companies require in order to report their earnings.

In these circumstances, appropriate regulatory bodies must play an early role in helping
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the industry to define and, if necessary, develop, the appropriate accounting standards. The
alternative is for a patchwork of disparate accounting treatments, with varying degrees of
transparency, to develop on a company-by-company basis, due in part to the presence of
different auditing firms in that industry. Although there are accounting standards in place that
can accommodate slower, more evolutionary changes within industries, there is no mechanism
for requiring the federal agency charged with enforcement of laws relating to the adequacy of
disclosure - the SEC — to take prompt, decisive and industry-wide action when circumstances,
such as those in the telecommunications industry, so warrant.

We believe that a collective effort and shared commitment — among all those who have
participated in a system of expectations, substantial growth and, regrettably, tremendous
disappointment and loss — is essential. We call for cooperation from industry analysts,
investment banks, financial analysts, accounting firms, elected officials and the media.

In closing, we wish to thank the Subcommittee for this opportunity to share our views

and for your efforts to lay the benchmark for reforms.
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Responses to Questions for Global Crossing
Submitted by Congresswoman Sue W. Kelly
Hearing on Effects of the Global Crossing Bankruptcy
On Investors, Markets, and Employees

If your network should fail, where would your customers go for continued service?

In the unlikely event that Global Crossing were to cease some or all of its operations as a
result of the bankruptcy proceeding, the Company would endeavor to give as much notice
as possible to our customers, we would comply with all regulatory requirements
regarding termination of service, and we would work closely with our customers fo effect
an orderly transition of services.

With respect to a technical failure, Global Crossing’s network has been designed with
redundancy and diversity in the transport layer as well as in the switched voice, data,
and IP layers. Should a failure happen in a network element or because of a fiber cut,
customers who have purchased protected service will be automatically restored within
milliseconds. Customers who have elected to purchase services that are unprotected
would be restored in accordance with their service level agreements with Global
Crossing. The Company has committed to make its best efforts to attempt to restore
unprotecled customer circuits by utilizing any unused capacity available on the network
to reroute the circuit for restoration purposes. Customers who purchase unprotected
bandwidth on the Company’s network do so with the understanding that a single failure
in a network element or a fiber cut will jeopardize the service. Customers are advised
that a contingency plan to reroute their service or to provide a secondary transmission
path for restoration, redundancy, or physical route diversity is their responsibility.

In the event of a catastrophic failure in the network, such as a flood, fire or some other
event that destroys a portion of the network and disrupts service for an extended period
of time, the Company’s engineering and operations personnel are committed to working
with the customer to restore service using an alternative carrier to provide temporary
service while making necessary repairs to the network. The Company will then work
with the customer to transition the service back to the Global Crossing network when it is
once again operational.

What are the results, if any, of your independent review of your practice of selling
capacity on your network to a customer and then turning around and buying a
similar amount of capacity on that customer’s network?

From its very inception, Global Crossing purchased as well as sold network capacity as
it built its unprecedented global fiber optic network. Purchases of capacity had various
objectives, including quickly and economically extending the nerwork into certain
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additional markets and supplementing revenues, adding redundancy to the network in
order to make it more reliable and more efficient, or adding capacity on existing routes
to relieve forecast shortages. Most of these transactions were “one-way” in that there
were no concurrent purchases and sales between Global Crossing and its customers. In
some cases, purchases and sales with the same customer occurred in close proximity.
When the volume of these concurrent transactions became significant, in early 2001,
Global Crossing opted to disclose the existence and the size of the transactions. It is
important to understand that usually there were very significant differences — in types,
amounts, location and portability — between what Global Crossing sold and what it
purchased. Global Crossing had a documented business purpose for whdt it purchased
and charged what it estimated to be market prices for what it sold. Furthermore, these
sales and purchases were separately documented and, usually, the subject of separate
negotiations. Given the differences between what was purchased and what was sold, and
the business purposes underlying the transactions, Global Crossing did not simply sell
capacity and then “turn around” and buy a similar amount of capacity on its customer’s
network.

In accounting for these transactions, Global Crossing followed the advice of its
independent auditor in applying the authoritative accounting literature applicable to the
sales of telecommunications capacity gemerally and to concurrent transactions in
particular. Presently, the Company is reviewing these transactions with outside counsel.
In addition, a special independent committee of the Company’s Board of Directors
retained outside counsel to conduct a review of the Company’s accounting for these
transactions. Due b resignations from the Board and that committee, and the recent
appointment of three new directors to that committee, that review is not yet concluded.
Pending the outcome of these reviews, we are ready and willing to undertake any interim
action recommended as a consequence of these investigations and approved by our
Board of Directors.

Did any members of the Global Crossing leadership team ever personally meet with
employees in an attempt to encourage them to buy shares of Global Crossing?

In looking back over the period from January 2001 to the present, neither the leadership
team nor Board members Messrs. Winnick and Cook recall ever meeting with employees
in an attempt to encourage them to buy shares of Global Crossing. A review of available
transcripts and videotapes from employee meetings during this period confirms this.
Global Crossing management has held and continues to hold frequent meetings and
conference calls with employees. The goal of these meetings and calls is to motivate
employees in their jobs and keep the lines of communication open throughout the
organization. The goal is not and has never been to encourage employee share
purchases. For example, during Mr. Legere’s first employee conference call as CEO of
Global Crossing in October 2001, he stated that he personally intended to purchase
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shares in the Company. As a newcomer with no equity stake in Global Crossing, his
statement was intended to show his personal belief in and support for the Company.

From December 14™ of 2001 until January 18" of 2002, more than 8,000 Global
Crossing employees were not permitted to sell shares from their retirement plans.
On January 28™ Global Crossing declared bankruptey. While a 401 K lockdown is
legal, how do you explain the timing of this particular lockdown?

The “lockdown” or “blackout” period between Decemberl4, 2001 and January 18, 2002
was related to a long-planned consolidation of 401(k) plans at Global Crossing under a
new plan administrator (Fidelity Investments), and was wholly unrelated to the financial
challenges that were then facing the company.

1t is normal industry practice for plan administrators to restrict activity by 401(k) plan
participants during periods of major changes, such as transitioning to a new
administrator. That is because massive data transfers must take place and complex
computer software must be customized, implemented and tested before the service
provider can be certain that the system will function smoothly.

The timing of the blackout period for Global Crossing’s 401(k) plan was designed
around the end of the calendar year because that was the end of the accounting year for
the plans. Changing administrators at year-end allows the service provider to “freeze”
data to facilitate its transfer. As the new service provider, Fidelity determined when to
start and end the blackout period, which was driven by its need to ensure that enough
time preceded and followed the close of the year to allow a smooth transition.

Participants in Global Crossing’s 401 (k) plans were given substantial advance notice of
the blackout period. An initial announcement of the change and anticipated blackout
period was sent by Fidelity on October 2, 2001 to all participants by mail, and a follow-
up announcement was e-mailed to North American employees (excluding Canada) on
October 21, 2001. A Transition Brochure was then mailed to each plan participant on
December 4, 2001, which listed the key dates regarding the period during which no
transactions in 401(k) accounts would be processed. Finally, on December 11, 2001,
employees were reminded through a “Flash” e-mail notice that the blackout would begin
on December 14, 2001.

1t is important to understand that the Global Crossing situation is fundamentally different
from that which raised concerns at Enron. In the case of Enron, the company announced
the news about its charges and accounting irregularities after the blackout period had
begun, and the stock fell precipitously during the blackout period. In the case of Global
Crossing, the stock price had substantially deteriorated long before the blackout period
had begun — from trading in the low $30s in the fall of 2000, to $2.06 on October 2,
2001, to $0.73 on October 4 after the third quarter results were released (and,
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coincidently, two days afier the first notice to participants of the anticipated year-end
blackout period was mailed). At the time the blackout began, the stock was trading at
30.67 and declined only slightly more to $0.54 by the end of the blackout period, which
ended two weeks before the company’s Chapter 11 filing. The timing of the blackout
period thus was not related to the loss in value suffered by 401 (k) participants as a result
of their Global Crossing holdings.

Global Crossing has had five CEO’s in as many years. Are you concerned by this
high turn over in leadership? Have you formed an opinion as to the reasons for
such a high turnover in such a significant position of responsibility and-authority?

We recognize that management stability can be beneficial to any company and we will
strive to achieve this in the future. However, the past leadership changes at Global
Crossing must be viewed in the context in which they were made. Over a very short time
period, Global Crossing grew rapidly and repeatedly transformed itself. The Company’s
evolution proceeded through many phases, from its birth, through a period of subsea
construction, eventually leading to acquisitions and expansive growth. Ultimately,
Global Crossing became one of the world’s preeminent providers of telecommunications
capacity and services, to both carriers and end users. Over the last year, as the
telecommunications climate changed, the Company has had to accommodate itself to far
more limited resources, has adopted a focused business plan, and has now gone into
Chapter 11. With each of these phases in the Company’s history, the skills needed to
lead Global Crossing also changed. Although some companies might see these sorts of
transformations over a period of forty years, at Global Crossing they took place in just
four. It is not altogether surprising, therefore, that Global Crossing’s leadership
changed rapidly as well.

Mr. Legere, how do you plan to deal with the issues of licenses and the regulatory
approval that you will require in order to effect a transfer of ownership or
restructuring deal? How also will you deal with any current government contracts
or others that you may currently be bidding?

The Company has continued to comply with all licensing and other regulatory
requirements of the Federal Communications Commission and other relevant
government agencies while in bankruptcy. The Communications Act and the rules and
regulations of the FCC require prior approval for any assignments of the Company's
licenses or authorizations, or any transfer of control of the Company. In emerging from
bankruptcy, the Company will comply with these requirements and, accordingly, the FCC
and other relevant government agencies will be able to review and approve the
qualifications of any proposed assignee or transferee.

With respect to any current government contracts, Global Crossing will continue to
honor and support all of those obligations. With respect to cwrrent and future
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government contracts, the Company has had discussions with representatives of the
United States Government, including the Department of Defense and the Department of
Justice (FBI), regarding any national security or law enforcement concerns that might be
raised about a transfer of control of Global Crossing. The Company will continue to
work with the Government regarding these matters as Global Crossing emerges from
bankruptcy.

Mr. Legere, please tell us your reasons for stepping down as head of your Asian unit
in January and also why you felt the need to also resign from its board in February?

Because the Asia Global Crossing Board decided it needed a full time CEQ and I
believed it was necessary for me at this critical time to concentrate my efforts on Global
Crossing, the Asia Global Crossing Board decided that I should be removed as CEO of
Asia Global Crossing. In ovder to further focus on Global Crossing, I resigned from the
Asia Global Crossing Board. The time lag between my leaving AGC as CEO and then
resigning from the Board represented nothing more than the time needed to take care of
the mechanics.

Global Crossing required employees to stay for five years before selling stock that
they held in their 401(k) pension plan. When the stock plunged, however, younger
workers saw their pensions go down with their company. Why shouldn’t Congress
require publicly traded companies to allow the average employee to sell their shares
more easily?

As you correctly observed, it is legal, as well as commonplace, for sponsors of 401 (k)
plans to restrain participants from trading company stock contributed by the employer to
the accounts of plan participants. In Global Crossing’s case, it required participants to
hold on to the stock contributed by the company to their 401(k) account for a period of
five years following the date of contribution. That type of “lockup” requirement was not
unusual in terms of length; in fact, it was a feature of Rochester Telephone’s 401 (k) plan
at the time that enterprise was merged with Global Crossing.

It is important to note that the lockup provision applies only to stock that was contributed
by Global Crossing as a matching contribution (Global Crossing matched employees
contributions up to 6% of their compensation). Thus, to the extent that the employee
decided to use his or her own contributions to purchase Global Crossing stock, the
employee was free to sell his or her holdings at any time.

Whether Congress should or should not further regulate or eliminate lockup provisions in
401(k) plans is a matter of legislative policy. In making a judgment whether to legislate
restrictions on such provisions, Congress should weigh the advantages that favor
allowing some period of lockup. From an employer’s standpoint, it is advaniageous to be
able to issue stock to employees while restricting trading to some degree in order to
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promote price stability and prevent dilution in the market. Moreover, employers
generally find it desirable to encourage employees to invest in company stock, both to
provide an incentive to be productive and to maintain a block of stock in the hands of
those most interested in supporting management objectives.

Although Global Crossing did determine to eliminate entirely its lockup provisions for
401(k) participants as part of the consolidation of its 401(k) plans effective January 1,
2002, we nevertheless recognize that such provisions can benefit employees by
maximizing employer contributions. Lockup provisions can serve to motivate employers
to be more generous in matching participant contributions than they might otherwise be.
If the company contributions were required to be made in stock that could immediately be
traded in the market, employers might offer a lower match or none at all, thereby
depriving employees of substantial assets over the life of their career. That is why we
believe the Department of Labor, in its recent legislative initiatives, has not
recommended complete elimination of such lockup provisions, but has instead suggested
a maximum holding period of three to five years.

One further observation: depending on how they are designed, lockup provisions may
have a greater impact on move senior employees, rather than younger employees. The
more time an employee has with a company, the more likely the employee is to have a
greater amount invested in contributions matched by company stock. Thus, lifting the
lockup gradually or completely, may be an appropriate way to minimize risk to
participants and maximize generous matching contributions by employers.

Global Crossing and Asia Global Crossing at one time shared both hoard members
and key senior executives. Such links have caused many investors to be concerned
as to whether and how they could be fairly represented. Do you agree or disagree
with the appropriateness of this arrangement and the controversy surrounding it?

Prior to its initial public offering, the predecessor companies to Asia Global Crossing
Ltd. had been owned as a joint venture between Global Crossing Ltd., Microsoft
Corporation, and Softbank Corporation. After the initial public offering of Asia Global
Crossing shares, Global Crossing had a 56.9 percent ownership interest in Asia Global
Crossing and Microsoft Corporation and Softbank Corporation each had a 15.4 percent
ownership interest in Asia Global Crossing. The remaining 11.8 percent of Asia Global
Crossing was owned by the public and other strategic investors. The relationships
between Asia Global Crossing, Global Crossing, Microsoft Corporation, and Softbank
Corporation were disclosed to investors in connection with the initial public offering on
October 12, 2000. Asia Global Crossing’s registration statement included extensive
discussions concerning the principal shareholders of the Company, including their voting
rights arrangements, and the relationship between Global Crossing and Asia Global
Crossing. Similar disclosures subsequently were made in other public filings of Asia
Global Crossing, including its annual report for 2000 on SEC Form 10-K. In public
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filings, the two companies also disclosed that the membership of their Boards of
Directors overlapped significantly.

Ownership and director arvangements such as those described between Global Crossing
and Asia Global Crossing in their public filings often exist in the case of affiliated
companies. It is common and perfectly appropriate to have overlapping directorates and
to share employees in order to realize economies that can result from the affiliation of
distinct entities. In fact, we understand that government authorities have looked at such
arrangements in other contexts and found them to be entirely acceptable. We believe the
way in which Global Crossing and Asia Global Crossing have dealt with those
arrangements has been proper.

More recently, as issues have arisen regarding the relationship between the shareholders
and creditors of Global Crossing, on the one hand, and Asia Global Crossing, on the
other, steps have been taken to reduce the extent of the overlaps on the boards and in
management.

Mr. Legere, please explain your business relationship with the Blackstone Group?
Please also explain to the Committee, how, as recently reported, that you failed to
disclose what appears to be a particularly complex communications capacity swap
with a Blackstone affiliate in the months before your declared bankruptcy?

In November 2001, Global Crossing retained The Blackstone Group L.P. to advise it in

connection with its restructuring effort. At that time, the Global Crossing executives and
the Blackstone Group executives who were working on the vestructuring were unaware of
the business relationship that was the subject of a recent New York Times arficle. A

conflicts check by the companies had not uncovered that relationship. It was through the
New York Times article that the executives became aware that there was a pre-existing
relationship between Global Crossing and Blackstone.

More particularly, the transactions reported in the New York Times article involved
contracts with Centennial Communications Corp. The Centennial contracts were
specifically disclosed in the Company’s first quarter earnings release for 2001, long
before Global Crossing had any business relationship with Blackstone. In these
transactions, Centennial contracted with Global Crossing to purchase a substantial
amount of capacity as the anchor tenant on a subsea system to be built in the Caribbean
by Global Crossing. Global Crossing also agreed to purchase various
telecommunications services and products from Centennial. In June 2001, Global
Crossing and Centennial modified the value of the commitments made under the original
March 2001 agreements. In December 2001, the parties restructured their agreements to
reduce the amount of commitments of both parties.
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Investment funds managed by Blackstone hold an approximate 29.7% equity interest in
Centennial. In addition, two Blackstone representatives were members of the nine-
member Board of Directors of Centennial. Jack Scanlon, who was a member of the
Board of Directors of Centennial, is a member of the Board of Directors and Vice
Chairman of Asia Global Crossing Ltd., in which, as noted above, Global Crossing has a
significant equity stake.

Global Crossing and Blackstone have since filed statements with the Bankruptcy Court
fully disclosing the relationship between the companies and their respective affiliates.
Blackstone has stated to the Bankruptcy Court that none of its professionals handling its
relationship with Global Crossing have had or will in the future have conversations with
the Company’s management concerning Centennial; have been or will in the future be
involved in any aspects of Global Crossing's agreements with Centennial;, or are
responsible for managing the Centennial investment. We continue to believe that
Blackstone does not have any business relationship with Global Crossing that would
preclude it from acting as an advisor to Global Crossing or from fully carrying out its
professional obligations to Global Crossing.

Please also explain how senior Global Grossing executives continued to receive
severance benefits while low ranking employees lost theirs completely.

On the date that the Company commenced its bankruptcy proceedings, all severance
benefits ceased for all employees, including executives, who left the Company prior to
that date. As required by bankruptcy law, those with unpaid severance benefits hold
claims as unsecured creditors of the Company.

It has been alleged that the $750 million offer made for your assets would only allow
for creditors receiving four cents on every dollar. What can your shareholders and
employees expect to derive from such an agreement?

The $750 million bid by Hutchison Whampoa Ltd. and Singapore Technologies
Telemedia Pte. Ltd. for Global Crossing assets is but one of the many bids that Global
Crossing anticipates will be made for its assets; that bid specifies that no value will be
preserved for the current shareholders. At the time the Company filed for bankruptcy, we
anticipated that other potential bidders would emerge and that the bankruptcy process
would ensure that every bid would be fully and fairly evaluated with a view to
maximizing the value of the Company. As anticipated, approximately 60 parties have
expressed interest in some or all of the Company’s assets. We understand that the
Bankruptcy Court currently has imposed a June 20 deadline for the submission of bids by
interested parties. The Bankruptcy Court is scheduled to consider those bids and the
potential disposition of Global Crossing assets in July.
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The Bankruptcy Court overseeing the bidding process ultimately will decide which, if
any, of the bids is most beneficial to the bankrupt estate. Although the Bankruptcy Court
could reject all of the bids and allow Global Crossing to continue as an independent
operation, if the Court determines that one or more of the bids should be accepted, we
understand that the Bankrupicy Judge will allocate the proceeds from a sale of assets
among its creditors in the manner that is required by the Federal bankruptcy laws.
Unfortunately, given the priority of recovery mandated by the bankruptcy laws, there is
seldom any recovery for the shareholders at the conclusion of bankruptcy proceedings.
Please be assured that, consistent with obligations to our creditors in the bankruptcy
proceeding, we are working to preserve as many jobs as possible at Global Crossing.

It has been alleged that Arthur Andersen signed off on many transactions due at
least in part to pressure brought by Executive Vice President of Finance Joseph
Perrone. Mr. Perrone, interestingly served originally as the chief audit officer at
Arthur Andersen on the Global Crossing account. Please comment on this most
serious allegation?

Mr. Perrone resigned from Andersen on April 27, 2000 and joined Global Crossing in
May 2000. While he was at Andersen, he had been in charge of the media and
communications practice in Andersen’s New York office. Prior to the commencement of
his employment by the Company, the following steps were taken:

o Severing of all financial interests between Mr. Perrone and Andersen. Mpr.
Perrone’s capital account, retirement benefits and all other financial obligations
to or from Andersen were settled in cash prior to the commencement of his
employment by the Company.

* A review of previous audit work by an independent partner at Andersen.

o A review to ensure that the Andersen team that would conduct all audit work for
the future was independent of any influence from Mr. Perrone.

Andersen assigned Mark Fagan, a telecommunications audit partner, to be responsible
Jor the first quarter 2000 review of the Company. Since then, Mr. Fagan has been
responsible for all of the quarterly and annual audits of the Company. Neither Mr.
Fagan, the practice director nor the concurring partner of Andersen reported to Mr.
Pervone in any capacity during his tenure at Andersen with respect to significant
accounting policies relating to the Company and their accounting for specific
transactions. Finally, Mr. Perrone’s independence was discussed by Andersen with the
Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee and, later, with the entire Audit
Committee.
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Andersen undertook separate and independent review of the accounting for the
Company’s concurrent sales and purchases of capacity to and from carrier-customers as
part of its quarterly review of the Company’s books. In the course of these reviews,

Global Crossing and Mr. Perrone accorded Mr. Fagan and his colleagues full access to

these materials and any other materials they required to complete the audit. Mr. Fagan

and the Andersen team also had unrestricted access to the management team at Global

Crossing as well as to the Audit Committee. Each meeting of the Audit Committee

included an executive session that excluded Mr. Perrone and other members of
management (although the executive session included the Vice President of Internal
Audit). These sessions afforded ample opportunity for Andersen to express privately with

the Audit Committee any concerns they had over independence or other issues.

In addition, these transactions were reviewed with the Chairman of the Board’s Audit
Committee. The audits of the Company’s books prepared by Andersen also were
reviewed with the Audit Committee. At no time did Mr. Perrone ever apply any pressure
on or seek to influence Andersen regarding the Company’s accounting for any
transactions. Indeed, with respect to establishing accounting policies and with regard to
several of the most significant transactions, Mr. Perrone and his colleagues specifically
solicited the views of Andersen regarding the appropriate accounting.

The February 21 Wall Street Journal reported that Global Crossing moved up its
last pay date by a week so that executives and others still employed counld get paid
before declaring bankruptey on Jan. 28. Was that the real reason? Why did Glebal
move the date?

The Company issued employees’ semi-monthly and bi-weekly paychecks early.
Employees were paid on January 23, 2002 for payments originally scheduled for January
31, 2002 and February 1, 2002. This early salary payment was made after consulting
with counsel and based on our understanding that early salary payments are a common
practice used to manage cash in the bankruptcy process. This early salary payment did
not result in any additional payments to Global Crossing employees or executives, but
merely helped to ensure that there would be no delay in salary payments to Global
Crossing employees, regardless of level, as a result of the bankruptcy filing. Since the
commencement of the bankruptcy proceedings, payrolls are being processed in
accordance with the regular schedules.

There have been reports of severance and buyout checks bouncing, leaving former
employees gasping for some economic security. Can you assure everyone who lost
their job at Global that the checks promised to them will eventually be paid? Are
you willing to forego some of your own benefits to stand behind Global’s promise to
pay those checks?

Bankruptcy law precludes the Company from making payments to employees who were
terminated prior to the commencement of the bankruptcy proceedings. When Global
Crossing filed its bankruptcy petition, our former employees became unsecured creditors
in the bankruptcy. Bankruptcy laws dictate the relative priority of all creditor claims.
These priorities generallyrange from administrative claims like taxes to secured creditor
claims, to unsecured creditor claims, to preferred shareholder claims and to common
shareholder claims. I sincerely wish that the Company could pay all of its former
employees in full, but the bankruptcy laws do not allow the Company to do so.
Moreover, foregoing some or even all of my compensation would in no way amount to a
meaningful payment to those who hold claims against Global Crossing.
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April 15, 2002

The Hon. Sue W. Kelly, Chairwoman
Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations
Committee on Financial Services

United States House of Representatives

1127 Longworth House Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20515

Global Crossing Ltd.
Dear Ms. Chairwoman:

We are counsel to Global Crossing Ltd. (the “Company”) and to John Legere and
Dan Cohrs, who appeared before the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations on
March 21, 2002.

I am writing to clarify a statement in the written submission of Messrs. Legere
and Cohrs to the Subcommittee. In the context of discussing a letter regarding
accounting practices that the Company received from a former employee, the written
submission states at page seven that “the Company did engage outside counsel to review
the matter, and outside counsel found the allegations to be without merit.” That clause
should have said that “the Company did conduct a review of the matter and consulted
with outside counsel, and the Company concluded that the allegations were without
merit.”

Although we have not seen a copy of the transcript of the hearing, to the extent
that any statements were made concerning the Company’s review of the allegations by
the former employee, those statements too should reflect that above clarification.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions about this matter.

Ralph C. Ferrara

By Hand

40054249v1

New York * Washington, D.C. * London ¢ Paris * Frankfurt ¢ Moscow * Hong Kong
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My name is Afshin Mohebbi and I am President and Chief Operating Officer of
Qwest Communications International Inc. I want to thank you for inviting us to appear
today at your hearing on the effects of the Global Crossing bankruptcy.

Permit me to tell you a little about Qwest. Qwest is a local telephone company
with 25 million customers. We provide local telephone service in a 14-state area
throughout the West. We have 60 thousand employees and annual revenues of more than
$19 billion. About eighty percent of our revenues and more than 90 percent of our profits
come from our local phone service. We also provide data and long-distance services to
businesses in 27 cities outside the 14-state local service area. And, we are the nation’s
fourth-largest long-distance company.

Six of the country’s 10 fastest-growing states have Qwest as their local phone
company. Qwest completes 240 million phone calls and carries 600 million e-mails
daily. In addition, we have about a half-million high-speed Internet service customers; a
million wireless customers; a large Yellow Pages business; and a product line that ranges
from the most basic telephone service to the most sophisticated Internet and data
technologies available.

As described below, Qwest has a state of the art worldwide fiber optic network in
the United States, Asia and Latin America and, through its related company KPNQwest,
in Europe. In addition to its fiber optic network, Qwest has sixteen web hosting centers
that safeguard the critical data of banks, corporations, health care providers and
government agencies among others. Qwest does business with 60 percent of the Fortune
1,000 companies.

Qwest developed its 190,000 mile domestic and international fiber optical
network mainly to service multinational business customers. Qwest’s optical network is
among the most advanced in the world. More than 4.2 billion megabits of traffic travel
across the network at any given time.

Qwest’s strategy in building its domestic network was to provide facilities for our
own use as well as constructing facilities for sale. Conduit, fiber and capacity sales have
paid for substantial portions of the cost of building our US network.

As we completed our domestic network, we began to expand overseas. We made
decisions whether to build or buy these international facilities based upon analyses of
time and cost. We purchased facilities to connect our network to Europe, Asia, and Latin
America.

It was in this context that we entered into IRU transactions with Global Crossing
and others. The IRUs Qwest sold to Global Crossing were principally on domestic routes
we built to sell. The IRUs Qwest purchased from Global Crossing enabled us quickly
and cost-efficiently to build out our network internationally to locations that we could not
otherwise serve.
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An IRU is an Indefeasible Right of Use, which is the exclusive right to use a
specified amount of capacity or fiber for a specified period of time, usually 20 years or
more. An “indefeasible right” is one that cannot be revoked or voided. IRUs are for
specific point-to-point assets. IRUs are not services and are generally asset sales. Once
sold, they belong to the customer and cannot be moved without the consent of the
customer. An JRU allows the purchaser to carry voice, data, and video traffic on that
specific fiber or channel.

In some cases, Qwest enters into two transactions that occur at the same time: one
to sell IRUs to companies and a second to acquire optical capacity from such companies.
The agreements for the sale of such optical capacity are separate legal agreements that are
enforceable regardless of whether the other company performs under the separate
purchase contract.

In accounting for the purchase and sales of IRUs, Qwest complies with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Qwest’s auditors review our IRU transactions
in the context of reviewing our financial statement each quarter. When Qwest sells IRUs
the customer receives the exclusive right to a specific asset, and the risks and rewards of
ownership pass to the buyer. Under the relevant accounting rules, Qwest recognizes
revenue when Qwest delivers the asset, the buyer accepts it, and Qwest receives adequate
consideration. Where the purchase and sale transactions occurred at the same time,
Quwest applied the more restrictive rules for revenue recognition on what the accountants
call “nonmonetary transactions.” The revenues attributable to IRU sales that occurred at
the same time as purchase of an IRU in 2000 and 2001 were approximately 2 percent and
3.5 percent of total reported revenues, respectively.

Quwest publicly disclosed the network expansion plans and the nature, size, and
accounting treatment of the IRU transactions undertaken to further that strategic
objective. In various press releases and filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, Qwest made appropriate disclosure of the existing of the IRU transactions
and the way Qwest accounted for them.

In conclusion, as part of our business strategy to build a worldwide fiber optic
network, we bought and sold IRUs. When appropriate and in compliance with GAAP,
we recognized revenue — as well as cost — from these transactions when we entered into
them. And although IRUs were not a material component of our revenues in the last two
years, we publicly disclosed them and how we accounted for them.

We are proud of the state of the art network we have built and the service it
enables us to provide, and I will be glad to try and answer any questions you may wish to
ask me.



107

1Salil BINOY 40Gid |€IOL

IIPIMPLIOM PRIOIVUOD
s Jofep 40 JAQUINN

2002 HOUVIN - Y1oMioN |eqoi)
JBUO[JEUIN SUCHIEJUNWWRD 1SOMD
Y0130 paseqand i50MD
HOMIT NG 1SIND
Qi uoneiduaBoy
d0d (sn) dnsewsg
d0d 403D ki3
uoneis BupuEY alged -
Pusbar




2002 HOYVIN - Y10MION Sajels pajiun

¥ 13U 5 153MD

}Iomiau paseyaind Jsomp
ROMPIU IING I5OMD
ajig uopessuabay .
dod (sn) dusauog

dodousy Ay -
uopels Gupue alqed -

pusboy

108




2002 HOYVIN - Y1omiaN adoind / sajels pajiun
{RUDHELIAIL| SUOREDIURLILIOD 15IMD

wesau paseyaInd 15000
AOM YNQISIND —

us usiiziauaboy

d0d (5n) onsewoq

dgJaived D

uonns Buipuet 21983

auaboy

“dg euodaisa

109




110

rife the 1 I ht W%ﬁ zl&?;mjzdsngg;m 5200
S

i
Wl

Qwest

April 24, 2002

The Honorable Sue W. Kelly

Committee on Financial Services
Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations
United Stated House of Representatives

2129 Raybum House Office Building
Washington, D.C, 20515

Dear Representative Kelly:

I write as requested to respand to the questions posed by you, sent by letter dated April 8,
2002 from Hugh Nathaniel Halpern to me. Under separate cover, as Mr, Halpern instructed, my
Washington office has today delivered the corrections to the pottions of the transeript of the
proceedings sent to me.

Based on informnatien made available to me, the responses to your questions are as
follows:

Q: Are you in agreement with statements from various analysts that the value of your compatsy
would not be as low as it currently stands, had it not been for the bankruptey of Global
Crossing?

A: No. We have experienced difficulties in achieving results that would lead to 2 higher
valuation for a number of reasons. As we have stated publicly, most recently in our
investor call of April 18, 2002, our results have been adversely impacted by pressures
on the entire telecommunications sector as well as a continuing economic downtorn in
our local service region. The bankruptcy of Global Crossing may have been a symp-
tom of the ziling industry, but it was only one.

Indeed, the entire industry, as the Committee knows, is under pressure not only because
of accounting concerns, but, more fundamentally, because of broader economic condi-
tions, over eapacity in portions of the indusiry, and a number of bankruptcies.

Q: What did your CEO, Mr. Nacchio mean when he said that “Qwest was a victim of Enronitis
that has operied a new sra of corperate McCarthyism?”

A: That statement, a quotation of an article that originally appeared in the March 11, 2002
edition of TheStreet.com, is a purported paraphrase of Mr. Nacchio. It both mistates
what he said, and leaves out the context in whick he said it,
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At an industry conference in March, Mr. Nacchio explained that much of the recent
drop in value in the telecommunications sector has been a function of structural eco-
nomic changes, that such changes are not unexpected, and that, in fime, the industry
will recover. It was in this coptext that he stated the following: “[The enrrent economic
situation] is not unexpeeted in terms of the way telecom generally leads and lags out of 2
recession or a downturn. ¥ think clearly we’ve got this Enronitis that breeds greater
susplicion of sector [si¢] in individual companies. A litile bit of corporate MeCarthyism.
But we’ll all work through that 2nd I think the industry is poised to move with the
economy.”

Mr. Nacchio does pot believe — nor did he srate — that governmental inguiry info
accounting practices is an improper use of government ruthority. However, in this
posit-Enron era, some appeay {o immediately con¢lude that any drop in value in the tele-
communications sector must be atiributed to (or is a reflection of) something improper.
Such conclusions are enrensonable and unfair.

: Tn M. Legere’s testimony, he said that the IRUs did not play a significant role in Global

Crossing’s problems. In your opinion, have the revelations about the cash flow presentations
of a number of telecom companies led to a loss of confidence by investors?

1 do nat kaow speeifically whar did or did not contribate to Global Crossing’s prob-
lems. As for the telecom sector generally, I think the atmosphere of anxicty that now
exists regarding accouvnting practices probably has affected investor confidence. How-
ever, the question of investor confidence, I helieve, is also affected by other aspects
concerning the telecommunications sector, including the large number of bankrupteies.
Most importantly, bowever, as I noted before, investors are deubflessly (and understan-
dably) responding to the softness in the gcongmy that directly affects this sector.

: Does Qwest believe that the change in treatinent of revenue earned from IRUs mandated by

aa

the FASE in 1999 was fairly and carefully considered and took into account the realities of
your business? Did it come at a bad dmge for your business?

I assume that yon are asking about the issnance of Interpretation No. 43 (“FIN 437) of
the Financial Standards Accounting Board (“FASB"). FIN 43 was not specifically
concerned with IRUs; rather, FIN 43 clarified the definition of “all rea! estate sales™ as
that phrase had been used in FASB Statement 66, which governs the “Accounting of
Real Estate Sales.”

In pertinent part, FIN 43 provided that Statement 66 applied to “all sales of real estate,
including real ¢state with property improvements or integral equipment. The terms
property improvements and integral equipment as they are used in [FIN 43] refer[red} w
any physical structure or equipment attached to real estate that cannot be removed and
used separately without incurring a significant cost.” (FIN 43 9 2; emphasis in original)

‘While FIN 43 was pot specifically concerned with IRUs, based on the analysis of Qwest
and its independent outside anditors, from the effective date of FIN 43 we have treated



¥

»

Q

A

112

IRUs of dark fiber and capacity as sales of integral equipment and applied FAS 66 and
98 in assessing whether sales type lease accounting is appropriate for these IRU trans-
actions.

I do not believe that the issuance of FIN 43 came at 2 bad time for Qwest’s business. It
did not necessarily change the treatment of revenue from IRU transactions; rather, it
oely required that the more stringent requirements of FAS 66 and 98 be applied to
determine if sales-fype lease reatment is appropriate, Becanse these more stringent
requirements were generally met in YRU transactions after the issuance of FIN 43, the
change had little or no effect on our business.

; Has any aspect of the Enron matter led to changes in your accournting policies or relationship

with your corporate auditor?

Given the peneral concerns that have been expressed publicly related to the recent
indictment of Arthur Andersen and the discussions about the future of that company,
Qwest’s Board of Directors has been reviewing the engagement of Arthur Andersen.
Our Board makes the fins] determination regarding our independent auditor. They
have made o changes at this time. Qwest hag determined that it will nof use Arthur
Andersen to perform any new copsulting work for it.

On April 15, KPMG LLP announced that it has entered into 2 non-binding letter of
intent te acquire a number of Arthur Andersen offices, including the Denver practice,
whick has served as Qwest’s auditor since 1999, Qwest will be looking into this devel-
apment and evaluating it i terms of its own engagement.

- In December, the SEC issued cautionary advice about preparing pro forma financial state-

ments, How has that guidance changed how you go about preparing and presenting pro
forma statements?

: This guidance did not change Qwest's preparation and presentation of its earnings

releases. Qwest's current earnings release format, which was adopted months before
the Copnmissien's December advice, afready met the standards set forth by the Com-
mission in its December 4, 2001 Release regarding pro forma earnings. In particulsr,
even prior to the December release by the Commission, Qwest's earning releases ex-
plained how Qwest's pro forma results differed from its results calculated in accor-
danece with GAAP, and described the amount of these differences,

Shouldn’t the SEC take steps to require a more consistent presentation of cash flow estimates
on pro forma suaternents within the telecom industry?

Clear and reasonable gridance from the SEC concerning consistent presentation of pro
forma results certainly would be acceptable.
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Are there particular proposals that have been discussed m Congress io resolve accounting
and disclosure issues that most copcem you?

Qwest recognizes the importance of the oversight of corporate governance 3s outlined
by legislation introduced by the Chairman of the House Financial Services Commitiee,
Mr. Oxley, and cosponsored by Oversight and Investigations Suhcommittee Chair-
woman Kelly and a number of other members on the Hounse Finzncial Service Com-
mittee.

H.R. 3763 is aimed at better protecting individual investors by improving the accuracy
and reliability of corporate disclosures made to the public. The legislation is also aimed
at strengthening the enforcement ability of the Securides and Exchange Commission,
Qvwest supports both goals.

There have been nurerous bills introduced in 2002 regarding accouniing and anditing
rules and publie disclosure. Qwest continues to study those many other proposals.

Q: Global Crossing and Asia Global Crossing a1 one timne shared both board members and key

executives. Such links have caused many investors 1o be concerned as to whether and how
they could be fairly represented. Do you agree ot disagree with the appropriateness of this
arrangement gnd the controversy surrounding it?

Qwest is not sufficiently familiar with the internal corporate strueture of Global Cros-
sing or its affiliates to opine on the propriety of its actions that may have affected inves-
tors or the controversy surrounding such actions.

. We know that Global Crossing recently employed a black-out period on 401(k) plans, Has

Qwest ever employed such a black-out?

. Restriction periods are routine and implemented whenever plan changes or system

updates are needed, These plan changes are bepeficial to participants and we strive to
implernent them over a weekend or other periods when the markets are closed or expec-
ted to be quiet. Restrietions in which system providers are changed or plans are merg-
ed, as in the second instance outlined below, require more time to Wransfer and reconcile
all participant records.

Recently our plans had two planned restriction periods: Ore when the investment op-
tions were enbanced; and a second when two 401(k) plans were combined.

The first began at 4:00 PM on Friday, July 6, 2001 (Friday) and ended at 9:00 AM the
following Monday. The entire period oceurred during the time the New York Stock
Exchange was closed. Participants were notified of the restriction in advance, during
the week of June 18. This action resulted in a new set of investment choices for parti-
cipanrs,



114

The second resiriction period came in conjunction with our efferts to integrate US
WEST and the pre-merger Qwest. In late 2001, Qwest merged the two separate 401(k)
plans that resulted from the merger of the two companies. As part of the merger of the
two plans, from 4:00 PM December 21, 2001 through mid-day Saturday, January 19,
2002, 18 business days, employees who had beer members of the pre-merger Qwest
plan — inclnding all senior pre-merger Qwest executives — could not re-direct payroll
contributions, initiate fund transfers, take new loaus or take withdrawals. Emplayees
who had been members of the US WEST 401 (k) plan bad similar limitations from 4:00
PM on Friday, Japuary 18 until mid-day Saturday, January 19.

The limited restriction applied equally to all personnel, regardless of rank or position,
and no senior executive sold Qwest stock, of any kind, during that restriction period.
The purpose of the action was to offer one consistent 401(k) plan to all employees and to
reduce cosis associated with maintaining two 401(k) plans. All participants received
notice of the merger as early as June 2001, and, in September 2001, of the dates of the
proposed restricted period. Notice was provided again in November and mid-
December.

: Has Qwest seen the need to institute rutes that would disaliow senior executives from selling

stock during a 401(k) black-out?

: Whatever the actions of other companies, Qwest does not believe that such rules are

necessary for the black-out initiated by Qwest. The restriction period was limited; all
affected employees were treated equally; and there were no nen-plan stock sale vestric-
tions on any employee.

; Has Qwest ever considered instituting or implementing a coordinated set of rules that would

treat all employees equally during such a black-out period?

: All employees were treated equally during the limited restriction period.

: Qwest spokesman, Mr. Michael Tarpey, stated during 2 February 7%, 2002 interview that

between 1998 and 2001, Qwest “bought and sold several hundred million dollars of specific
capacity amounts, which were not undefined amounts with Global Crossing, and paid and
collected cash in each deal, completed both sides of any given awap in the same quarter and
followed GAAP accounting rules when recording the deals.”

a) Do you agree with Mr. Tazpey’s summary of those transactions with Global
Crossing?

: Contemporaneons transactions with Global Crossing did not occor until 2000 and con-

tinuing into 2001. At that time, when Glebal and several other companies had begun to
build out international rontes which Qwest wanted, Qwest sold approximately $ 313
million aver two yvears to Global in contermporaneous transactions in which Qwest
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acquired capacity in East Asia, trans-Pacific routes, and Latin Ainerica at far less cost
than would have been invelved if we had builf our own global network. The total cost of
these purchases from Global in 2000-2001 was approximately $440 million. In 2061
and 2000, rotal recognized revenue on optical capacity asset sales was only 5.1% and
2.8%, respectively, of the Company’s total revenues, and Global Crossing iransactions
represented only 2 fraction of that.

b) How did Qwest account for these lucrative sales?

: As an initial matter, I respectfully disagree with the agsumption that these sales were

“lucrative™, They constituted only a fraction of Qwest’s overall revenue and in terms of
margins were not the highest margin part of Qwest’s business.

As for accounting: Ia contemporancous transactions — in which Qwest sells and buys
optical capacity from the same third party in the same time period — the agreements
for the sale of the capacify ave separate legal agreements that are enforceable regard-
less of performance under the purchase contraet. It is Qwest’s policy that prior to
recognizing revenue on these sales transactions, it obiains acceptance of the delivered
route from the buyer and generally receives all or 4 significant portion (af least 25%) of
the sales proceeds in eash. Qvwest has the ability fo retain the cash received regardless
of the buyer's performance upder the purchase coniract. Therefore, Qwest believes
these are legally enforceable, cash transactions.

Also, Qwest generally applies the more restrietive “nonmonetary” transaction accoun-
ting guidance to these contemporaneous transactions. This guidance is contained in
Acconnting Principles Baard (“APB”) Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary
Transactions™ and EITT Issue 01-02, “Interpretations of APB Opinion No. 29.” Apply-
ing these standards, exchanges of Qwest optical capacity held for sale iu the erdinary
course of business for the counterparty’s optical capacity to be used in Qwest’s oper-
ations are recorded at fair value. Otherwise, the exchanges are recorded at the lowey of
historical cost oy fair value. Qwest recognizes revenne based on fair value for these con-
texnporaneous trausactions principally based on the following factors: (1) whether the
assets exchanged are dissirnilar (assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business
for assets to be used to provide telecommurication services), (2) whetker fair value can
be determined within reasonable limits and (3) whether, [rom an accounting perspec-
tive, the earnings process is complete.

¢) What companies were involved and what was the valve of each swap?

In additipn to contemporaneous IRU transactions with Global Crossing (in 2000 apd
2001) and Asia Global Crossing (in 2001), Qwest entered into contemporaneons IRU
itransactions during 1999-2001 as follows:
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1999 | 360 Networks (aka Worldwide Fiber, Inc.), ACSI (E.Spire), Digital
Teleport, Inc., Electric Lightwave, Inc, Enren Communijcations, ICG
Telecom Group, Inc., Primus Telecommunications, Ine., Verio
Incorporated

2000 | Broadband Office, Cable and Wireless Global Network Lid., Enron
Broadband Services, ICG Equipment, Iac., KPN Qwest Carrier
Services, Metro Fiber Network Services, Ine., Network Phus, Inc.,
Nextlink Cornmunications, Inc., Pathpet Telecommunications,
Singapore Tclecommunications Ltd., Worldwide Fiber Networks, lunc.
{360 Fiber)

2001 | Adelphia Business Solutions, ARP Communications LLC (C3
Communications), Cable and Wireless, China Netcom Corporation,
Epron Broadband Services, Flag Asfa, Metromedia Fiber Network,
Network Plus, Inc., New World Telephone, OnFiber Commanications,
PF.NET Construction Corporation, Singapore Telecommunications
Ltd., BCE Nexxia Inc,, Teleglobe, TyCom Networks, Winstar Wireless,
X0 Michigan

In 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, Qwest recognized revennes from these sales in
aggregate amounts that accounted for 5.1%, 2.8% and (approximately) 4.5% of ifs total
FEVEnues.

Ax

e

d) Why did Qwest not announce the value of these transactions in company press relesses?

Qwest typically issues press releases (1) when it determines that disclosure of a par-
ticular frapsaction or event is required by the securities laws (either because it is re-
quired to be disclosed on Form 8-K or otherwise) and (2) occasionally to aunounce
trapsactions or events that may be of particular strategic importance, including where
the parties to a transaction have agreed o a murual press release, or of interest o inves-
tors or other third parties, irrespective of the doflar value or lmpact associated with
those transactions or cvents. Any releases of Qwest’s optical capacity transactions
wonld have fallen into one of these two categories. The only announcement of a trans-
action with Global Crossing was in 1998, Since this was a release under (2) above, no
value was provided.

&) Why was this not shown in the 2001 10-Q (sic] along with the other IRUs shown in
exhibits 10-15 through 10-17?

Exhibits 10.15 to 10.17 to Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 2000 are Qwest's
original agreements with Frontier, WorldCom and GTE for the sale of dark fiber, dat-
ing, respectively to 1996, 1996 and 1997. These agreements constitated a key source of
funding for the initial build-out of Qwest's network and transferred & significant por-
tion of the network that was to be constructed. Actordingly, these agreements were
disclosed starting in 1997 with Qwest’s registration statement in connectipn with its
jnitial public offering. Unlike the Frontier, WorldCom and GTE transactions, the sales



Q:

117

and purchases of capacity to and from Global Cressing were entered into in the ordin-
ary course of business and did not otherwise qualify as "material contracts”. Qwest
follows the requirements of 1tem 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K in determining whether
confracts are required to be filed as exhibits to its filings. As such, the agreements with
Global Crossing were not included as exhibirs to the interim or apnual reports for the
year ended December 31, 2000.

How does your company define the “legitimate business purpese” behind individual IRU
capacity swaps?

A: Qwest engaged in its optical capacity purchases and sales, whether or not ovcurring in

the same quarter, for legitiraate business purposes in order to efficiently, quickly and at
Jow cost deliver global broadband telecommunications services.

Over the last five years, Qwest has grown from a domestic wholesaler provider of tele-
communications with 200 miles of network facilities in the Western U.S. to a global pro-
vider of broadband communications services with more than 190,000 miles of network
facilities around the world.

The purchase and sale of IRUs has been a core business strategy for Qwest in buflding
our network. We decided early in the process of building that network, that it was less
expensive and significantly faster to buy international and certain domestic routes than
to build them on cur own. Simply stated: we wanted to be able to service our
customers first, with maximum availability, and to compete on price.

At the same time, when Qwest first huilt its dornestic network, it was part of its business
plan to justall 2 substantial quantity of fiber for sale to other carriers. Those sales of
fiber financed a significant portion of Qwest’s costs in building other parts of its net-
work, particularly the international portion, Thus, sales of fiber and capacity assisted
us in buying capacity for our needs.

I appreciate the opportunity to have testified before the Committee and 1o respond ro your
questions.

Respectfully submirted,

i ﬁ% /Wv‘cﬂ?)

Afshin Mohebbi
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STATEMENT OF
MICHAEL H. SALSBURY
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT & GENERAL COUNSEL
WORLDCOM, INC.
BEFORE THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT & INVESTIGATIONS
OF THE
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES
U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
MARCH 21, 2002

My name is Michael Salsbury, and I am the General Counsel of WorldCom, Inc.

The questions and issues that the Subcommittee seeks to address in this hearing — how
accounting standards and federal policies may have contributed to the problems
experienced by Global Crossing and the industry — are valid and important.

The competitive sectors of the telecommunications industry have experienced difficult
times recently, primarily as a result of the failure of the Federal Communications
Commission (FCC) and the Department of Justice (DOJ) to engage in timely and
effective enforcement actions. Accounting issues also have contributed to the problems
experienced by some companies. The Subcommittee is correct to be considering both
federal policies and accounting issues at this hearing.

About WorldCom

Before specifically addressing questions posed by the Subcommittee in its invitation to
testify, it may be of benefit to Members to have some background information about
WorldCom.

WorldCom is a global telecommunications company with operations in more than 65
countries. In 2001, WorldCom had revenues of $35.2 billion and net income of $1.4
billion. Our global workforce of 85,000 employees is dedicated to developing and
delivering a broad range of data and voice services to more than 20 million enterprise and
consumer customers around the world.

WorldCom is a facilities-based carrier. In the last three years alone, WorldCom has
invested more than $23 billion in its network. Today, WorldCom owns the world’s most
extensive and modern end-to-end data and voice communications network. We have
wholly-owned facilities throughout North America, Latin America, Europe, the Middle
East, Africa and the Asia-Pacific region, as well as ownership in private and consortium
undersea cables.
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By leveraging the strengths of its operating units — the WorldCom Group and the MCI
Group -- WorldCom, Inc. continues to expand its market leadership in data, internet and
international services, the growth drivers of the telecommunications industry:

e The WorldCom Group comprises the company’s data, internet, managed and hosted
solutions, international, and voice services for enterprise customers worldwide.
WorldCom is the largest carrier of internet backbone traffic in the world. Also,
WorldCom last year surpassed AT&T as the world’s largest carrier of international
traffic.

s The MCI Group comprises WorldCom’s long distance and local consumer voice,
wireless messaging, and wholesale private line and dial-up internet access businesses.

WorldCom’s Accounting Practices with respect to IRUs

The Subcommittee’s March 14, 2002 letter asked if WorldCom has engaged in “swap”
transactions of indefeasible rights of use (IRUs) with Global Crossing and other carriers
and, if so, how the value of these transactions was reported.

There has been a lot of press recently about “swap” transactions whereby carriers record
revenue from “selling” capacity that is not likely to be used in return for a “purchase™ of
capacity that is not used and is capitalized rather than expensed. WorldCom does not
participate in such transactions. WorldCom sells IRUs and occasionally purchases them
where needed, but in all cases accounts for them appropriately.

An IRU is the right to exclusive use of a specified amount of capacity on a specific
network facility for a specific term, generally the useful life of the facility. IRUs often
are described as a “condominium-like” right. Prior to mid-1999, the general practice in
the industry was to treat IRU sales like the sale of a condominium ~ the sales revenue
was recognized in full when the transaction became effective and the appropriate fixed
asset account was reduced by the cost of the facilities covered by the IRU. During June
1999, FASB Interpretation No. 43 was issued which, WorldCom was advised, effectively
concluded that IRU sales generally should be treated as operating lease transactions with
recurring revenue recorded ratably over the life of the IRU. During 2001, in accordance
with FIN 43, WorldCom recorded recurring revenues of approximately $23 million (out
of total revenues of $35.2 billion) from the sale of IRUs.

Although WorldCom is a facilities-based carrier, occasionally WorldCom does purchase
IRUs from other carriers where we have a need, that is, in areas where WorldCom either
does not have network or where our available network capacity is fully utilized. In those
situations, WorldCom treats the purchase of an IRU just as it would a sale, that is, prior to
mid-1999 WorldCom capitalized the cost of the IRU when it became operational and,
after mid-1999 WorldCom expensed the cost of the IRU ratably over its term.
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During December 2001, WorldCom entered into two IRU transactions with Asia Global
Crossing (AGC). WorldCom purchased needed capacity on AGC’s East Asia Crossing
cable and AGC purchased capacity on WorldCom’s Australia-Japan cable. Each
transaction was for $20 million over a 10-year term. Because neither lease has yet
become operational, WorldCom has not yet recognized either transaction on its P&L. As
each IRU becomes operational, WorldCom will recognize approximately $0.5 million per
quarter in revenue and expense over a 10-year period.

Unless otherwise disclosed by carriers, investors should expect that IRU transactions will
be recognized by companies pursuant to accounting standards in effect at the time of the
transactions.

Factors Contributing to the Industry’s Problems

The Subcommittee also asked to what extent the following factors served as a “trigger”
for industry problems:

e Use of unique accounting standards and the issue of pro forma revenue projections.
WorldCom does not use unique accounting standards and does not issue pro forma
revenue projections. As many companies do, WorldCom issues pro forma profit/loss
statements to show the effect of acquisitions or of revenue from consolidated entities.
WorldCom believes such statements assist investors in understanding the impact of
certain transactions.

e Invalid assumptions about the growth of capacity, leading to excessive debt levels.
It has become fashionable recently to blame the large number of failures in the
competitive sectors of the telecommunications industry on bad planning. These
claims — which generally emanate from the monopoly sectors of the industry and their
pundits, but occasionally also from regulators — suggest that new entrants invested too
much in new facilities and mis-forecast the demand for telecom services. There may
well have been invalid assumptions by new entrants, but they related more to the
expectation that federal regulators would fairly and vigorously enforce the
telecommunications and antitrust laws than to assumptions about consumer demand.
By repeatedly favoring monopoly interests and undermining competition, these
regulators increased the costs for new entrants, which led directly to higher prices and
lower consumer demand for local telephone services and high-speed data services
such as DSL.

s Federal telecommunications industry policies.
Congress established the right pro-competition policy direction in the historic
Telecommunications Act of 1996. The Act was intended to open the Bell companies’
local monopolies to vigorous competition — in particular to competition among the
Bell companies themselves. The active involvement of federal and state regulators
was a sine qua non in achieving the Act’s goals. As noted, shareholders of
competitive telecommunications providers and equipment manufacturers invested
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billions of dollars in reliance that the law would be implemented and enforced as
intended.

Instead, incumbent monopolies have successfully sabotaged the Act and federal
enforcement efforts have been wholly ineffective:

» The Bell companies almost immediately embarked on a litigation strategy to
frustrate and delay implementation of the Act. Six years after enactment of the
Telecom Act, for example, we still do not have certainty over the prices Bell
companies must charge for leasing unbundled facilities to competitors.

» The DOJ under Joel Klein consistently allowed the Bell companies to consolidate
and expand their monopoly power through merger rather than to compete against
each other as intended by the Telecom Act.

» The FCC under Bill Kennard and Michael Powell consistently has adopted
policies that favored the interests of monopoly providers over competitive
providers and failed to enforce existing policies designed to promote competition.
When competitive DSL providers attempted to bring high-speed broadband
services 1o residential and business markets, the FCC failed to enforce
requirements that Bell companies unbundle their networks as required by the Act.
When experience has showed that the only effective means to start competition in
local telephone service is via UNE-Platform, or UNE-P, as permitted by the Act,
the FCC responded by questioning whether UNE-P should be eliminated. Most
recently, the FCC has proposed the development of rules that would lead to an
effective duopoly of Bell companies and cable monopolies in the provision of
high-speed data services, including internet aceess, to consumers. If adopted, this
policy can only lead to higher prices, fewer competitive providers to buy from
telecom manufacturers, and fewer choices for consumers.

The impact of these actions is apparent in the market capitalizations of a partial list of
network and competitive local exchange companies (CLECs) over the last year:

Market Cap (Mil.)

3/31/01 3/19/02
Network Providers
Broadwing Inc $ 7,575 $ 1,662
Flag Telecom Holdings Ltd 3,017 38
Global Crossing Ltd 31,996 96
Level 3 Communications 38,630 1,398
Metromedia Fiber Network 26,327 54
Williams Comm’n Group 24,049 79

$131,594 $3,327 -97%
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Market Cap (Mil.)

3/31/01 3/19/02
CLECs
Adelphia Bus. Solutions $4,288 $ 3
Allegiance Telecom 8,718 348
Caprock Communications* 1,639 0
Covad Communications 7,232 354
Focal Communications 3,411 24
ICG Communications 1,756 3
Northpoint Communications 3,026 21
McLeodUSA Inc 16,270 113
Mpower Holding Corp 2,538 3
RCN Corp 4,371 136
Rhythms Netconnections 2,840 0
Teligent Inc 3,696 : 0
Time Warner Telecom 8,365 342
US LEC Corp 1,094 80
Winstar Communications 5,325 0
KO Communications 16,901 23

$91,470 $ 1,450 -98%

These investor losses, and the associated job loss, did not result solely or even
significantly from accounting issues. Nor were all these entrepreneurs poor planners.

WorldCom’s Views on H.R. 3763

WorldCom is in the process of reviewing H.R. 3763 and would be pleased to offer its
views to the Subcommittee when that review is completed.

Conclusion

The current problems in the competitive sectors of the telecommunications industry were
not caused primarily or even significantly by accounting issues or assumptions about
capacity utilization. Rather, those problems resulted directly from the unrelenting efforts
of the Bell companies to retain their monopoly power and the fundamental failure of the
FCC and the DOJ to properly and effectively implement and enforce the law.

In WorldCom’s view, those failures have destroyed far more market capitalization and
robbed far more value from shareholders’ investments than any accounting issues.

Thank you.
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Responses to
Questions for WorldCom, Inc.
Submitted by Congressman Sue W, Kelly
Hearing on Effects of the Global Crossing Bankruptoy
On Investors, Markets, and Employses

1. You commented during the recent bearing that you never engaged in “swap”
transactions of indefeasible rights of uss (IRUs) with Global Crossing, rather your
transactions in fact took place with Asia Global Crossing. Is it not a fact that Asia-
Glebal Crossing at the time of your transactions in Decemmber 2001 was 59% owned
by Global Crossing?

Answer: Mr. Salsbury’s testimony deseribed two IRU transactions
between WorldCom and Asia Global Crossing that were executed during
December 2001, Asia Global Crossing is a publicly~traded company. We
do not know Global Crossing’s ownership interest in Asia Global
Crossing, although press reports indicats it is greater than 50%.
WorldCorm had a legitimate business inferest for engaging in these
transactons and, as explained in Mr. Salsbury’s testiraony, does not
consider them to be “swaps” as characterized by the media.

2. Has the recent publicity surrounding Enron and issues over related party involvement
in company. transactions, lack of auditor independence, and the payment of millions to
the same firm that both audits and consults, led to any changes i your accounting
palicies or in your relationship with your corporate anditor?

Answer: No.

3. In December, the Seccurities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued cautionary
advice about preparing pre forma financial statements. Has that guidance changed
how you prepars and present pro forma staternents? :

Answer: No.
4. Should the SHEC take steps to require a more consistent presentation of cash flow
estimates on pro forma stafements within the telecom industry?

Answer: WorldCom does not use cash flow estimates on pro forma
staternents.
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5. Are you aware of any particular proposals that have been discussed in Congress to
resolve accounting and disclosure issues that concern you?

Answer: No.

6. It has been widely reported that WorldCom has made more than $340 million in loans
to your Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Ebbers. How do you explain the below market
rates for these loans since they take millions of dollars away from your stockholders?
Afier all, hasn’t the value of your stock dropped more than 40% since January of this
year?

Answer: The interest rates charged to Mr. Ebbers are equal to
WorldCom’s incremental cost of borrowing money, so there is no loss to
WorldCom shareholders. During 2002, WorldCom's stock price has
declined fromn $14.39 on January 2 to a closing price of $3.41 on April 23.
The decline in stock price was caused by a number of factors, but negative
publicity surrounding the loan to Mr. Ebbers likely contributed.

7. Can you state with any degree of certainty that Mr. Ebbers will indeed not be forgiven
these enormous loans in the same manner Mr. Legere’s loans were forgiven by Asia
Global Crossing?

Answer: Mr. Ebbers has taken steps to collateralize the loans from
WorldComn. It is the expectation of both WorldCom and Mr. Ebbers that
these loans will be repaid.

8. Are you in agreement with statements from various analysts that the value of your
company would not be as Jow as it is today if not for the bankruptcy of Global
Crossing?

Answer: Investor uncertainty resulting frora the bankrupteies of Global
Crossing and other telecom companies as reflected in Mr. Salsbury’s
testimony was a contributing factor in the decline in stock values in the
telecom sector, including WorldCom’s.

9. A class action lawsuit in 2000 charged, among other things that WorldCom
intentionally delayed taking a $685 million pre tax charge. It has also been alleged
that unicollectible debts were sometimes retained as assets. Please provide your
comments on these allegations.

Answer; The lawsuit was dismissed with prejudice on March 29, 2000.
The allegalions are untrue.
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10.The same lawsuit also claims that Mr. Ebbers, your CEQ, personally supervised large
write-offs in order to protect the value of stock that he personally bought on credit. Is
there any truth to this allegation?

Answer: No.

11. How does your company define the “legitimate business purpose”™ behind individual
IRU swaps?

Answer: As set forth in Mr. Salsbury’s testimony, WorldCom does not
engage in capacity “swaps™ as that term has been used by the media.
WorldCom does occasionally obtain IRU capacity from other carriers
where needed and does occasionally sell JRU capacity upon request.
WorldCom’s IRU purchases are based upon the need for low cost network
capacity. The legitimate business purpose is to increase the overall
utilization of the network and to reduce capital expenditures. IRU
transactions are not a significant part of WorldCom’s business.
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WRITTEN STATEMENT OF ANDREW McGRATH
CABLE & WIRELESS PLC
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND INVESTIGATIONS
March 21, 2002

Good moming Chairwoman Kelly, Congressman Gutierrez, and members of the
Subcommittee.

My name is Andrew McGrath. I am President of Cable & Wireless” Service Providers
division. Cable & Wireless is a global provider of telecommunications services headquartered in
the United Kingdom. Cable & Wireless, with annual revenues of $11 billion, provides services
ranging from local telephone service to Internet backbone and web-hosting services in more than
70 countries. Cable & Wireless has been in business for over one hundred years. Itis well-
financed and has no net debt. We are proud to have a substantial presence in the United States,
where we provide IP and data services and solutions to business customers.

1 have been with Cable & Wireless since 1991 and currently head the global group within
Cable & Wireless that provides a broad range of services to carriers, ISPs, and content owners. I
hold an engineering degree from Surrey University and an MBA from London Business School.
T have been invited to appear today to address the Subcommittee’s inquiry regarding
telecommunications capacity transactions typically called indefeasible rights of use or “IRUs.”

The nature of the telecommunications industry makes it essential for carriers to contract
with each other to provide services to their respective customers. It is not always cost effective
for a carrier to build all aspects of its global network for its own exclusive use. It hasbeena
long-established industry practice for carriers to interconnect with other carriers and to purchase
network capacity from other carriers, either through leases or IRUs. Cable & Wireless has
undertaken IRU purchases for the purpose of obtaining the network capacity necessary to support
iis custorner requirements. Our internal governance policies are designed to ensure that, in each

case, our acquisition of capacity serves a legitimate commercial need.
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Cable & Wireless has also sold network capacity to other carriers. These IRU sales are a
very small part of Cable & Wireless” business. At their peak, in the year ending March 31, 2001,
such sales accounted for less than 5 percent of Cable & Wireless’ revenues, and have since
declined as carriers largely completed their network build-out programs.

In building its global network, Cable & Wireless has purchased capacity from several
operators. A small proportion of these transactions has been with Global Crossing. As always,
the network capacity we obtained through these transactions served specific commercial needs.

Cable & Wireless states its accounts in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“GAAP”) as adopted in the United Kingdom, as it must do as a UK. public limited
company. As an additional disclosure, Cable & Wireless separately reports the amount of its
IRU sales. Our accounting poiicies with regard to the treatment of such transactions are
disclosed as part of our financial statements and are readily available to the public.

Because Cable & Wireless ADRs (American Depositary Receipts) trade on the New York
Stock Exchange, it also discloses its financial results in SEC Form 20-F. For these purposes,
Cable & Wireless states its results, including IRU transactions, in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
A reconciliation of the net income under UK. GAAP with that under U.S. GAAP is disclosed as
part of our financial statements and is also readily available to the public.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear today. Iwelcome any questions from the

members of the Subcommittee.
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Cable & Wireless plc’s Response to Questions
Submitted by Congresswoman Sue W. Kelly
Hearing on Effects of the Global Crossing Bankruptcy
On Investors, Markets, and Employees
House Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations
Committee on Financial Services

Question 1:

We know that Global Crossing recently employed a black-out period on 401(k) plans. Has Cable
& Wireless ever employed such a black-out?

Answer:

Cable & Wireless” 401(k) plan does not provide for the purchase or investment in shares
(or ADRs) of Cable and Wireless plc. Nor does Cable & Wireless use shares (or ADRs) as
matching contributions. Accordingly, Cable & Wireless has not applied a black-out period to
its 401(k) plan. Cable & Wireless does, however, observe London Stock Exchange (“LSE”)
rules requiring a closed period prior to earnings releases, during which all directors,
executive officers and employees are prohibited from trading in Cable & Wireless securities.

Question 2:

Has Cable and Wireless instituted rules that would disallow senior executives from selling stock
during a 401(k) black-out period?

Answer:
For the reasons stated in response to Question 1, Cable & Wireless has not applied a

black out period to its 401(k) plan. As noted above, the closed period that Cable & Wireless
observes under LSE rules applies to directors and executive officers.



129

Question 3:
The Corporate and Auditor Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency Act includes a ban
on insider trading during 401(k) black-out periods. Would your company have problems with
that initiative?
Answer:

Cable & Wireless currently operates under effectively similar restrictions under LSE

rules. Therefore, such a ban on insider trading should not raise an issue for Cable &
Wireless.

Question 4:
Do you believe that the change in the treatment of revenue earned from IRUs mandated by the
FASB in 1999 was fairly and carefully considered and took into account the realities of your
business? Did the change come at a bad time for your business?
Answer:

As a UK company, with a primary listing on the LSE, we report primarily under United

Kingdom GAAP. Accordingly, we did not form a view on the 1999 change in treatment of
IRU revenue as mandated by the FASB.

Question §:

Has the Enron matter led to changes in your accounting policies or your relationship with your
corporate auditor?

Answer:

The Enron maiter has not caused Cable & Wireless to change its accounting policies or
its relationship with KPMG, our corporate auditor.
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Question 6:

In December, the SEC issued cautionary advice about preparing pro forma financial statements.
How has that guidance changed how you are preparing pro forma statements?

Answer:

The SEC’s “Cautionary Advice Regarding the Use of “Pro Forma’ Financial Information
in Barnings Releases” (December 4, 2001) provided a public warning on the use by public
companies and other registrants of “pro forma” financial information in earnings releases. It
raised particular concerns about the “presentation of financial results that is addressed to a
limited feature of a company’s overall financial results (for example, earings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization), or that sets forth calculations of financial results on a
basis other than GAAP.”

During the Subcommittee’s March 21, 2002 hearing, Congresswoman Kelly asked the
participants about the use of “pro forma” financial statements by their respective companies.
Andrew McGrath, President, Service Providers of Cable & Wireless, understood
Congresswoman Kelly’s question to focus on certain types of “pro forma” financial
statemnents similar to the ones about which the SEC provided cautionary advice. As Mr.
McGrath testified, Cable & Wireless has not used “pro forma” financial statements in this
context, namely for SEC reporting, including Form 20-F, or in earnings releases or other
public statements.

The SEC distinguished its cautionary advice on the use of “pro forma” financial
statements in these contexts from what it called the “useful” implementation of “pro forma”
financial information by companies when it is designed “to focus investors’ attention on
critical components of quarterly or annual financial results in order to provide a meaningful
comparison to results for the same period of prior years or to emphasize the results of core
operations.” The SEC added that “accurate interpretations of results and summaries of
GAAP financial statements taken as a whole can be quite useful to investors.” Cable &
Wireless has made limited use of “pro forma” financial information in presentations to
analysts and investors for this purpose, namely, to explain the impact of pending acquisitions
and dispositions.
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Question 7:

Are there particular proposals that have been discussed in Congress to resolve accounting and
disclosure issues that most concern you?

Answer:

Because Cable & Wireless reports primarily under UK GAAP, Cable & Wireless has not
formed an opinion with regard to the proposals currently being discussed in Congress.

Question 8:

How does your company define the “legitimate business purpose™ behind individual IRU
capacity swaps?

Answer:

Cable & Wireless enters into transactions with a “legitimate business purpose,” which
means that the fransaction taken as a whole meets Cable & Wireless’ business objectives,
including the enhancement of shareholder value.

As Mr. McGrath stated in his festimony before the Subcommittee, the nature of the
telecommunications industry requires catriers to contract with each other to provide services
to their respective customers. It is not always cost-effective for a carrier to build all aspects
of its global network for its own exclusive use. It has been a long-established industry
practice for carriers fo interconnect with other carriers and to purchase network capacity from
other carriers, either through leases or Indefeasible Rights of Use (“IRUs”).

Cable & Wireless purchases capacity from another carrier when that carrier has been
found to be the most suitable provider of the capacity required to service customers’ needs.
That purchase is negotiated on an arm’s length basis in the best interests of Cable &
Wireless. IRU purchases are undertaken when internal approval criteria have been met. IRU
transactions are accounted for as revenue when the risks and rewards of the ownership of the
capacity is transferred to the purchaser.
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TESTIMONY OF
JOHN M. MORRISSEY
DEPUTY CHIEF ACCOUNTANT
U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

TELECOMMUNICATIONS ACCOUNTING ISSUES

Before the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations
Committee on Financial Services
March 21, 2002

Chairwoman Kelly, Ranking Member Gutierrez and Members of the Subcommittee:

1 am pleased to appear before you on behalf of the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC" or "Commission") to testify concerning several accounting issues affecting the
telecommunications industry. As the Subcommittee has requested, my testimony will
address: 1) the accounting by providers of telecommunications capacity for the sale of an
indefeasible right of use (“IRU”) of such capacity, 2) the accounting for nonmonetary

transactions, including “swaps,” and 3) the reporting of pro-forma financial information.

Global Crossing Ltd. has disclosed that the SEC is investigating certain issues associated
with Global Crossing’s accounting and disclosure practices. Any further information
relating to such an investigation would be nonpublic and, accordingly, my statement will

be confined to the public record.’

! The information contained in this statement concerning Global Crossing’s accounting practices is based
upon publicly available information.
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Transparent Financial Reporting Protects the Financial Markets

A primary goal of the federal securities laws is to promote honest and efficient markets
and informed- investment decisions through full and fair disclosure. Transparency in
financial reporting, that is, the extent to which financial information about a company is
available and understandable to investors and other market participants, plays a
fundamental role in making our markets the most efficient, liquid, and resilient in the

world.

Transparency enables investors, creditors, and market participants to evaluate the
financial condition of an entity. In addition to helping investors make better decisions,
transparency increases confidence in the fairess of the markets. Further, transparency is
important to corporai:e governance because it enables boards of directors to evaluate
management's effectiveness and to take early corrective actions, when necessary, to
address deterioration in the financial condition of companies. Therefore, it is critical that
all public companies provide an understandable, comprehensive and reliable portrayal of
their financial condition and performance. If the information in financial reports is
transparent, then investors and other users of the information are less likely to be

surprised by unknown transactions or events.

Investors and creditors expect clear, reliable, consistent, comparable, and transparent
reporting of events. Aceounting standards provide a framework that is intended to present
financial information in a way that facilitates informed judgments. For financial
statements to provide the information that investors and other decision-makers require,

meaningful and consistent accounting standards and comparable practices are necessary.

Recent press articles have raised questions about the transparency of the accounting and
disclosure practices followed by Global Crossing. In light of these articles, I would like
to review the accounting by providers of telecommunications capacity for an IRU of such
capacity, the accounting for nonmonetary transactions, including “swaps,” and the

reporting of pro-forma financial information.
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Telecommunications Capacity Purchase and Sale Agreements

The expansion of fiber optic communications increased the frequency of transactions
involving the “sale’” of network capacity. The granting of an indefeasible right to use
such network capacity is often referred to as an “IRU.” Pursnant to an IRU, an entity
purchasing network capacity has the exclusive right to use a specified amount of capacity

for a period of time,

Accounting by the purchaser of network capacity pursuant to an IRU has not raised
significant accounting issues. An entity purchasing capacity would typically record the
amount paid for the capacity as an asset,” and amortize that asset by charges against
income over the period of benefit, which would normally be the term of the capacity

agreement.

For the provider of the capacity, the fundamental accounting issue related to an IRU is
when to recognize revenue. That determination can be quite complex but can be boiled
down to two basic qﬁestions: Is the IRU a lease or is it a service contract? And, ifitisa
lease, what kind of lease is it - a sales-type lease, for which revenue is recognized up-
- front, or an operating lease, for which revenue is recognized over time? Please allow me

to elaborate on the details:

* Depending on the nature of the capacity purchase agreement, the purchaser would possibly record either
a fixed asset, such as property, plant, and equipment, or a prepaid expense.
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Step I—Service contract or lease?

As I previously stated, the first step in determining when to recognize revenue is to
evaluate whether the contract between the provider and purchaser of the capacity is an
arrangement for the provision of a service or a lease. Although service contracts may
have attributes similar to those embodied in leases, the accounting results may be

dramatically different for service transactions than for leases.

Accounting for service contracts: Under generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP™),” revenues associated with long-term service contracts are generally
recognized over time as performance occurs. The accounting guidance as to when fo
recognize revenue for service contracts is limited, but can be primarily attributed to the
conceptual framework of the FASB and a paper published by the FASB on accounting
for service contracts. The SEC staff communicated its views on various issues related fo

revenue recognition for service contracts in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101.*

Accounting for leases: FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™)
No. 13, dccounting for Leases, and the related interpretations of this standard, provide
the relevant GAAP for lease accounting, including the definition of a lease. This
accounting literature defines a lease as an agreement conveying the right to use property,
plant or equipment for a period of time, and specifically excludes agreements that are

contracts for services that do not transfer the right to use property, plant or equipment.

To the extent that a network capacity contract conveys to the purchaser the right to use

specific identifiable assets® for a period of time, providers of this capacity have concluded

' While the Commission has the statatory authority to set accounting principles, for over 60 years it has
looked to the private sector for leadership in establishing and improving accounting standards. The quality
of our accounting standards can be attributed in large part to the private sector standards-setting process, as
overseen by the SEC. The primary private sector standards-setter is the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB™).

* See Staff Accounting Bulletin No, 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, December 3, 1999,
® For example, a specific fiber or wavelength of light within a fiber-optic cable network, along with the
conduit through which that cable passes, the land on which the conduit rests, and a specific component of
the telecommunications equipment at each end of the cable necessary to transmit data over the network,
would represent specific identifiable assets.
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that such a contract meets the definition of a lease. If the network capacity contract does
not convey to the purchaser the right to use specific identifiable assets, the contract would
be viewed as an arrangement for the provision of services, and revenue would be
recognized over the period of the contract as the services (the access to the network

capacity) are provided.
Step 21t is & lease, but what kind of lease?

For capacity contracts that meet the definition of a lease, the next significant accounting
consideration is the determination of the appropriate lease classification. In a network
capacity contract or arrangement that meets the definition of a lease, the capacity
provider is the lessor, and the capacity purchaser is the lessee. From the lessor’s

perspective, there are two general types of leases — sales-type leases and operating leases.

Sales-type leases: In a sales-type lease, which gives rise to manufacturer’s profit, the
lessor records the fair value of the leased assets as revenue upon inception of the lease.
The cost {or carrying amount) of the leased assets is charged against income in the same
period that the “sale” is recognized. Sales-type lease accounting reflects in the financial
statements of the lessor a sale or financing when substantially all of the benefits and risks

incident to the ownership of the leased property have been transferred to the lessee.

Operating leases: Alternatively, in an operating lease, the lessor continues to record the
leased assets on its balance sheet, subject to the lessor’s normal depreciation policies.
The minimum lease payments are recorded as rental revenue by the lessor over the lease
term, typically on a straight-line basis. Operating lease accounting is similar to service

contract accounting,

For a network capacity transaction to be appropriately classified and accounted for as a
sales-type lease, certain specific criteria must be met. Otherwise, the transaction must be
classified and accounted for as an operating lease. Further complicating the issue, these

criteria differ depending on whether the leased asset is considered equipment or real
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estate. Under SFAS No. 13, and the related interpretations of this standard, a lease of
real estate must transfer title in the leased assets to the lessee in order to be classified and
accounted for as a sales-type lease by the lessor. Equipment leases need not transfer title
in the leased assets to the lessor in order to be classified and accounted for as sales-type

leases.

Real estate or equipment: The FASB issued Interpretation No. (“FIN™) 43 in June 1999
which was effective for transactions entered into after June 30, 1999.° FIN 43 provides
interpretive guidance on the definition of real estate for accounting evaluations. This
guidance, along with additional interpretive guidance provided by the FASB’s Emerging
Issues Task Force (“EITF™),” has the general effect of rendering the assets subject to
telecommunications capacity agreements as real estate for accounting purposes. When
the interpretation in FIN 43 and the related EITF gnidance became effective, many
telecommunications capacity sellers concluded that they were unable to meet the title
transfer requirement for the assets subject to the IRU and, therefore, were required to
account for subsequent capacity sale transactions as operating leases. Prior to FIN 43, the
assets subject to telecommunications capacity agreements were generally viewed as
equipment, and frequently, providers of capacity accounted for these agreements as sales-

type leases.
Industry Practice

In addition to these changes in the accounting rules, as the indusiry evolved, many
capacity providers changed their service offerings to permit more flexibility than was
previously available in fixed, point-to-point capacity sales. Because these more recent
service offerings typically do not grant the purchaser of such services the right to use
specific identifiable assets for a period of time, these arrangements fail to meet the

fundamental conditions for being treated as leases, and instead are considered esecutory

® See FIN 43, Real Estate Sales, an Interpretation of FASR Statement No. 66. .

7 See EITF lssue No. 00-11, Lessors' Evaluation of Whether Leases of Certain Integral Equipment Meet the
Ownership Transfer Requiremenis of FASB Stat t No. 13, and EITF Issue No. 00-13, Determining
Whether Equipment is "Integral Equipment” Subject to FASB Statements No. 66 and No. 98.
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contracts (that is, contracts for the provision of services, which are specifically excluded
from the lease accounting literature). Therefore, the sales-type lease accounting model

may not be appropriate for more recent capacity contracts.

In administering the federal securities laws, the Commission staff has reviewed public
filings of telecommunications network capacity providers and suggested that certain
disclosures be made so that the accounting policies of telecommunications capacity
providers are fransparent to investors. In addition, the Commission staff has worked
closely with the private sector accounting standards-setting organizations to identify
issues related to the accounting for telecommunications capacity purchase agreements,
and to resolve those issues in a manner that is in the best interests of investors. Two
accounting issues have been addressed and resolved by the EITF that primarily relate to
IRU accounting.® Other issues on the EITF’s current agenda could have an impact on the

industry’s accounting practices.’
Accounting for Nonmenetary Transactions

Several recent articles in the financial press have focused on the business practices of
telecommunications companies “swapping” network capacity.'” Many of these articles
suggest that the companies entering into these transactions may have inappropriately
inflated their operating results by recognizing revenue for the network capacity sold, and
recording long-term fixed assets for the capacity purchased. While I cannot comment on
specific transactions, my testimony seeks to provide an overview of the accounting

literature that addresses the accounting for exchanges of nonmonetary assets.

In general, GAAP requires that the accounting for the exchange of nonmonetary assets be

based on the fair value of the asset received or given up, whichever is more reliably

8 See footnote 7.

? See EITF Issue No. 01-08, Determining Whether an Arrangement is a Lease, EITF Issue No. 01-04,
Accounting for Sales of Fractional Interests in Equipment, and EITF Issue No. 00-21, 4ccounting for
Revenue Arra ts with Multiple Deliverables.

¥ See, for example, “Optical Tlusion? Accounting Questions Swirl Around Pioneer In the Telecom
World,” The Wall Street Journal, February 13, 2002, and, “Losing a Grip on the Fiber Optic Swap,” The
New York Times, February 18, 2002.




140

determinable.!’ One of the exceptions to this general principle is an asset exchange that
does not represent the culmination of the earnings process. For example, an exchange of
an asset held for sale in the ordinary course of business (such as inventory) for an asset to
be sold in the same line of business.” Furthermore, the exchange of a productive asset not
held for sale for a similar productive asset also is not viewed as the culmination of the
earnings process. These types of nonmonetary exchange transactions are required to be

accounted for based upon the recorded amount, or book value, of the asset relinquished.

The simultaneous exchange of nommonetary assets along with equal amounts of cash
consideration between the parties to an exchange would raise significant “substance”
over “form™ questions. When cash consideration is exchanged between the parties to a
transaction concurrently with an asset exchange, questions may arise as to the substance
or business purpose of the transaction structure, and whether that structure has an
economic purpose or is designed solely to remove the transaction from the scope of the

accounting literature governing nonmonetary asset exchanges.

In these situations, a careful analysis of the specific facts and circumstances surrounding
the transaction would have to be made. To the extent that the “check swapping” between
the parties lacks economic substance, such a practice should not alter the accounting for
such exchange transactions. In other words, the accounting rules for nonmonetary asset
exchanges should be followed. These rules require that certain conditions be met in order

for the transaction to be accounted for at fair value.

In order to conclude that a network capacity swap transaction should appropriately be
accounted for as revenue and a capital expenditure at fair value, a company entering into
such a transaction would have to reach the conclusion that: 1) the network capacity
received in the exchange will not be sold in the same line of business as the network
capacity given up in the exchange, 2) the network capacity received in the exchange is a

productive asset that is dissimilar to the network capacity given up, and 3) the fair values

i Accounting Principles Board (the predecessor to FASB) Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary
Transactions, provides relevant guidance on the accounting for these types of transactions.
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of the assets exchanged are determinable within reasonable limits. Capacity swap
transactions likely include complex terms that would require a diligent analysis and

professional judgment to determine the proper accounting treatment,

Companies that engage in material nonmonetary transactions during a reporting period
are required, under GAAP, to disclose, in the footnotes to the financial statements, the
nature of the transactions, the basis of accounting for the assets transferred (that is, fair
value br book value), and gains or losses recognized. GAAP also requires that
information about all investing and financing activities of an enterprise that affect
recognized assets or liabilities but that do not result in cash receipts or payments, such as

nonmonetary asset exchanges, be disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements.

Furthermore, the Commission’s rules require registrants to include in their public filings
a section entitled Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (“MD&A™)."2 In MD&A, registrants are required to discuss the
known trends, demands, events, commitments and uncertainties that are reasonably likely
to materially affect a registrant's liquidity, capital resources, and results of operations. To
the extent that nonmonetary exchange transactions bave a significant impact on 2
registrant’s liquidity, capital resources, or results of operations, disclosure of these

transactions in MD&A would be required.
Pro-forma Financial Information

Recent press articles have also focused on Global Crossing’s use of “pro forma” financial
information in its earnings releases. “Pro forma,” in this context, generally refers to the
presentation of earnings and results of operations on the basis of methodologies other

than GAAP.

“Pro forma™ financial information can serve useful purposes. Public companies may

quite appropriately wish to focus investors’ attention on critical components of quarterly

2 See Regulation 8-K, 17 CFR, Ttem 303.



142

or annual financial results in order to provide a meaningful comparison to results for the
same period of prior years or to emphasize the results of core operations. There is no
federal securities law prohibition preventing public companies from publishing
interpretations of their financial results or publishing summaries of GAAP financial

statements.

Nonetheless, the Commission is concerned that "pro forma" financial information, under
certain circumstances, can mislead investors if it obscures GAAP results. Because this
"pro forma" financial information by its very nature departs from traditional accounting
conventions, its use can make it hard for investors to compare an issuer's financial

information with other reporting periods and with other companies.

The Commission has cautioned companies and alerted investors to the potential
uncertainties of "pro forma" financial information. Most recently, on December 4, 2001,
the Commission issued cautionary advice that companies and their advisors should
consider when releasing “pro forma™ financial information." Among other things, this

release reminded companies and their advisers that:

First, the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws apply to a company
issuing "pro forma" financial information. Because "pro forma" information is
information derived by selective editing of financial information compiled in
accordance with GAAP, companies should be particularly mindful of their
obligation not to mislead investors when using this information. Recently, the
Commission concluded its first pro forma financial reporting case ever, regarding
the issuance of a misleading earnings release by the Trump Hotel and Casino

4

Resorts, Inc.'  This action demonstrated the Commission’s commitment fo

address the dangers of “pro forma” financials.

' See Financial Reporting Release No. 59,
1 See Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release No. 1499
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Second, a presentation of financial results that is addressed to a limited feature of
a company's overall financial results (for example, earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, and amortization), or that sets forth calculations of financial results
on a basis other than GAAP, raises particular concerns. Such a statement
misleads investors when the company does not clearly disclose the basis of its
presentation. Investors cannot understar;d, much less compare, this “pro forma”
financial information without an indication of the principles that underfie its
presentation. To inform investors fully, companie‘s need to describe accurately the
controlling principles. For example, when a company purports to announce
earnings before “unusual or nonrecwrring transactions,” it should describe the
partiéuiar transactions and the kind of transactions that are omitted and apply the
methodology described when presenting purportedly comparable information

about other periods.

Third, companies must pay attention to the materiality of the information that is
omitted from a “pro forma™ presentation. Statements about a company's financial
results that are literally true nonetheless may be misleading if they omit material
information. For example, investors are likely to be deceived if a company uses a
“pro forma” presentation to recast a loss as if it were a profit, or to obscure a
material result of GAAP financial statements, without clear and comprehensible

explanations of the nature and size of the omissions.

Fourth, public companies should consider and follow the recommendations
regarding pro forma carnings releases jointly developed by the Financial
Executives International and the National Investors Relations Institute before
determining whether to issue “pro forma” results, and before deciding how 1o
structure a proposed "pro forma" statement. A presentation of financial resulits
that is addressed to a limited feature of financial results or that sets forth
calculations of financial results on a basis other than GAAP generally will not be

deemed to be misleading merely due to its deviation from GAAP if the company
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in the same public statement discloses in plain English how it has deviated from

GAAP and the amounts of each of those deviations.

With appropriate disclosure, accurate interpretations and summaries of GAAP financial
statements benefit investors. Our cautionary advice is part of our ongoing commitment
to improve the quality, timeliness, and accessibility of publicly available financial
information. At the same time, the Commission is focusing on ways in which our current
periodic reporting and disclosure system can be updated to fili the void that “pro forma”

statements may be attempting to fil.

Conclusion

Many of the accounting issues surrounding the accounting for telecommunications
capacity confracts are complex, and I have provided only a brief summary of some of the
more significant issues. We very much appreciate your prompt action and interest in the
current issues that impact financial reporting and our capital markets. You can be
assured that the SEC staff takes very seriously allegations of financial reporting
improprieties by public companies. Furthermore, in our oversight capacity, the SEC staff
will continue to monitor developments in the accounting practices of the
telecommunications industry, and provide recommendations for issues that need to be

addressed by the accounting standards-setting organizations.

" See Testimony of Harvey L. Pitt, Chairman of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
Concerning HLR. 3763, the “Corporate and Auditing Accountability, Responsibility, and Transparency Act
of 2002,” Before the House Committee on Financial Services (March 20, 2002), explaining the
Commission’s disclosure initiatives.
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L Introduction

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the honor of testifying before your Subcommittee and for the
Subcommittes’s interest in the perspective of an independent investment research broker-dealer.

My testimony includes:
* An explanation of the Precursor Group® perspective
o Introduction and outline of my remarks
* Broader lessons learned from Global Crossing bankruptcy
¢ Conclusion

II.  Precursor Group® Perspective

1am Scott Cleland, founder and CEQ of the Precursor Group®, an independent research broker-
dealer, which provides investment research to institutional investors. My partner, Bill Whyman,
and I founded the Precursor Group® very intentionally as an independent firm in order to better
serve our investor clients’ interests and not to serve companies’ interests or investment banking
interests. We have learned that the investment research marketplace is thirsting for trust, and our
business is trying to quench a part of that thirst.

Our business is simple. We work for institutional investors; they pay us research
commissions on their trading fo the extent that we help improve their investment
performance. '
® If our research helps investors identify opportunities or avoid pitfalls, we get paid in
directed trading commissions.
* If our research does not help investors, we do not get paid.
¢ We have a market-driven, merit-based business model.

We are unusual in that we are a pure research firm in a business dominated by integrated
full-service brokerage firms that bundle investment banking, trading and research. We are
exclusively an investors’ broker-dealer, akin to a buyer’s broker in real estate. We are not the
traditional scllers’ or company broker-dealer, which tries to represent both companies’ and
investors” inferests.

We have done our best to align our financial interests with investors’ interests. We are very
serious about avoiding conflicts of interest, actual and perceived, so we:
« Do no investment banking for companies;
» Do not manage money of own a stake in any companices;
» Do not allow Precursor Group® researchers to trade individual stocks — as a condition of
employment (which exceeds NASD rules); and
« Do not trade securities for proprietary gain.
e We get paid through agency trading commissions, which is the primary payment
mechanism that institutional investors use to pay for investment research.

We are a pure research firm because we do not believe one firm can well serve different
masters at the same time: investors and cempanies. We strongly believe true independence

vields better research.
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I Introduction and Qutline of Remarks

I don’t believe Global Crossing, the fourth largest bankruptey in history, is unique. It is a wake
up call to Government overseers of broad and troublesome patterns in the capital markets system
and in the telecom/Internet marketplace.
* The recession did not cause Global Crossing to go bankrupt, and it was not what Federal
Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan calls “irrational exuberance.”
o 1 surmise that it was more likely “rational manipulation” of the capital
markets system by many for private gain; and
o “jrrational economics” of the telecom/Internet sector, which largely created
the NASDAQ bubble that burst.

The country has a much bigger problem than most may appreciate.
o The capital markets system that was designed to protect investors now may be being
“rationally manipulated” by company interests.
» There’s a serious “telecom debt spiral” going on that has Government policies based on
irrational economics at the root of the problem.

Arguably these problems are at the heart of the economy’s problems.

s Post-Enron, how do we restore -investor trust in the U.S. capital markets system so
mvestors again will entrust their capital with companies so the economy can grow and
create jobs?

*  How do we stop telecom, a key sector to the economy’s growth and productivity, from
being a long-term drag on the economy?

Telecom is in crisis.

+  While Global Crossing’s bankruptey is getting a hearing, don’t forget there have been
over thirty more bankruptcies (like Teligent, Winstar, McLeod, ICG, PSINet, 360
Networks, and others.)

¢ The deflationary trends that helped take these companies down are now doing their work
on XO, Metromedia, Williams, Level 3, Qwest, Sprint, WorldCom, and others.

o While these companies are currently solvent, they are in what Precursor calls the
“insolvency zone.”

o This means that investors are legitimately concemed that these companies may
110t be able to outgrow their cost of capital long-term.

o Global Crossing and many other telecom companies were built with heavy debt
assuming high growth; now that growth has slowed and projected demand has
disappointed -- the math doesn’t work.

This is no wrifling matter. The Wall Street Journal recently reported that since 1996, telecom
companies have borrowed more than $1.5 trillion from banks and issued over $600 billion in
bonds. It is instructive to recall that the Savings and Loan debt erisis in late 1980s cost taxpayers
over $200 billion to remedy.
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IV.  What broader lessons can we learn from Global Crossing’s bankruptey?

{A)  We must improve our very inadequate investment research system.

(1)  The investment research system can't even expose “trillion dollar
fibs.”

The “Trillion Dollar Fib!” Investors, who depend on investment research for an objective
assessment of the facts and due diligence, were not informed that the single most important
trend buttressing Global Crossing’s business model, and that of all the other data growth
stocks, was, and had been, hugely overstated and inflated for years!

* The conventional wisdom, repeated by almost everyone in the industry from 1997-2001,
was that data traffic growth was doubling every three to four months—an extraordinary
800-1600 percent annual growth rate from 1996 through 2001.

o Unfortunately, it simply was not true.

¢ The actual growth rate had been closer to a 100-200% annual rate since 1997.

®»  We believe the Precursor Group was the first investment researcher to
challenge this exploding data traffic thesis in our February 5, 2001
research piece, “Datatopia — Why Data Transport Growth Stories May
Disappoint,” which used data from AT&T Labs, (See attachment).

+ Nonetheless, this exploding data traffic growth thesis was the core selling point for
some of the hottest stocks the market has ever known.

+ This gross misrepresentation of demand for data traffic fueled roughly a trillion
dollars worth of stock appreciation from 1996 to 2000 that has since cratered,

o See the chart on the next page for the stock appreciation of the data traffic carrier
models and their equipment suppliers.

o Given that most institutional investors were unaware data traffic growth had
slowed dramatically, Precursor believes that this repeated factual
misreprésentation of exploding traffic demand could have contributed to inflating
these companies stock.

It appears that there may be a pattern of misrepresentation in the telecom/Internet sector.

« Tn addition to this trillion-dollar data traffic investment thesis disaster, U.S. investors and
pensioners lost roughly another trillion dollars of shareholder wealth on the Intemnet
dot.com investment thesis where the new virtual economy was purported to obsclete the
old economy.

¢ And investors have lost more than $50 billion dollars buying into the competitive
Telecom Act investment thesis that has resulted in over thirty bankruptcies so far.

Was this merely “irrational exuberance” in the stock market? Or could there have been some
“rational manipulation?”

All of these telecom-related investment theses were pushed by the investment research
system, blessed by auditors, and completely missed by Government, and the mainstream
and financial media.
e How many more trillion-dollar investment debacles need to occur before the
inadequacies in our system of producing investment research get addressed?

(2)  We must figure out how to get the system to pay for investor
protection, not just pay promotien of stock prices.
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“The Trillion Dollar Fib” of Data Traffic Growth
{Market Capitalization of Data Related Companies, $Rillions)}

1/1/96 V1/08 3/118/02
Date Copriars 7T T ;
Global Crossing T ) 6
Level 3 Compnunications - 28 1
PSDNet 5. 0
Chwest (exolndes US West in 19963 38 15
Wiltiams Commumnications Group 12 0
WorldCom {excludes MClin 1996) 151 21
Deta Equipment Providers . L
Ciena 8 3
Cisco Systers . 369 121
Coming a2 8
JOS Uniphase 52 7
Juniper Networks w06 .4
Lucent . 230 16
. Novtel Networks AT B
Sycamore 22 1

Total Market Capitalization $69 billion $1.352 trillien  $212 billien %

Market Indices
Drow Jones Industrial Average 51317.12 9181.43 1087775
Nesdag Composite 1052.13 4069.31 1877.06
S&P 300 61593 1469.25 116539
Bubble Rises with Data Growth Prospects... “Irrational Economics” Help Burst Data Bubble
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Sogrces: Nasdaq; NYSE; Company reports; Precursor analysis




150

Better audits? The current system now makes it hard for a large public company to instill trust
in its financial representation, because for all practical purposes, it cannot hire a top-tier auditor
that does not have trust-eroding conflicts of interest that have been so painfully exposed by the
Enron-Arthur Anderson scandal.

s Unfortunately, the corrent public audit svstem appears to be heavily tilted toward
what is best for auditors and companies rather than what is best for investors to

entrust their capital with companies.
o It appears that the current system does not value producing non-conflicted audits
that instill investor trust.
e [If investors don’t trust an audit to fairly represent the financial condition of a firm, the
audit is more than worthless; it’s all cost with no benefit.

Better Research? The current system also makes it hard to use investment research that is free
of investment benking company bias that may be better at discovering the problems behind a
Global Crossing. Investrment banking is the proverbial “900-pound gorilla” that dominates the
production of almost all investment research.
o The overwhelming funding source for iavestment research is directed trading
commissions, which by regulation can only be collected by broker-dealers.

o Regulation also requires that all broker-dealers must be licensed to do the
complexities of investment banking even if they do no investment banking; this is
a regulatory barrier to entry for pure research firms.

o Competitive bond rating firms face similar regulatory barriers to entry that ill
serve investors.

o Moreover, the lack of transparency of commingled commissions for investment
banking, frading and research mean that investment banking tends to rule the
roost undermining the research function. (See our earlier testimony before the
Subcommittee on Capital Markets June 14, 2001 at www precursorgroup.com.)

« InvestorSide Research: To help correct this misalignment of research interests in the
system, the Precursor Group, Argus Research and Eagan Jones are forming . the
InvestorSide Research Association.

o His mission will be to “increase investor and pensioner trust in the U.S.
capital markets system through the promotion and use of investment
research that is financially aligned with investor interests.”

o We are currently recruiting additional members without investment banking
conflicts and also recruiting organizations and individuals who support this
mission to join the Association’s Advisory Board.

o Our website will be www.investorsideresearch.org.

(B)  We must make our capital markets system much less prone te
“rational manipulation.”

(1) Our capital markets system has become much more prone to
manipulation.

The old adage, “an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure,” is especially applicable here.
Arguably, the current reported SEC enforcement investigations of Global Crossing, Qwest, and
WorldCom may not have been necessary if the system’s first line of defense in protecting
investors—auditing and research—were not so.inadequate.
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Over the last decade, I believe the system of investor protections that were designed into the
system have largely been hijacked or watered down by highly sophisticated company inferests, It
is alarming the extent to which the system, originally designed to instill investor trust in the
capital markets system, now is geared primarily to promote company interests. Precursor
believes there is a clear bias in the system to promote company interests ever protecting
investor interests. For example:

.

Auditing: Virtually all of the largest publiely traded companies are audited by the Big
Five accounting firms, which like Arthur Anderson, all have deep consulting business ties
to the companies they are supposed fo police for the public.

o Given that roughly haif of the revenues and the lion’s share of profits of the Big
Five come from non-audit consulting, the business of the Big Five arguably is
skewed to serving the private interests of companies more than the public interests
of investors,

Research: We estimate that investment banking driven investment research firms have
over 95% market share of the investment research market.
o This means that the financial interests that are driving the investment research
system are overwhelmingly skewed to promoting company interests over
. protecting investor interests.
o There is little counter-balancing research force in the marketplace representing
investors interests, which has become painfully obvious in the wake of Enron, the
Dot.com bubble, and the data traffic trillion dollar fib.

Lawyers: Lawyers ethical obligation of reporting misrepresentation, or fraud, runs only
1o managernent that coptrols their pay, not to the Board of Directors that represent
shareholders.
o This effectively prevents another line of investor protection from occurring.
o It seems like common sense that the Board, which is responsible to public
shareholders, should be informed if the company’s legal counsel has suspicions of
wrongdoing that could materially affect investor interests.

Investor/public relations: Companies have become highly sophisticated in accentuating
the positive and playing down the negatives,
o Reportedly almost half of the Fortune 500 now use “pro-forma™ reporting of
financial results.
& Mauch of pro-forma reporting is essentially the company’s made-up accounting
that excludes whatever pesky information could undermine a company’s outlook.
o The investor/public relations operations of companies then emphasize the pro-
forma characterization of the company and divert focus from GAAP accounting
resulis that enable an investor to compare a company to all other investments.

Media: The public’s perception of companies is often driven by how the media
characterizes them.

o The companies understand this and actively manage their investor and public
relations.

o To the extent that the media gives heéadline or story prominence to pro-forma
reporting or emphasizes Wall Street “expectations” versus actual GAAP financial
performance, the media is unwittingly complicit in the system of misrepresenting
the financial state of companies to the investing public.
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) Growth or “story stocks” have become the most prone to
manipulation.

The management of growth companies has learned from market experience that their stock price
is more dependent on the perception than the reality of future growth. This means that the price
of a growth stock is all about what a company can convince the market that it can do in the
future. It is all about “the story.” The best storytellers have the hottest stocks. Or in other
words, the tallest tale, that the market can believe wins.
» There are legitimate growth stories that actually deliver—Microsoft and Intel being the
most prominent.
o Unfortunately there have been many more growth stories like Global Crossing that have
not delivered, as the slew of telecom bankruptcies and the $4 trillion NASDAQ 20600
crash can attest to.

What can imake growth stocks so prone to manipulation is the- tremendous pressure to make
current financial performance conform to aggressive forward leaning expectations. This pressure,
in addition to the options culture that will be discussed later, can encourage management fo
employ many available “tricks of the trade” to manage this dilemma.

Since the “future story” often has no financial results to speak of, companies and Wall Street
have come up with creative ways to try to validate business models before they show actual
earnings.

* Dot.coms were valued on audience potential and “hits.”

s Data carriers were valued on potential data traffic growth; and

+ Competitive telecom companies (CLECs) were valued on buildings built-out.

The problem is it is so much easier to tell a story and get the system to buy it than it is to
actually deliver profit growth in the market place. Thus, in the capital markets system
today, it may perversely be easier to manufacture “stock currencv money” to make

acquisitions and buv profits, than it is fo make real money and profits on one¢’s own.

3) The options-compensation culture encourages high-risk behavior
which when mixed with the capital-intensive telecom sector, is a
recipe for the “telecom debt spiral” the sector is in today.

Contrary to conventional wisdom, compensating company management primarily with stock
options does not completely align management’s interests with shareholders as much as paying
them in actual stock would. Options are just that—an option to benefit on the upside without the
same risk on the downside. The options culture encourages growth and high-risk behavior.

e In the entreprepeurial, risk-embracing tech sector, the options culture can work
exceedingly well. :

e However, in sectors with lower risk tolerances like telecom, which is a hugely
capital-intensive infrastructure business that absolutely depends on long-term debt
financing to make the business model sustainable, an options culture can encourage
the disastrously inappropriate aggressive growth behavior that we have recently
seen in telecom,

In no way am 1 saying that company management should not be rewarded handsomely
commensurate with the financial performance of their firm. What T am saying is that options only
fully align management’s interests with sharcholders in a growth environment with an
appreciating stock.
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¢ In a slower growth environment like todav, management’s dependence on option

compensation can encourage management to do “whatever it takes” to re-inflate
their stock — even if it risks the company’s capital preservation or survival.

e Moreover, it may not be management’s capital at risk, but rather shareholders’ capital. In
a tough environment, shareholders are more interested in having management preserve
capital than rolling the dice for a big stock-inflating score.

* An options culture can encourage management to view the balance sheet as a piggy
bank to fund stock growth increases with debt.

o In telecom, overextending or wasting a balance sheet can prove disastrous, just
ask Global Crossing, AT&T, McLeod, Teligent, Winstar, etc.

The one-way upside nature of options can perversely incent the management of publicly traded

companies to engage in the high-risk behavior that this hearing is about today.

e There are many stock-enhancing “tricks of the trade” that management can
permissibly engage in, sometimes with the help of outside advisors, investment bankérs,
research analysts, accounting consultants, and lawyers etc., to lift their stock price.

+  Some of these “tricks of the trade” are:

o
<

Hiding debt off-balance-sheet in special purpose entities (alleged of Enron);
Increasing revenue recognition short-term through fiber capacity swaps (alleged of
Global Crossing, Enron and others), and equipment/services swaps (alleged of
Qwest);

Increasing revenue recoguition short-term with 200% equipment vendor-financing
(alleged of many equipment companies);

Writing off costs to improve forward-looking results (alleged of WorldCom and
many others);

Writing off over $50 billion in goodwill and saying it doesn’t matter (alleged of JDS
Uniphase);

Continuing to book revenues from former customers (alleged of Winstar);

Backdating revenues to maintain the expected revenue growth trajectory (alleged of
MicroStrategy);

Creating tracking stocks to supposedly “unlock shareholder value” (WorldCom and
Sprint);

Buying a company solely to acquire revenues to avoid a debt friggering convenant
(alleged of Level 3);

Selling an asset to avoid a debt triggering covenant (alleged of Sprint);

Managing earnings estimates (alleged of Cisco and many others);

Allowing supportive analysts to see more financial detail than non-supportive
analysts (alleged of WorldCom};

Promoting pro-forma financial petformance rather than actual GAAP results (alleged
of many companies);

Declaring that the company has “no visibility” about future demand while
simultaneously expressing confidence about eventually returning to 30% plus growth
(alleged of Cisco);

And the list can go on and on.

(C) “Irrational Economics:” Government telecom and Internet policies that
artificially stimulated supply and demand are at the root of the current “telecom debt spiral.”

Government policies have powerfully subsidized and encouraged demand for data and the supply
of data facilities.
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* A large part of the current market problem with data-related business models is that
Government policies fostered what Precursor calls a “datatopian™ environment that lacks
real world economics, which requires profits and return on investment.

e Government data policies have created an uneconomic data house of cards where costs
were very high and revenues could not keep up with them.

* The data marketplace, as constructed by Government, is unprofitable and it’s
contributing to the telecom debt spiral.

First, the U.S. Department of Defense effectively created the Infernet in 1969 as a commune
system where each research lab that connected to the Internet data system paid for its own
connection. This was a Government and research communications system, pot a market.

* In 1991, the Government endorsed the commercialization of the Internet through the
National Science Foundation.

e The Government effectively commercialized a “not-for-profit” system where each
computer owner paid for its connection, but no one commercially supported the
maintenance of the overall system.

o This not-for-profit system evolved into the current “peering” commercial system where
similar carriers peer on negotiated terms.

o This system offers little potential for pricing power to generate profits.
o Consequently by June 2000, UUNET, the leading carrier of daty traffic in the
country with roughly one-third-market share, said they were unprofitable.

Second, to promate computer innovation, the FCC has had a policy since the late 1960°s that
favored the use of data communications over voice; this “enhanced service provider” (ESP)
exemption exempted data traffic from the access charges voice traffic paid to maintain the
overall system and universal phone service.

« This conferred roughly a 40% cost implicit arbitrage advantage for data over voice.

o In practical terms, this implicit Government subsidy of data over voice enabled
Internet Service Providers (ISPs) to charge roughly $20 a month rather than
roughly $40 a month, because ISP’s did not have to pay the same amount for the
use of the network as voice users did. .

o This multi-billion dollar anmual implicit Gevernment subsidy encouraged the
exploding amount of data traffic being carried, which in turn increased the
cost dramatically of maintaining the Public Switched Telecommunications
Network (PSTN). :

e ‘While the PSTN wvoice system was designed for three-minute average
phone calls, the average length of time for a data call was many multiples
of the system’s voice design.

e FCC’s data subsidy policies enabled flat rate ISP pricing in the U.S,,
which encouraged heavy use, or “surfing,” that would not cccur if people
paid per minute. )

e This subsidized, or “free lunch,” policy helped fuel the dot.com bubble,
because it was so cheap to stay online.

s This flat rate policy also was unique to the U.S. during the bubble; all
other countries kept per-minute data use models fo enable their carriers to
recover the cost.

+ Consequently, other nations online use and growth lagged the U.S.
dramatically.
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Third, in 1996, Congress passed the Telecom Act which changed U.S. communications policy
from endorsing monopolies, which promote universal phone service, o promoting competition
and deregulation, which lowers prices for consumers and spws innovation. The FCC
aggressively promoted U.S. competition policies around the world.

¢ Without the new competition policy in the U.S. and around the world, and without
the Government’s active assistance in securing interconnection in the US. and
around the world, Global Crossing and other data carriers could not have existed or
raised public capital.

*  With the Government as the data indusiry’s effective champion against monopoly
incurnbents and intransigent Governments, the Goverrument provided cover and “official™
validation of the investment bankers and companies “growth stories.”

« Investors lost billions of dollars by frusting that the Government knew what
it was doing and believing the data growth stories told by the companies and
effectively “supported” by Government policymakers.

+ The fundamental economic problem with the 1996 Telecom Act is that it took a highly
capital-intensive infrastructure industry and introduced massive competitive and
technological risk and increased price regulation without a clear realistic way for the
companies to make a sustainable profit or return on investment.

Fourth, Congress also passed the Internet Tax Moratorium in 1998, creating a special no tax zone
for economic activity that happened to occur over data rather than over the phone, inperson or in
a physical location. '

« This only added Government endorsement fo the “datatopian”™ economics of the
Internet and that there was indeed a “free lunch” where dot.coms and data traffic
companies could generate multi-billion market capitalizations without any profits
and with long shot business models.

Finally, current Government telecom/data competition policies are massively deflationary;
they are unwittingly, but very effectively, anti-profit, anti-growth, and anti-job creation,
« The Telecom Act and regulatory implementation has adopted competition as an end in
itself when it is really just a means to an end.
» The market has figured out that the Telecom Act and its implementation has been an
unmitigated disaster, but the Government sure has not.
« The Government is continuing to purste competition even when it is economically
irrational, deflating economic growth, destroying jobs and shareholder wealth, and ill
serving consumers.

V. Conclusion

Global Crossing is telecom’s Enron. It exposes a deeper pattorn of problems and highlights that
Enron was not an isolated incident.
e Global Crossing won’t be the last bankruptcy in this sector. Many more bankruptcies hurk
in the “insolvency zone.”
» Many more investors, pensionets and employees will lose much more wealth because the
system so poorly protects their interests,

We submit this testimony to help bring the overall problem into better perspective. There are no
easy “silver bullet” solutions, however, the Government can:

= Improve the inadequate investment research system to prevent future trillion dollar fibs;
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« Discourage the “rational manipulation” of the capital markets by protecting investor
interests; and
« Undo the irrational economics the led fo the telecom and Internet.

The systern of protecting investors and pensioners is much more susceptible to manipulation than
most appreciate and it needs substantial bolstering. It won’t get fixed without comprehensive
market reform.

Thank you again Madame Chairwoman for the honor fo testify before your Subcommittee on this
important topic.

Attachments

Precursor Regearch

“Datatopia” ~ Why Data Transport Growth Stories May Disappoint, February 5, 2001

Telecom’s Debt Spiral, February S, 2002
Why Telecom is Decoupling From Overall Economic Growth, March 6, 2002
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“Datatopia”—Why Data Transport Growth Stories May Disappoint

{Part Sixina

Suwmmary: Precursor is skeptical about the market’s expectaucms
furcommued data networkmg revenue hyper-growth, Precursor

for ined hyper-growth in Cisco’s
data camer business over the next few years as well as
hyper-growth prospects for data carriers and fiber optic
players.  Precursor sees these businesses as fast revenue
growers, but believes that hyper revenue growth expectations
streteh credulily. Precursor believes the last 3-5 years of data
networking were mere au aberration than an accurate
indicator of the future. Too many investors appear to still be
relying on the growth trajectory of past data networking financial
wands as a strong indicator of the future growth trajectory. Past
mementum can be an outstanding future indicator unless there is
diseontinuous change — which is precisely what Precursor
beligves is happening in the data sector. Many investors have to
see “the whites of the eyes” of bad numbers before “pulling the
wigger.” By then, it can be too late. Precursor further cautions
imvestors that the foundation of the data story is unlikely to be
able to support the weight of hyper revente growth expectations.

Why Data Past & a Pogr Indicater of Data Fuiure:
(1) Discontinuous change: It’s unlikely the next 3-5 years will
experience anything like the Internet/dot-com mania and
subsequent flame-out. It's unlikely the second half of U.S.
heuseholds will go online as quickly as the first half did in the
last five years. It's unlikely there will be a repeat of investment
banking “gold rush™ triggered by the 1996 Telecom Act, which
over-funded dozens of CLECs and data carriers. (2) More
meomentum than propulsion: Rockets need fuel and oxygen to
keep accelerating or maintain speed. The data “growth rocket™
of the last 3-5 years also nieeds the constant “fuel” of ongoing
demand and cconomic growth and the “oxygen™ of plentifu}
caphtal.  Precursor suggests data growth is curently more
momentum than propulsion given that the economy and capital
expenditures are slowing, the telecom sector is over-Jeveraged,
and  gccess  to capital  has  become  difficult.
£3) Broadband Can’t Grow Like Dial-up: (A) Dialup prices
are half of broadband prices. (B) Disl-up requires minimal
mstaliation cost, time, and hassle; broadband installation is an
expensive, time-consuming hassle for consumers and businesses.
(Cy The local telcos® network upgrade cost for dial-up data
service on voice lines is minimal because it requires lite
network modification; broadband (DSL and cable) requires
expensive petwork reengineering. Many under-appreciate the
very different impacts dial-up and broadband have on last mile
aetworks; disl-up is easy and relatively cheap while
Broadband s hard and costly.

Data_Revenue Growth_Expectation’s, on Weak Fonndation:
{1} Da traffic growth is actually siower than the hype: Much

nt Themes Series)

like the popular myth that “voice will be free,” hyper data
traffic growth appears to be over-hyped as well
Couventional wisdom still believes data traffic doubles every 90
to 120 days. While this may bave been true for a brief,
anomalous period in the wid-1990s, industry studies sstimate
that in reality, data traffic doubles roughly once a year (Coffman
and Qdlyzke). This implies 2 ~100% annual data growth rate
~— which is substantial by any measure, but is_significantly
lower than the 800% to 1600% implied by the popular
"doubling cvery three to four months" myth. Hyped traffic
growth rates obviously would increase expectations for more
frequent equipment upgrades than the slower rates industry
stodies suggest. {2) Highly distorted artificial market: Hyper
revenue growth depends on an efficient marketplace where
prices and costs are based in reality. Precursor reiterates that fow
appreciate that the data market is not the “free market” that most
imagine, but more similar to the proverbial “free lunch”
Investors should not forget that the original data industry model
was created as an academic, NOT-FOR-PROFIT model. (Pre
1991, NSF, the Internet overseer, had a2 no-commercial-use
policy.) Bach computer user paid only for their link to the rest of
the network, and no mechanism was necessary to arbitrate
recovery of asymmetric costs generated by others — because it
wasn't organized around a profit motive. So more than most
apprecmte the old not for -profit structure lives on through
“peering,” where jate how they ink o
each other’s networks. Unfortunately the “peering” structure
depends on carriers being frue “peers ” I not pees, the
arrangement Can require Q ton
and does not provide much pricing \eveuge (UUNET the ong
company that has some pricing power, is under the watchful eye
of the DOJ antitrust Division) Free markets inherently are
driven by economic self-interest; the Internet model was
organized to serve the collective interest. (3} Poor Industry
Business Model: Hyper revenue growth results from a robust
business model. (A) By government policy design over the last
30 years, the Intemet/data model disproportionately benefited the
“infornation serviee” companies that ride on the networks at the
expense of the “telecom service” carrer. Interconnection and
nondiscriminatory access requirements limit carriers’ market
leverage in order to benefit users. {B) Packet networks
strategically forfeit control of the network to users. Control of
the network’s functionality and how it’s used can represest
substantial business and price leverage. As @Home's CEO
famously said: “no one wants o be a dumb pipe.” (C) The
current data networking model alse epcourages uneconomic
behavior: e.g. Napster’s file sharing creates enormous costs that
are not borne by those generating the costs, because “the Internet
is supposed to be free” * * * * ¥
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Telecom’s Debt Spiral

Smmmary: Precursor advises relatively more under-weighting
of the telecom sector as “Enron-itis” fears exacerbate an
already bad debt and overcapacity imbalance. The fundamental
health of this sector is likely to get worse before it gets better.
Precursor now advises wholesale avoidance of the compefitive
tefecom segment and the equipment players, especially the

data and optical segment. The relatively reliable positive cash
flow of Verizon, SBC, and Bell South may only be a relatively
safe haven in this very risky sector. The combination of: the
sector’s anemic growth outlook, the cannibalizing competitive
mega-trends of wireless substitution, voice to data migration,
Bell entry into long distance combined with local competition,
and the bubble-induced sxcesses in debt and over-capacity, all
create a powerful wealth destroying dynamic, Telecom’s “debt

iral” has gotten so bad that oven the relatively stromgest
sp 5 ¥ gost

players wha are still able to raise significant capital (VZ, SBC,
and BLS) don’t want to assume any more liabilities or business
wisk. Consequently, Precursor is reversing its long held view
that consolidation can help improve the sector from excess
eapacity and debt any time soon. This is no longer a growth,
But a preservation of capital, sector dynamic. Precursor now ng
Jonger believes that Qwest or Sprint shareholders can expect
much of a takeover premium, if they are hucky enough to be
merged with SBC and Verizon at all. Without expectations of
robust_growth in this debtridden, risky, high fixed cost,
increasingly competitive sector, the math of many business
models simply does not work. More bankruptoies furk.

Felecom’s Debt Spirai: (A} “Enron-itis” has infected felecom,
Two more Andersen-audited, debt-heavy, forward-leaning
companies, Global Crossing and McLeod, just declared
baokiuptey.  Five mwore are now drawing suspicion by
association: WorldCom, Qwest, Level 3, Allegiance, and XO.
The market apparently has realized that heavy debt does not mix
well with an anem;c growth outlook. Falling equity values can
lead to debt-rating do des, which already fenuous
business models and further scares investors  away.
£B) Market’s no longer giving telecom the benefit of the
doubt. The market’s post-9/11 momentum rally effectively
winked at telecom’s real growth prospects. However, so many
high profile and hard-to-ignore bankruptcies have the market
vorried about its “backside” as well as its upside. It’s hard to
“visualize” equity growth through a fixed-income sohency !ens

man. Heavy debt plus no growth equals negative real growth.
{D) The debt overbang prevents the work-off of the huge
over-capacity in the market. No company wants to take on
more debt in order to cull the over-capacity in the system. And,
bankrupicy does not necessarily eliminate over-supply; it only
resurrects it on competitive steroids. The competitive dynamic
of high fixed costs forces players to chase mcremental revenue
by slashing prices to just above variable costs, which are far
below average fixed costs. This can create a vicious dynamic
like that continually expetienced by the steel industry, where
over-capacity never gets worked out, prices get slashed, and
investors get left holding the bag. (E) Imploding fundamentals
create business risk contagion for all involved in telecom
transport business. (1) While the tectonic npetwork shift from
voice to data traffic wag long-touted o be & good thing, “data-
topian” pricing makes data traffic so dramatically less profitable
than voice traffic that profitability can’t be made up on volume.
(2) The mega-trend of wircless substitution for wire-line minutes
effectively transfers huge shareholder wealth to consumers. It
increases net costs in the system while reducing net revenyes—a
highly deflationary dynamic. (3) Bell entry into long distance
combined with local competition has a similarly deflationary
dynamic: the system’s net costs surge with massive regulatory
intervention and inefficiency, while net revenues plummet with
competition and the FCC’s deflationary UNE-P and TELRIC
resale rates. (F) Surviving today cam mean disinvesting in
tomorrow, Like a rapidly dropping hot air balloon demands its
oceupants throw anything big overboard, competitive carriers
need to make big cost cuts; the prime candidates are more
capital expenditures and people.

Few Forces Able to Pull Telecom Out of Its Debt Spiral?
(A) Bven when the economy emerges from this telecom-lech
indaced recession, the telecometech sector will remain
d led from the performance of the rest of the ecopomy,
becauae tetecom-u,d has_gone from “econemic propeller to

owil Telecom will not only lag the recovery, but
al<0 serve as one of the leading drags on the rest of the economy
for at least the next year. {B) Apparently, the market does not
see any credible new “killer apps” o orany big steeglv increasing

compmer growth rates are maturma Vld\,o file s}armg is one of
the few potential major demand catalysts out there. (C) And

Flipping from anticipating beta apd growth to p

bankrupicies  contributes  to  a  downward  dynamic.
£C) Competitive telecoms must have growth expectations for
their math to add up. Without growih, there’s less stock
carrency to horrow against or grow by acquisition, ne takeover
premium for investors, and no way to stay ahead of the debt

materfal d fation relief from the FCC is likely still quarters
away, or even longer, from the states. Policymakers throughout
the Government remain largely oblivious to both the magnitude
and economic implications of the telecom-tech meltdown and
the destructive role government competition policy has played in
helping precipitate this market debacle, * * * * *
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Why Telecom is Decoupling From Overall Economic Growth

Summary Precurser advises investors 1o refhink the bedrock
el in i that the telecom sector

for wireless subscribers from 27% to 18% with 46%
penetration; for PC homes from 33% to 10% with 57%

generally grows signifi cnmﬂv faster than the With
the economy now bouncing back, a technical or hismri»al view

5 ; for online subscribers from 99% to 20% reaching
1% penelr'atmn or 90% of computer households; and for

could suggest telecom sfocks may outpace the market. Ho ¥
Precursor’s analysis indicates that telecom’s future will be very
different from the 1990s and that, fundamentally, the telecom
sector has Jargelv become decoupled from the larger growth
engine of the overall economy. Telecom has developed its
own countervailing and highly deflationary economic
fundamentals; it’s gone from an economic propeller to a drag on

broadband subscribers from over 200% fo 70% at 10%
penetration.  (2) There’s also a dearth of new potential “killer
apps” on the horizon. Ultra-Wideband may be the best potential
candidate. but that is more a 2003-4 and beyond story.
(3) Incremental subscribers going forward generally have less
upside  profitability and bave higher risk of chumn.
{B) Government competition policies have made core
d ic and have created a hostile

the economy. The critical “backbone” transport segment, the
tlrird of the sector that interconnects every carrier, effectively is
maploding—“dead model walking” And highly deflationary
government competition policies effectively are eroding
margins for most of the rest of the sector. This tele-deflationary
dynamic reinforces the broader trend in the economy, where
consumers are sucking value from producers in the form of
ingreased competition and lower prices. Precursor reiterates
its advice to continue under-weighting felecom, hecause for
the foreseeable future, telecom overall will grow relatively
stower and margins will increasingly come pnder pressure.

£ Investment Implications of Slower Growth Far-Reaching,
{A) The current cascade of telecom bankruptcies could
eventually reach Qwest, Sprint, Level 3 and WorldCom.
Debt-laden transport business models may naw be entering “the
insolvency zone,” where without growth or strong fGith in their
Suture growth poienticl, they may not be able fo continue fo
convince credifors that they can stay ahead of their increasing
cast of capital. High-fixed cost companies can’t easily cost cut
their way to lcng -term solvency. (B) Much of the “juice” in

traditional markets
investment climate. The Telecomn Act’s ﬂawed unbundhng at
cost” preraise has: deval 1 d new

d telecom facilities; disx 12
investment; added huge regulatory costs with little value-added
to the customer; and skyrocketed business risk with no
offsetting way to earn back the new risk premium. Government
resale competition policies are largely price-regulation,
regulatory re-branding exercises that create little cusiomer or
shareholder valug. The capital markets now view the FCC's
TELRIC resale policies ially UNE-P) as vab oying
government redistibution of market share.  Government
competition policies have encouraged overcepacity in transporl
and wireless networks, which has helped spawn the unintended
consequence of the “Telecom Debr Spiral” dynamic (see
Precursor 2/3/02). (C) Tech tremds arc deflating profitability
and shifting value from producers to users. Contrary o
conventional wisdom, convergence is less about growth and
more about cannibalistic competitive risk,  Overall, the
consumer expects more services for a lower overall price. In
general, ﬁwlmmwm

han_dem These dramatic

past aggressive growth and investing may be
over for a while, given that the peak of the bubble was driven
by roughly seven NASDAQ telecom-data stocks with eye-
popping vuns: Cisco, JDS Uniphase, Funiper, Sycamore, Cxena,
Nortel, and Corning, Chronic over-capacity and over-regulation

in efficiency are accek:ratm« com@d)tzza ion, In
particular, data growth is highly deﬂanonary because fow data
margins erode high voice margins. Wireless substitution is
highly deflationary because a faster-growing, less profitable
wireless busii is camnibalizing the very profitable wireline

means precicus litle new capex spending anytime soon. This
may suggest a new fimdamenial bias toward value over growth
ir telecom investing. {C) Consolidation and IPOs could be

business. (D) Pricing trends are “flattening”™ revenues and
profitability, (1} One of the most omirous wends undermining
telecom reverme growth :md profitability is the inexorable frend

much more modest thhout hxgh -£1 ymg stocks as Y.
Since companies pay an acqg P for growth, future
eonsolidation could be less satisfying for shareholders.

II “Tele-Deflation:” Wiy Telecom Grawth Rate Is Stowing,
{A) Real core demand is slowing and changing. (1) For new
business, growth curves are beginning fo_plateay across the
sector for reasons largely unrelated to the recent recession.
From 2000-2001, Precursor estimates that growth has slowed:

of ding flat-rates over usage-based
rates (e.g., 800 service, specxal access, data, wireless buckets of
minutes, and now AT&T’s new flat rate Jong distance plan).
This flatrate trend is a double whammy because flatrate
pricing models grow reverues more slowly than usage-rate
models and because the risk of recovering the cost of
incremental investrosnt shifts from the user to the producer.
(2) Finally, the trend toward “bundling” is less about growth and
more about defensively reducing campetitive churn, * ¥ * * ¥
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L Market Conditions of the U.S. Telecom Sector, As Hlustrated by the
Bankruptey of Global Cressing, Inc,

Global Crossing filed for bankruptcy on Jan. 28, 2002, representing the fourth-biggest
U.S. bankruptcy in history. (Enron Corp. being the largest, followed by Texaco, Inc., and
Financial Corp.). In its bankruptcy filing, Global Crossing listed assets of $22.44 billion
and debts of $12.39 billion. From a broad perspective, the company’s dramatic fall
represents the leading case study of how quickly telecom-asset values diminished,
possibly damaging both pure-play telecom firms and U.S. energy companies that invested
heavily into the telecom sector. Global Crossing was once considered the strongest of the
challengers taking on incumbents that were too slow fo cater to “new economy” demands
for more bandwidth. It was also seen as one of the most ambitious telecom ventures to
emerge from the worldwide boom investment in the industry in the late 1990s.
Consequently, its staggering fall can provide valuable insights to the exposure to the
telecom sector currently faced by other companies.

In the interest of providing a cursory background, the following is a brief summary of
Global Crossing’s rise and fall. The company was founded in 1997 by former Drexel
Burnham Lambert executive Gary Winnick. John Legere became CEQO in October 2001.
The company expanded aggressively and quickly, ultimately building 100,000 miles of
cable spanning five continents. The network reportedly reaches 27 countries and 200
major cities around the world.

Global Crossing went public in 1998. Global Crossing’s business objective was to
become a telecom-sector titan out of the Internet age, and worked toward accomplishing
this goal by carpeting the world’s oceans with fiber-optic cable. Global Crossing
reportedly spent $13.7 billion to build its fiber-optic network. The construction of the
network was greeted with great enthusiasm among many market analysts and investors,
who collectively shared or accepted Global Crossing’s expectations that the increase of
Internet-based businesses would dramatically increase the need for broadband capacity.
In fact, at first Global Crossing’s plan made the company the darling of investors and
telecommunications analysts, The company’s executives remained confident, and
convinced Wall Street, that Global Crossing would be able to sell capacity directly to big
multinational companies such as Coca-Cola or American Express.

Further, Global Crossing found that capital markets were more than willing to loan the
company money as it was building its network with grand expectations in the late 1990g
and into 2002. In fact, the boom for Global Crossing came at a time when even some
companies that didn’t have investment-grade ratings could borrow without posting
collateral. About 100 banks are now involved in the proceedings over Global Crossing to
some degree. Since 1998, Global Crossing and its rivals involved in the telecom/
broadband sector raised over $1 trillion from the capital markets in equity and debt,
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according to data from Morgan Stanley & Co. The figure doesn’t include bank loans,
financing from vendors whose equipment the carriers bought, or the money raised
through sceuritizing their own accounts receivable.

However, the downfall of the company has its roots in the lack of demand in the telecom
sector, which led to a glut in capacity for such high-speed networks as the massive one
built by Global Crossing. A massive overinvestment in such “backbone” networks, along
with stlowing of growth in Internet traffic, produced a slump in demand for the wholesale
communications capacity sold by companies like Global Crossing and left them unable to
support mountains of debt. As a result of the lack of demand, prices for the bandwidth
capacity plummeted in 2000 and into 2001. Global Crossing’s financial status became
impacted over the last two years as the dred-up funds among long-distance telecom
carriers caused demand for leasing subsea communications links to evaporate.
Meanwhile, the carriers that did want capacity were able to negotiate low prices between
Global Crossing and its competitors.

It is clear that the fortunes of Global Crossing sank with the larger downward trends of
the telecom sector. This became apparent to the public only when the company
encountered serious financial frouble late last year. It should be noted, however, that the
company’s stock had been dropping since early 2001, tracking the general downturn in
the telecom market. Further, although Global Crossing had built a worldwide fiber-optic
network during the tech boom, the company has never made a profit. Global Crossing
announced in mid-December that it would halve dividend payments to save $46 million
each quarter. The company then refused to honor a $400-miltion loan agreement with its
subsidiary, Asia Global Crossing, and warned that if would be in violation of covenants
on loans worth $1.8 billion by the end of the year. Its bankers agreed to a waiver on those
covenants but attached new conditions. Those waivers were set to expire on Feb. 13.
Global Crossing reported a third-quarter 2001 loss of $3.35 billion and said that sales fell
26 percent from its second quarter to $793 million. In addition, the company reported
$3.4-billion losses in the 4Q 2001, as sales of bandwidth continued to fall.

Capital expenditures at the company have historically been high as Global Crossing built
its 27-country telecommunications network. Now, capital expenditures are expected to
shrink to $200 million in 2002 from $3.2 billion in 2001. According to Mr. Legere,
Global Crossing was spending $2 million to $3 nullion a day in interest payments on
capital funding. When and if the company emerges from bankruptey proceedings, it
hopes that it will not have that kind of capital pressure. Share prices have been declining
for a long time, falling from a 52-week high of $169 down to 22 cents.

Inn addition to the downturn of demand for broadband capacity, the accounting techniques
used by Global Crossing have also come under question in a Securities and Exchange
Commission investigation. Known as indefeasible rights of use (IRU), the technique that
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Global Crossing used is a fairly standard practice in the telecom market, but has the
potential of distorting the financial earnings and losses of telecom companies. An IRU is
a type of long-term lease of capacity on a fiber-optic network. Fiber-optic carriers
frequently swap capacity with other compauies that own fiber-optic networks. Swaps
cccur when a company such as Global Crossing sells IRUs to another company, and at
the same time paid an equal amount to buy IRUs from the same company. In other words,
this should have represented an even trade, but both companies might record earnings and
capital expenses on their balance sheets. Global Crossing and its telecom competitors
frequently bought space on one another’s network in areas not covered by their own
systerns to offer corporate customers a more complete data system. Such swaps are
attractive o carriers, because accounting rules allow them to book an incoming contract
as revenue, and then book the outgoing contract as a capital expense, which they typically
emphasize as separate from operating results.

Tt is known that Global Crossing used these IRU instruments to sell bandwidth on its
fiber-optic network, typically in contracts lasting for 25 years. Further, according to many
reports, since it went public in 1998, Global Crossing continued to emphasize metrics
that removed capital and interest costs from its balance sheets, and the SEC investigation
18 looking into whether or not the use of IRUs at Global Crossing may have intentionally
misled investors and conumercial bankers about the company’s financial performance.
According to available evidence, in some cases Global Crossing would buy an IRU and
book the price as a capital expense, which would spread the expense over a number of
future years. It would then resell that capacity and book the proceeds as revenue, leaving
some investors to see the increase in revenue, but not the expense. Obviously, the bottom
line is that revenue at Global Crossing may have been inflated, giving investors an
inaccurate impression of the company’s financial status.

Global Crossing is presently trying to seil the business to other companies. On March 11,
2002, Mr. Legere said the company had attracted interest from 40 financial and strategic
investors out of 76 contacted. The company is now reportedly less reliant on debtor-in-
possession financing and a $750-million preliminary bid from Asian technology
companies Hutchinson Whampoa Ltd. and Singapore Technologies Telemedia Pte to
purchase a 79-percent stake. Under that plan, creditors would receive $300 million in
cash and new equity in the reorganized company. A class-action suit could block this
proposed deal. The company wants to keep additional cash on hand until demand for its
fiber capacity increases.

Global Crossing says that its problem is a balance-sheet issue, not an operational issue,
after piling up debts of $12.4 billion and has found it increasingly difficult to find new
clients to replace some of its major Internet customers, which either collapsed or
dramatically cut back spending. Mr. Legere says that Global Crossing has a good
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business and a sick balance sheet. However, the compary may not emerge from
bankruptcy by the fall of 2002, as originally hoped. The company has more than

$1 billion in cash, up from about $900 million when it filed for bankruptcy. Note that
there is also a pending class-action lawsuit against Global Crossing that the company
overstated revenue from the sales and gave a misleading pictare of its financial
performance. Also note that within weeks of the bankruptey filing, the SEC and FBI
began investigating the company’s accounting practices.

Moreover, only little more than a year ago, the telecom sector was at its peak, with
billions of capital investment flooding into the sector as wildly optimistic expectations for
demand seemingly exaggerated the scale of the market. However, a massive downturn
has ensued, impacting not only companies operating in the telecom space but the nation's
entire economy as well. The bottom of the telecom sector has fallen out, due in large part
to the fact that the increase in bandwidth capacity has outpaced the growth in market
demand. While some companies maintain that a liguid market for felecom and bandwidth
trading is still on the horizon, it most likely is another two years away (at the earliest),
which could make the next several quarters rather difficult for those companies with
exposure in the telecom sector. At this juncture, telecom does appear weak, but it could
also be argued that weak telecom companies are being weeded out, leaving stronger
operations to survive and potentially succeed as the market grows. The bottom-line
criterion in this "survival of the fittest” process in the telecom sector may be the
companies that can effectively manage their own costs will remain. Whether there are
long-term prospects for growth in the telecom sector is the question to be asked when
determining which companies will succeed in this sector. Regarding Williams
Communications specifically, the company certainly faces a rather constricted telecom
market, However, in hindsight, a case could be argued that Williams Cos. made a smart
move in transferring the telecom business into a stand-alone operation in advance of the
implosion that subsequently occurred in the telecom sector.

iL Risks Associated with the Expansion of U.S. Energy Companies Into the
Telecom Sector

In the mid-1990s and into 2000, telecom seemed like a boom market to many energy
companies, just as it appeared to Global Crossing. Like many other businesses, some
power firms began buying telecom companies and building bandwidth infrastructures in
anticipation of a liquid trading business. In addition, especially for small and mid-sized
electric utilities, telecom seemed to present an opportunity to take advantage of wholesale
broadband solutions to deliver value-added options to their customers. The pressure of
keeping up with new technologies in the telecom arena led many energy companies to
acquire or partner with an already-established telecom company, as Dynegy, Inc. did with
Colorado-based Extant Communications last year. The need for alliances arguably forced
many firms primarily active in the power space to spend additional funds to support a
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venture into the telecom market. The convergence between energy and telecom got into
high gear about two years ago (late 1999 and into 2000), and became somewhat of a
"groupthink" trend in the industry in which Enron Corp. and Williams Cos. were leading
participants. In fact, Enron's former CEQ Jeffrey Skilling projected a $450-billion
waorldwide market for communications bandwidth trading and services by 2005, and the
valuation of Enron's own broadband business at $40 a share, or $35 billion. As a point of
reference, Enron’s expansion into the telecom market was spawned in part by its
acquisition of Portland General, a utility in Oregon that had constructed some fiber-optic
capacity in the Pacific Northwest.

Utility holding companies are allowed to purchase telecom businesses per an exemption
provided under the Telecommunications Act of 1996. However, most utilities (for
example, Southern Company) that typically fall under such restrictions from the Public
Utilities Holding Company Act (PUHCA) have not plunged into the telecom sector to the
extent that merchant energy companies such as Enron, Williams, Dynegy, Reliant, and
AES did. Some utilities may have been drawn to the telecom market, either through a
comparatively large or small investment, because electric utilities generally have internal
expertise and assets such as fransmission infrastructure that can be leveraged into the
telecom business.

In any case, the fiber-communications market now finds itself at a stunning impasse, after
having invested hundreds of billions of dollars in long-haul fiber networks that exceed
current demand for voice and data services. Despite the increased investment in the
sector, there still appears to be an insufficient infrastructure of fiber capacity to support
the needs of end users, which has also caused demand fo trail off. The boom-and-bust
trend of the telecom sector has had a dramatic impact on the nation’s economy as a
whole, as some smaller telecom companies went bankrupt and investors remain very
hesitant to put further large sums into the sector until supply and demand become more
balanced. According to one report, the telecom business (including local, long distance
and wireless companies, along with telecom equipment makers) reached a peak in March
2000, with a combined market value of $2.7 trillion. Over the subsequent year, the
market shed $1.7 trillion of that figure, accounting for more than 90 percent of the net
Toss in stock wealth in the periad. It is unlikely that energy companies as a whole will exit
the telecom market altogether, as many companies continue to see telecom as a valuable
long-term way to expand their customer base and eventually increase value for
shareholders. However, it is clear that the next few quarters will be difficult and unlikely
to provide any real profits for energy companies with telecom exposure. Looking
forward, bandwidth trading may be another potential moneymaker in the post-
deregulation world of utilities' diversification ventures, but energy companies need to
proceed with caution. At this time, capacity clearly has outpaced demand. However, if
this equation becomes more balanced (as Enron, Dynegy and Williams, among others,
are projecting), the market could still become lucrative in the next two years.
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Other companies apparently foresaw the market downturn in telecom and began exiting
the market altogether. For instance, in June of 2001, Conectiv announced that it had sold
its telecommunications business (along with a stake in a New Jersey power plant) for a
total of $29 million, in order to focus more heavily on building a more targeted
generation business. Conectiv's new approach seems to be particularly prudent as it gets
the company out of the struggling telecommunications industry (which has also taken a
tumble on Wall Street), and expands upon what is already a lucrative trading operation in
advance of the company's pending partnership with Potomac Electric Power Company
(Pepco).

III.  Specific Examples of Energy Companies” Investments in the Telecom Sector

Enron Corp: Just as Enron Corp. appeared to achieve unparalleled success in electricity
and natural-gas trading in the mid- to late-1990s and into 2001, the company also
invested a great deal of capital into building a high-speed broadband communications
network, under its subsidiary Enron Broadband Services, to support its planned move into
bandwidth trading and marketing. Enron Broadband Services focused exclusively on two
key areas: bandwidth trading and package services for business customers (which would
basically include the delivery of data and entertainment through fiber-optics). As noted,
Enron executives, particularly former CEO Jeffrey Skilling, confidently projected a
$450-billion worldwide market for conumunications bandwidth trading and services by
2003, and the valuation of its own broadband business at $40 a share, or $35 billion.
Again, as with the case of Global Crossing, Wall Street seemed to agree with Enron’s
aggressive projections for the telecom sector. Some analysts reported that interest in
Enron's expansion into this area, validated by investor interest in new technologies in
general, drove an 87-percent rise in the company's share price last year. The company
planned to trade excess bandwidth capacity, and in order to do so began constructing its
own network, which cost a lot of money. Enron acknowledged that it intends to sell
between $2 billion and $4 billion in assets over the next 12 months in order to reduce
debt and support the new business in broadband (among other businesses in pulp and
paper, data storage and advertising).

However, while prior to the bankruptcy, Enron maintained that it still projected a strong
market for telecom, losses in its telecom sector contributed to the company’s financial
collapse. In fact, for year-end 2000, Enron Broadband Services reported a $60-million
EBIT loss, reflecting startup costs to build the new business. The company seems to have
anticipated the slow growth of its broadband business. In fact, then-Enron CEQ Jeffrey
Skilling did not appear concerned over the loss and said that it took between five and six
years for the company’s natural-gas business to develop standardized contracts and
increase lquidity. Mr. Skilling has said that these numbers do not dilute his belief that
bandwidth trading will soon become a strong performer for the company. While Mr.
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Skilling remains opiimistic about the potential of the broadband business, investors may
not be as patient. (Note that while Enron's broadband business took a loss for 2000, the
company as a whole reported a 25-percent increase in earnings per diluted share to $1.47
and a 32-percent increase in net income to $1.3 billion.)

In 2Q 2001, Enron's broadband business reported a $102-million operating loss,
compared to an average loss of just $24 million for the four previous quarters. Former
Enron CEO Jeffrey Skilling has openly acknowledged that revenue opportunities in the
company's broadband unit have "dried up.” Basically, Enron faced an unanticipated
excess of fiber-optic lines, which has prevented the demand for the division's services
from materializing as anticipated. Mr. Skilling remains optimistic that the business will
become profitable, but that it is probably six to 18 months away. As of the third quarter
of 2001, Enron stopped including its telecom financials in its wholesale and retail energy
services sector. In other words, Enron stopped identifying telecom financials as a stand-
alone line item anymore, which some investors perceived as an effort to hide additional
Josses. We do know that Enron took a $638-million loss in the third quarter, which
included such businesses as broadband and water. In any case, as has been well
documented, by early December 2001 Enron Corp. had declared banksuptcy.

The company planned to frade excess bandwidth capacity, and in order to do so began
constructing its own network, which cost a huge amount of money. However, Earon's
exposure to telecom became one of many factors that brought the company into a
downward financial spin. In its third-quarter 2001 earnings report, Enron posted

$180 million in charges related to the downsizing of its broadband operations (including
severance costs and losses on inventory sales and customer contracts), Prior to that the
company acknowledged that its telecom sector had "dried up." The problem with Enron's
bandwidth unit, which now seems like a foreshadower to the problems that other
companies exposed to telecom are experiencing, is that the company faced an
unanticipated excess of fiber-optic lines, which prevented the demand for the division's
services from materializing as anticipated.

Williams Cos.: Williams Communications launched a rather successfid initial public
offering (IPO) in October 1999 and became 2 fully independent company on April 23,
2001, when the tax-free spin-off was approved by former parent company Williams Cos.
The PO was seen as a move to make Williams Communications more independent from
the parent company, but as we will see an inherent financial relationship between the two
companies kept them interconnected. Williams Communications provides broadband
fiber-optic network services. The company's network customers are carriers of voice, data
and multimedia, including the largest regional/national telecom companies, interexchange
cartiers, local exchange carriers, competitive local exchange carriers, Internet service
providers, application service providers, and utility companies. A key component of the
company's business model is its efforts to trade bandwidth, or the ability to move voice
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and data over fiber-optic nstworks. Toward that end, Williams Communications claims
that it achieved a significant milestone at the end of 2000 by establishing 33,000 route
wiles of broadband capacity connecting 125 cities, a full year ahead of its mitial
schedule.

However, energy trader and pipeline operator Williams Cos. said on March 4 that it
expects a restructuring of $1.4 billion in notes to be completed in the "very near future,”
after favorable talks with investors. The talks concern $1.4 billion of notes issued by the
WCG Note Trust, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Williams Communications
Group Inc. Williams Cos. has been under pressure by the potential bankruptey filing of
its former subsidiary Williams Communications. Williams Cos. spun off 95 percent of
Williams Communications to its shareholders in April 2000, but may have to assume
debts of $2.2 billion under various financial guarantees arranged at the time of the spin-
off. Credit-rating agency Moody's Investors Services said it was maintaining an
investment-grade Baa2 rating for the senior unsecured debt of Williams Cos., but had
downgraded the outlook for the company to negative from stable.

In addition to the potential bankruptcy that Williams Communications may have to
declare to stave off its growing debt-ridden condition, the real story here may be the
impact that the communications unit's problems could have on its former parent,
Wiltiams Cos. Despite the fact that Williams Cos. spun off 95 percent of WCG in April
2000, when prospects looked bright for the telecom and broadband trading markets, the
energy-merchant and gas-pipeline company could still take a financial hit due to
agreements that were made between the two firms when the spin-off occurred nearly two
years ago. While conventional wisdom might have been used to make the argument that
Williams Cos. made a smart move in iransferring the telecom business into a stand-alone
operation in advance of the implosion that subsequently occurred in the telecom sector,
the reality now taking shape is that the former parent company may still hold some
financial responsibility for the current problems of WCG. At the heart of this caseis a
complex, but increasingly common, use of financial accounting in which certain
investments are backed by company stock. Although many issues are still being sorted
out in its own bankruptcy proceedings, Enron apparently used this technique to back
many of its off-balance-sheet partnerships. The current story unfolding around Williams
Cos. and WCG is that the former parent of the telecom unit used its own stock as a
backing for certain financial obligations held by its former subsidiary that may have been
kept off of Williams Cos." balance sheets. The financial obligation would potentially
expose Williams Cos. to the financial turmoil that currently hovers around WCG, unless
the renegotiation of various bond notes on which Williams Cos. is presently working
prove successful.

The current plight for WCG is that it reportedly spent about $6 billion to build a fiber-
optic network before the telecom boom faded, and presently faces about $3.16 billion in
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debt, including about $2.4 billion in notes and other obligations owed to Williams Cos.,
which has prompted the company's consideration of bankruptey. For the fourth quarter
of 2001, WCG reported a loss of $372 million, or 76 cents a share, compared with $547
‘million; or $1.18 a share, for the period a year earlier. In addition to the debt, WCG
shares have recently traded as low as 13 cents {(down from a 52-week high of $14.20).
Given that the stock has been below $1 for over a month, the New York Stock Exchange
is presently reviewing whether or not shares of the company should be delisted.

The appendage that links Williams Cos. and WCG is Williams Cos.' decision to back
bonds sold by the telecom unit, which reportedly were in the range of $1.4 billion. In a
financial-structuring move that is fairly common but for which Enron has received a great
deal of negative publicity, the bonds issued by WCG were backed by Williams Cos.
shares. As you may recall, 2 major catalyst in the swift and dramatic collapse of Enron
was the fact that the company had backed many of its off-balance-sheet partnerships with
Fnron stock, even though debt for the partnerships was often not recorded on the
corporation's balance sheets. Williams Cos. reportedly backed as much as $2.2 biflion of
WCG's financial obligations. According to comments by Scott E. Schubert, chief
financial officer of WCG, the company had interest payments of $500 million this year
and a payment on $2.5 billion worth of unsecured bonds is due on April 1. However,
although the debt in question belongs to WCG, Williams Cos. would have to pay $1.4
billion in principal within 60 days if WCG cannot make its own payment (and if terms of
the notes are not restructured). In fact, Williams Cos. has said in the past that it could face
liability for up to $2.2 billion of WCG debt under certain circumstances.

Thus, as noted Williams Cos. remains tied to WCG, and could suffer some financial
consequences as a result of WCG's current debt-ridden condition, due to the agreement
over financial backing that was reportedly reached between the two companies back in
2000. Now that WCG is struggling financially, it has the potential of also impacting its
former parent. That is why Williams Cos. is feeling the heat to restructure about $1.4
billion in notes and is stressing its belief that the restructuring will be resolved in the
"very near future." Williams Cos. is also negotiating with bondholders to reach an
agreerpent that, if it does take over responsibility for making payments on the bonds for
WCG, the payments would be made over time rather than being forced to pay the entire
principal in a lump sum. A valid concern among some investors is that if Williams Cos.
is forced to pay the debt obligation it might have to issue more common stock, further
damaging the company's share price which has been impacted by larger market
conditions including the Enron collapse and softening wholesale prices. A year ago,
Williams Cos. shares were priced at almost $50 and were priced at about $22 (as of
March 16). Along with the renegotiation of bond terms, Williams Cos. also announced
that it would sell its Midwest natural-gas pipeline to raise cash to help WCG. Also note
that Williams Cos. has delayed the release of its own 4Q 2001 net earnings report while it
continues to sort out the financial exposure to its obligations to WCG.
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In another set of challenges that continue to bind Williams Cos. and WCG, the companies
face mounting shareholder lawsuits alleging that the communications venture was fraught
with misstated financial results and debt. Those launching the litigation against Williams
Cos. and WCG say that Williams Cos. misrepresented the actual finances and future
potential of the telecommunications firm, which led to an artificially inflated stock price
when WCG first went public. According to the claims, this alleged misrepresentation
enabled Williams Cos. to transfer what may have been mounting debt accrued by WCG
off the balance sheet of its former parent. In other words, the suits charge that WCG was
operating below expectations, revenue forecasts were overstated, and costs and expenses
were understated. The end result, the argument goes, was that Williams Cos. appeared
financially stronger and was able to continue growing its energy-merchant and pipeline
businesses while shareholders supporting the telecom business may have been misled.

Of course, it should be noted that Williams Cos. claims that the lawsuits are baseless and
that the company will be vindicated in court.

When we break down the various lawsuits now facing Williams Cos. and Williams
Communications, the legal claims against the companies essentially boil down to one
core issue. In a nutshell, those launching the litigation against Williams Cos. say that the
company misrepresented the actual finances and future potential of the telecommuni-
cations firm, which led to an artificially inflated stock price. Nevertheless, whatever
financial misrepresentation may have taken place at Williams, perhaps the important
subtext to this story is the ongoing meltdown of the telecom sector and how many of the
energy companies that aggressively plunged into the telecom sector may find themselves
ultimately burned by the expansion.

Moreover, although both Williams Cos. and WCG are presently trying to avert the
potential bankruptey filing of WCG, perhaps the larger issue to be addressed at this
Juncture is the financial exposure that Williams Cos. may continue to face with regard to
the existing bond notes. Obviously, WCG does not have the available cash to repay the
bonds and Williams Cos. has put itself at risk given the financial-backing arrangement
forged between the two companies. Although Williams Cos. is now espousing confidence
that the notes will be restructured in a favorable manner for the company, the lesson
learned from this case may be the dangers of backing business deals, particularly those in
off-balance-sheet arrangements, with company stock. Further, this case demonstrates the
now-obvious risks associated with the telecom sector, to which Williams Cos. exposed
itself when it financially supported the loan obligations of its former telecom unit.

Dynegy, Inc.: Dynegy has not fared much better with its telecommunications unit,
which if initiated in late-1999, During the first six months of 2001, Dynegy Global
Comumunications lost a total of $31 million. Losses in the second half of the year are not-
expected to be that severe, however Dynegy’s CEO Chuck Watson disclosed that the
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telecommunications unit will lower overall corporate earnings for the year by 13 to 16
cents. Without naming any companies specifically, Dynegy claims that its exposure to the
market downturns in telecom are not as extensive as other power firms that have
developed a telecom unit, due to its decision to be cautious about its invested capital.
"We didn't beef up our personnel and assets, so we don't find ourselves in the same
position as others," Mr. Watson said. Further, however, Mr, Watson conceded that
Dynegy can't make any money off of its telecom business until its own network is
completed, which could be still a year out or more. Dynegy has been focused on
developing a state-of-the-art, cost-efficient global network to enable the company to
participate in the broadband marketing and trading arena. The network reportedly will
consist of approximately 20,000 route miles and more than 40 points of presence (POP)
and should be completed by the fourth quarter of 2001. In addition, in late-2000 Dynegy
completed its purchase of Extant, a privately held, Colorado-based communications
solutions and e-commerce company. Extant provides centralized clearinghouse services,
OSS integration and network-expansion capabilities to communications service
providers.

Denver-based Dynegyconnect, L.P., a subsidiary of Dynegy Inc. announced the launch
of Dynegyconnect Internet Service, a comnectivity product that enables service providers
to expand their networks or add Internet access to their service portfolios using
Dynegyconnect's optical mesh network. "Competitive pricing and reliability make
Dynegyconnect Internet Service a dynamic product for our custorners,” said Mark
Stubbe, president and chief operating officer of Dynegyconnect. "Our goal is to provide
network products and services that will help our current and future customers to be
competitive in the marketplace.” Dynegyconnect, a joint venture befween Dynegy Inc,
and Telstra Corp,, is aggressively following opportunities in the converging energy and
communications marketplace. :

AES Corp.: AES is taking one step that is both clear and positive. The conmpany has said
it wants to refurn to its "core business of power generation and marketing.” This might be
viewed as a veiled reference to AES’ intent to retreat from an expansion into the telecom
sector, which has not been received well by investors. Specifically, AES spent a great
deal of time and money launching a $1.37-billion hostile takeover of Venezuelan
telecommunications firm CANTYV, or Compania Anemima Nacional Telefonos, in which
it already owns a 6.9-percent interest. AES ultimately dropped its bid when CANTV
launched its own share-repurchase program. However, the fact that AES seemed adamant
in launching a risky expansion into the telecom market of Latin America did not sit well
with investors, and clearly was one of the factors that sent the company's stock price on a
downward cycle in the fall of 2001. AES' venture rattled confidence in the company, as
some investors believed that the company was imprudently expanding into the telecom
sector, which was already significantly troubled, and becoming too heavily entrenched in
Latin Amcrica, a market that is prone to political and cconomic volatility. I think AES'
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newly renewed focus on its core géneration business is a direct response to the negative
reaction it recetved from investors last year. Nevertheless, while the retum to its
generation focus may help to present the company's business model in a clearer light,
AES could find that it is making this retreat back into power generation and marketing at
the wrong time. Since the time that AES became more diversified, the unregulated power
market has clearly become restricted. Among other factors, demand for power and
wholesale prices have both dropped, which has resulted in considerably less favorable
market conditions for the generation market than existed a year ago. Only time will tell if
AES' retooled business model will be sufficient to restore confidence in the company.

Montana Power / Touch America: The case of Montana Power Corporation (MPC)
represents the extreme scenario in which an electric utility exited the energy business and
transformed itself into a pure-play telecom operation, suffering some negative
consequences as a result. Montana Power announced ifs decision about 23 months ago to
exit the utility business and morph into a stand-alone telecom operation. The company
sold its generation assets to PPL Corp. and was in the process of selling its T&D
operation to NorthWestern, a provider of electricity, nataral gas and communications
services to Midwestern customers. Under an agreement established in October 2000,
NorthWestern was slated to acquire MPC's utility operations for approximately $602
million in cash and the assumption of $488 million in existing debt.

However, a series of setbacks collided and called into question whether or not MPC's
transformation would ever be completed. The setbacks included financial losses for the
company, a lawsuit launched by shareholders, and community backlash in response to
MPC's intention to raise electric rates by 20 percent to cover its subsequent costs for
purchasing wholesale power. Note that MPC is considered the default provider to about
288,000 customers and needs to buy an average of 670 MW to serve them. The company
also needs to keep a total of 1,050 MW as a peak load during the winter months and aims
to keep 100 MW of reserve power.

Along with general concern about the business prospects of Touch America, considering
that the market for telecom has significantly diminished since MPC annownced its plans
21 months ago, there were essentially two main obstacles facing the sale of MPC's utility
business to NorthWestern. The first obstacle was a concern about the impact that the sale
would have on MPC's distribution customers, particularly after the start of new power-
supply contracts MPC has negotiated that are set to take effect in the summer of 2002.
The second obstacle related to questions about how MPC would be able to pay off its
existing stranded costs, which reportedly are in the range of $300 million. Under
Montana restructuring law, MPC was entitled to the full recovery of its stranded costs.
However, the issue became clouded when the company voluntarily decided to sell its
generating plants and dams to support its transformation into Touch America. Ina
nutshell, both obstacles facing this sales transaction relate to money and how much of the
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profit of the sale of MPC's utility business would be returned fo the company's customers.
MPC had routinely argued that the 20-percent rate increase would be necessary for it to
secure power on the wholesale market, and that the stranded costs should be charged to
its electricity customers as they resulted from expenses associated with the company's
obligation to serve.

Nevertheless, the Montana Public Service Commission (PSC) unanimously approved an
agreement on Jan. 29 that let MPC sell the last of its utility holdings and reduce the size
of a rate increase expected in July. The five-member commission's approval ends months
of uncertainty for Montana Power, clears the way for the Butte-based utility to complete
transformation into its telecommunications subsidiary, Touch America Holdings Inc., and
resolves regulatory issues that have been before the PSC for four years. The ruling was an
endorsement of the settlement agreement between MPC, NorthWestern and the Montana
Consumer Counsel, which represents residential and small business commercial
customers, and the Montana Large Customer Group.

In mid-February, Touch America Holdings, Inc. announced that it had completed its
transition to a stand-alone fiber-optic network and broadband products and services
telecommunications company with the sale of its Montana electric and natural-gas utility
subsidiary to NorthWestcern Corporation

Reliant Energy: Reliant Resources can now be added to a growing list of energy
companies that have found their expansion into the communications sector to be far less
than lucrative. At this juncture, it appears that Reliant Resources is pondering two
options: sell off the telecom unit altogether or partner with another company to gain scale
and possibly buy some additional time to grow the business. However, rather than
sinking any additional capital into this market, Reliant Resources, which was partially
spun off from parent Reliant Energy in 2001, secems to be leaning toward a complete
divestiture of this business unit (although partnerships may keep it alive). What may
make for an interesting turn of events are the market realities of the telecom sector, which
for the most part remains quite depressed. Just as Reliant Resources takes steps to exit
from its telecom business, other power firms—some located in Reliant's hometown of
Houston—seem to be the exception of the lackluster telecom trend and in fact are
expanding their communications business. What this means is that Reliant Energy
Communications could find itself significantly undervalued and an acquisition target for
one of Reliant's competitors.

For background, Reliant Energy first ventured into the telecom space in 1999, two years
before it split its operations into regulated and unregulated businesses. Reliant’s approach
toward telecom was rather parallel with other energy companies that believed the
comumunications space—perceived as offering high-growth potential in the 1999/2000
timeframe—would become a natural extension of the expertise that the company has
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cultivated in the energy space. Its telecom business was inaugurated when Reliant
became a competitive local exchange carrier (CLEC) and was later expanded in April
2000 when the company bought Insync Internet Services. Presently, Reliant Energy
Communications is a facilitics-based communications provider that offers Web, data and
voice services to business customers and governmental agencies in Texas. The company's
services include high-speed Internet connectivity, co-location facilities, Web hosting /
design, and managed data services. The unit also offers data services including private
line, ATM and Digital Subscriber Line (DSL.), along with construction services related to
private fiber-optic networks.

Attempting to capitalize on the anticipated growth of its unregulated businesses, Reliant
Energy spun off approximately 20 percent of Reliant Resources into a stand-alone
company in May 2001. The newly formed public company consists of Reliant Energy's
unregulated power generation and related energy trading, marketing, power origination,
and risk management services in North America and Europe; a portion of its retail
electric operations; and other operations including Reliant Energy Communications, an
e-business group and a venture-capital operation. The company's IPO raised about $1.56
billion and was considered one of the most successful offerings this year. Reliant Enexgy
presently owns a little more than 80 percent of Reliant Resources, whose business model
is focused primarily on wholesale power marketing, maintaining generating and trading
assets, and selling retail energy. The spin-off is expected to be fully completed by May
2002.

While it remains purely speculative at this peint, the names of power companies
operating in the telecom sector that might have an interest in acquiring Reliant Energy
Communications represent a short list. Thus, even though Reliant Resources maintains
that it has made no ultimate decision about whether to sell its communications unit or
expand it through partnerships, a case can be made for several prospective buyers. One
obvious prospect might be Aspect, LP, a new provider of Internet-based financial risk-
management services. The two companies recently announced a partnership in which
Reliant Energy Communications will provide managed Internet hosting and security
services to Aspect. It is important to note that Aspect is an affiliate of Koch Internet
Business Strategies, the e-business development arm of Koch Industries, which is
involved in energy trading and has an extensive partnership with Entergy Corp. While
Reliant Energy Communications doss operate in business lines that are outside of
Aspect’s current scope, Aspect may find that the company's high-speed Internet
connectivity and fiber-optic assets could be used to support further expansion of its
operations.

Other possibilities are companies that are direct-line competitors to Reliant, operating in
both the energy and telecom markets. For instance, TXU Communications, which has
more than 206,000 access lines throughout Texas and operates an 1,800-route mile fiber-
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optic network, just announced that it is expanding its senior management team. TXU
Communications is reportedly ranked as the fifth-largest telephone company in Texas
and the 16%-largest in the nation, and presumably could benefit with an expansion of
Reliant Energy Communications’ assets: Further, Dynegy, Inc., Reliant Resources’
Houston neighbor, also has a telecom unit (known as Dynegy Global Communications),
which has created a network of approximately 16,000 route miles and more than 40
points of presence. Dynegy intends to become a leader in the broadband marketing and
trading arena. Across the country, DukeNet Communications, Duke Energy's telecotn-
munications subsidiary, just announced that it will be expanding its fiber-optics network
with an acquisition of more than 500 miles, which may or may not be located in its
primary service arca of the Southeastern United States.

Moreover, given the depressed nature of the telecom sector these days, should Reliant
Resources opt to sell Reliant Energy Commumications instead of growing it through
partnerships, the company could be undervalued and represent a strong buy for one of the
companies that I've mentioned. The telecom business does tend to be geographically
based, so it would make more sense for one of the Texas-based companies to move in for
an acquisition of Reliant Energy Communications. However, as some power companies
that have ventured into telecom remain optimistic that the broadband trading market will
offer liquidity within two years, purchasing the felecom service business and fiber-optics
network construction business of Reliant Energy Communications could be attractive to
any number of companies operating in this space.

On the other hand, divesting Reliant Energy Communications could make for a tough
sell. Only little more than a year ago, the telecom sector was at its peak, with billions of
capital investment flooding into the sector as wildly optimistic expectations for demand
seemingly exaggerated the scale of the market. However, a massive downturn has
ensued, impacting not only companies operating in the telecom space but the nation's
entire economy as well. By heeding the sage advice of stock-analysts in a macro sense to
“buy low, sell high,” now is definitely the time to buy as the bottom of the telecom sector
has fallen out, due in large part to the fact that the increase in bandwidth capacity has
outpaced the growth in market demand. While some companies maintain that a liquid
market for telecom and bandwidth trading is still on the horizon, it most likely is another
two years away (at the earliest), which could make the next several quarters rather
difficult for those companies with exposure in the telecom sector.

IV.  Comparisons Between the Telecom Industry’s Use of IRUs and the Energy
Industry’s Use of the Mark-to-Market Technique

Many energy companies have used a reporting technique known as "mark-to-market
accounting.” Put in a nutshell, this legal technique (endorsed by the Finaneial Accounting
Standards Board, an accounting rule maker) has enabled a good number of energy-
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trading companies whose eamings come in large part from forward contracts and spot-
market transactions, to include in current earnings the profits they expect to realize in
future periods. Under current conditions, energy-trading companies have been given
rather wide latitude fo estimate the fair value of pending contracts that have yet to
materialize and record the projected value, either as assets or Habilities, on their balance
sheets. With every quarter, and sometimes long after the quarter has ended, trading
companies typically declare non-cash earings based on the current market value of
trading positions. Further, some trading companies can tweak their price curves if
markets are illiquid enough so that mark-to-market results meet earnings expectations.
The unrealized gains often can account for a huge chunk of an energy trader's estimated
earnings. For instance, Enron's unrealized trading gains reportedly accounted for slightly
more than half of the company's $1.41 billion of originally reported pretax profit in 2000.
It is important to note that credible companies do not tweak their price curves, but the
important point is that price curves are subject o interpretation.

However, in the volatile trading market where forward prices can fluctuate wildly, it is
not uncommon that a large portion of expected eamings go unrealized, causing the
company to issue earnings revisions. Due to the rather limited disclosure requirements
that are currently in place, it has become increasingly diffieult for investors or analysts to
assess when a company might be making assumptions that are overly aggressive, or
anticipate any market conditions within the trading sector that might have an impact on
the company's projected earnings. Enron acknowledged that it had a hand in creating
these accounting standards through aggressive lobbying efforts with the SEC, but it is by
no mmeans the only trading company that has engaged in the mark-to-market technique.
Other large trading companies such as AEP, Duke, El Paso Energy, Entergy, Mirant, and
Williams have also engaged in this common practice.

Tt is important to note that the mark-to-market technique is also used for risk management
among many energy companies. Its use has an important purpose from the perspective of
risk management, and therefore should not be eliminated entirely. The component of the
mark-to-market technique that has proven troubling via the Enron case is that the
methodologies for how a company is determining the value of its future transactions has
been considered proprietary information up to this point. The fact that this information
was not disclosed in the past made it difficult for analysts and investors to determine the
accuracy of the company’s valuations. Consequently, it is unlikely that the mark-to-
market technique will be prohibited. Instead, the SEC will probably call for fuller
discloser requirements on the methodologies that companies use within the mark-to~
market technique,

There is a striking parallel between the use among energy companies of the mark-to-
market technique and the use among telecom companies of the IRU technique. The
similarity lies in the fact that companies in both industries were able to inflate current
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carnings on the basis of projected revenue that may have materialized down the line. In
the use of mark-to-market, energy companies that sold fitures contracts for power trading
counter potential and subsequent revenue as real and current revenue. In addition, energy
companies had fairly unrestricted ability to assign the value of the futures contracts
without having to divulge the methodology that they used to determine those values. In
the use of IRU techniques, telecom companies often swapped capacity with other telecom
companies at equal value, but recorded revenue or expense in such a way as to make their
financial reports look stronger. Although used differently and embraced by different
markets, the mark-to-market and IRU techniques both have the potential of creating
artificially inflated financial earnings. Investors and analysts who are not educated on the
intricacies of these techniques (the methodologies for which are often undisclosed) may
be misled into thinking that the company is financially stronger than it actually is. In
addition, as we have seen in the staggering and sudden bankruptcies of Global Crossing
and Enron Corp., companies that had appeared as market leaders and fiscally strong to
the general public crumbled when faced with their respective financial setbacks.

Y. Comprehensive Solutions to Revive Investor Confidence in Financial
Disclosures of Energy and Telecommunications Companies

‘While my testimony chooses not to speculate on what changes the Committes on
Financial Services should make to revive investor confidence in the financial disclosure
of energy and telecommunications companies, it is fairly clear the changes that should be
expected along these lines from the Securities and Exchange Commission. Responding to
growing pressure over Enron's collapse, the head of the SEC has proposed to have a
group of outside experts discipline accountants rather than relying on the industry to
police itself. Harvey L. Pitt, the SEC chairman, said that antiquated rules on corporate
disclosure and accounting ethics had allowed investors to suffer from a series of auditing
lapses over the last decade. "This commission cannot and, in any event, will not tolerale
this pattern of growing restatements, audit failures, corporate failures, and then massive
investor losses,” Chairman Pitt said. "Somehow, we have got to put a stop to a vicious
cycle that has now been in evidence for far too many years.”

While there is little doubt that changes in the accounting practices of U.S. corporations
are necessary, just what those changes will be and how they will be implemented remains
a complicated issue. The Enron collapse certainly has brought a host of accounting
problems into a national debate, as the company's bankruptcy seems to be the direct result
of manipulation that occurred with regard to corporate financing, However, those
immersed in the development of financial standards know that many fundamental
problems have persisted for decades and have just recently boiled over to a level that is
publicly intolerable. Clearly, the conditions necessitating market reform have elevated in
recent years, which the Enron collapse accentuates. The Jast report I saw indicated that
the number of restatements of financial statements of publicly traded companies
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increased from 116 i 1997 to more than 230 in 2000, supporting the argument that the
existing standards offer too many loopholes that result in unreliable financial reports. It
should be noted that the new measures taking shape are primarily for the benefit of
investors, analysts, credit-agencies, employees, and other stakehelders, and not
necessarily for the benefit of the companies that will be impacted. In other words, the
changes that may be imminent from the SEC would not be put into place to protect other
companies from declaring bankruptey. Chairman Pitt realizes that bankruptcy filing may
be an inevitable reality among businesses. Instead, the changes that are likely from the
SEC would be put into place to require companies to provide fuller and more accurate
information about their financial position to investors and analysts.

In other words, Chairman Pitt has made it clear that the SEC, or other lawmakers and
regulators for that matter, should not intervene if a company such as Enron is going
under. The chance of bankruptcy, according to Chairman Pitt, is an essential counterpart
to the dynamic of a free and fairly operating marketplace. Rather, the sweeping changes
that appear probable for the accounting industry should seck to address the manipulation
that can occur from the wide opportunity for individual interpretation that companies
presently have when formulating their own financial records.

Granted, dysfunctional aspects of the methods that American corporations use to report
their financial health to investors, lenders, credit-rating agencies, employees, and other
stakeholders represent a complex arena of policymaking that may take many months or
years to resolve. The impact that the Bnron collapse will have as a catalyst for change in
the financial accounting is not fully known, as this is a story that is still unfolding.
However, based on both formal and informal material that has been released by the SEC
(including cautionary advisories, public notices, speeches, and comments by Chairman
Pitt, and actual rules), there are various pending changes that can be expected with regard
to financial reporting that should come to fruition in the future. Looking at the energy
industry as a whole, all corporations (including utilities that have regulated and
unregulated operations and energy companies that are strictly merchant energy
compariies) will be impacted by these changes to one degree or another. Based on the
mformation that we have at this time, I project that policy changes anticipated by the SEC
will manifest in the following ways:

A new, independent review board focused exclusively on accounting standards.
Auditing firms exist to determine whether a company's financial statements fairly reflect
its condition within the broad parameters of what accountants refer to as generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), sometimes referred to as MOPAP (for "my own
personal accounting principles,” a reference to the lack of standardization in
methodologies). However, as financial statements and the methods of reporting income
and losses have become more complex, the general consensus appears to be that those
principles are no longer adequate.
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Presently, the accounting profession is "regulated” by the Public Oversight Board, a
group affilisted with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA),
which oversess ethics and rules violations. AICPA is a professional association for
accountants and makes recommendations to the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB), which actually makes the rules. The SEC traditionally files complaints for more
egregious violations, particularly federal violations. In addition, state boards can take the
extreme measure of stripping an accountant of his or her license if it is determined that
rules have been violated. However, in reality, there really is no regulatory oversight of
the accounting industry that occurs on a day-to-day basis. In fact, since 1977, the
accounting industry has operated on a peer-review system, in which one accounting firm
monitors how another firm conducts its andits. The new agency proposed by Chairman
Pitt would oversee the disciplinary reviews of accountants and also spearhead a series of
accounting-industry reforms. Further, the organization would reportedly have full
regulatory authority to investigate wrongdoing by accountants and to issue penalties
ranging from censures to bans from the industry. Interestingly, Chairman Pitt has said
that the federal government cannot afford to front this new separate advisory panel, and
thus is looking for private funding to front the proposed agency. In fact, under Chairman
Pitt's vision, the private-sector panel would replace the functions currently provided by
the Public Oversight Board and the AICPA. The fact that Chairman Pitt has called for
private-company funding for the new agency has sparked the ire of many politicians, who
have likened the idea to letting "a fox guard the hen house.” Chairman Pitt claims that the
panel would ensure its objectivity by employing a majority of public members who are
independent from the accounting industry.

In my opinion, the funding issues around the creation of this oversight board are rather
troublesome. If an oversight board is to receive funding from private interests such as
utility companies, it raises conflict of interest issues. It would be preferable to not have
the board funded by private interests. However, at the same time, it should be noted that
electric utility companies often fund state and federal regulatory boards, so the practice of
private funds supporting a regulatory oversight agency is not unprecedented.

Distrust for pro forma accounting. In recent history, many corporations have embraced
pro forma accounting, a practice that essentially allows a company to show profits and
losses without demonstrating these changes in tangible values on their main balance
sheets. Some would go further and say that pro forma accounting enables the
management of a company to issue upbeat financial results by hiding unprofitable deals
or other financial problems. The technique came into heavy practice in the late-1990s
with the dot-com craze and the emergence of Internet companies, which use pro forma
accounting to keep off of their financial reports disadvantageous expenses often related to
mergers or sudden changes in an accounting period. Pro forma accounting has been
particularly advantageous to start-up companies that do not have strong cash flow,
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because they are able to appear financially strong based on their goals instead of realized
gains. Under pro forma accounting, items kept off the financial records can be classified
as one-time occurrences (also known as non-recurring items) and therefore the company
can justify excluding them on the primary balance sheet. The result, according to some
observers, has heen a new accounting system without any set rules to govern it, and
companies have been given wide latitude to report their performance in any way they
want to (regardless of its correlation to reality).

Moving forward, the SEC will most likely require greater transparency in the financial
statements that companies provide, along with placing an intent eye on how companies
may attempt to transfer debt off of their balance sheets. The requirement of real-time
financial reports appears inevitable, but could take many years to implement as the
transition could be quite complex for many companies. As a side note, Amazon.com just
posted its first profitable quarter and announced its intent to replace pro forma accounting
with cash-flow accounting. This example could be used in the argument that any publicly
traded company should adhere to a strict accounting standard rather than the more
flexible pro forma approach.

{n my opinion, one option that the SEC should consider would be to require companies to
submit both pro forma and cash statements. Instead of requiring one or the other, if both
pro forma and cash statements were submitted by companies, then investors would have
more information about the company and be able to make decisions that are better
informed. In addition, also in my opinion, subsidiaries of larger companies should be
required to submit financial reports just like their larger parent operations. Cften, the
financial statements of a subsidiary company are buried within the larger and more
complex statements of the subsidiary’s parent. In my opinion, subsidiaries should not be
exempt from financial reporting standards that will be created for larger parent
operations.

Scrutiny of mark-to-market technigunes. This is another likely change for which Enron
can be seen as a primary catalyst. As has been well documented, Enron embraced this
accounting technique as it enabled the company to inflate its present financial strength on
the basis of projected earnings. In other words, in Enron's derivative trading business, the
company was able to count all contract revenues, no matter how forward looking, as
current income, which obviously gave a skewed vision of the company to outsiders. The
mark-to-market technique (which was endorsed by FASR) has enabled 4 good number of
energy-trading companies whose earnings come in large part from forward contracts and
spot-market transactions, to include in current earnings the profits they expect to realize
in future periods. Under current conditions, energy-trading companies have been given
rather wide discretion to estimate the fair value of pending contracts that have yet to
materialize and record the projected value, either as assets or liabilities, on their balance
sheets. With every quarter, and sometimes long after the quarter has ended, trading
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companies typically declare non-cash earnings based on the current market value of
trading positions. Further, trading companies often can tweak their price curves if
markets are illiquid encugh so that mark-to-market results meet earnings expectations,
The unrealized gains often can account for a huge chunk of an encrgy trader's estimated
earnings. Moving forward, the mark-to-market technique may remain an acceptable
accounting technique, but the SEC could mandate that companies using this approach
clearly identify the individual methodologies that they use to quantify projected earnings.

Full, fair and real-time financial reporting. One of the keys to the Enron collapse is that
the company was not particularly forthcoming with its financial methodologies, either
internally or externally. One of the significant changes that can be considered a direct
result of the Enron case is the call for full disclosure in the operation of capital markets.
Moving forward, executives, analysts and accountants will most likely be required to
fully disclose a good deal of what was previously considered proprietary information. On
both a company's balance sheet, which shows its assets and liabilities, and its profit-and-
loss statement, companies will probably be required to incorporate a policy of full
disclosure. Enron's convoluted use of special purpose entities (SPEs) has been a catalyst
in this area, as new standards for full disclosure will most likely weed out financial
statements that are dense or overly complex. In addition, increasingly a case is being
made that quarterly and annual reports, the mainstay of access that investors and analysts
have into a company's financial performance are no longer relevant or useful because it
takes so long for auditors to certify them. Perbaps more importantly, we are finding that,
given current market conditions, a company's financial standing can change quickly over
the course of three months, so reliance on the financial report from the previous quarter
may not be sufficient for investors or analysts to make an educated decision on the
company's performance. According to reports I've seen, the system that Chairman Pitt
envisions regarding real-time disclosure is one in which companies and their auditors
seek the guidance of regulators in advance of an action, rather than after a violation has
occurred. This would dramatically change the financial reporting process that companies
have become accustomed to, and would require a radical calibration of a company’s
financial records.

In my opinion, the call for real-time financial reporting may be unrealistic. However,
monthly reporting {(as opposed to quarterly reporting) is more feasible and is something
that companies could be reasonably called to submit.

Ensuring the independence of anditing firms. There are two issues at play within this
area, and they are the expected restriction against a firm having both auditing and
consulting practices, and the scrutiny of whether the compensation that auditing firms
receive has made them less likely to conduct a thorough examination of a company's
books. For reference, the so-called "Big Five" accounting firms include Arthur Andersen
(which Enron used, but recently fired), Ernst & Young, KPMG, Deloitie Touche
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Tohmatsu, and PricewaterhouseCoopers. Historically, the fees assoctated with auditing
services have not been particularly lucrative, so such firms moved into other lines of
business such as consuling (for personnel, technology or legal issues) that had a higher
monetary yield. In fact, according to the AICPA, more than 90 percent of the nation's
accounting firms are engaged in consulting, financial advising or something other than
traditional tax work. However, conflicts of interest between auditing and consulting,
particularly when one firm is serving a comgpany in both capacities, have been the source
of concern for years.

The Clinton-era SEC had tried to implement a separation between auditing and
consulting services but was unsuccessful. The issue may have more support now, but it is
important to note that Chairman Pitt reportedly has dismissed suggestions that he take
steps to keep auditors from performing other work for the same clients, Chairman Pitt has
defended auditing firms' rights to continue cross-selling consulting services to auditing
clients. However, given the publicity over the Enron collapse, Chairmoan Pitt may change
his mind on this issue and decide to invoke a separation between consulting and auditing
services.

Another area of concern is the high level of compensation that some auditing firms
receive, either for straight auditing work or consulting. For instance, Andersen reportedly
received $25 miltion to audit Enron's books and another $27 million for consulting
services. The concern is that many auditing firms are not operating at arm's length from
their clients and thus may be dissnaded from asking tough financial questions that could
teveal concerns about a company's financial performance. Certainly, the issue has been
raised with the Enron / Andersen partnership, as both companies have engaged in some
finger pointing against the other and the industry is still sorting out the extent to which
Andersen bears culpability for Enron's misleading financial statements.

These are just some of the changes that are likely on the horizon from the SEC that will
impact the financial practices of energy companies, along with other corporations. There
are other changes as well, impacting pension programs (including rules related to 401(k)
programs), campaign finance and other securities regulation. Many of these changes may
still be years away, as the SEC and possibly the U.S. Congress gather additional data and
work toward constructing new policy that may in some parts rely on approval from
various parties. In any case, we know at this point that the entire accounting industry is
under intense review and on the verge of major overhaul.

VI.  Summary and Findings
The market downturns in telecom and energy merchant sectors need to be analyzed

separately. Although there is some overlap (best illustrated by the Enron case as Enron
Corp. invested heavily in the telecom market), the telecom and energy industries faced
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different market dynamices that led to the extreme cases of Global Crossing and Enron
Corp., respectively. The overlap seems best defined by the use of questionable (although
legal) accounting that might have misled investors and analysts by artificially inflating
the financial performances of the companies that used said techniques. The accounting
techniques used by telecom and energy companies are presently under investigation by
Congress and the Securities and Exchange Commission, and modifications to or limits on
those accounting techniques may be made as a result.

If we summarize the complex market conditions that brought about the downturn in the
telecom market and the bankruptey of Global Crossing, it essentially can be distilled to a
collectively exaggerated projection for the demand in broadband capacity. Telecom
companies, and energy companies that expanded into the telecom market, invested
heavily in the construction of fiber-optic cable (often with funds obtained through capital
loans). As stated in this testimony, the massive overinvestment in such “backbone”
networks, along with slowing of growth in Internet traffic, produced a slump in demand
for the wholesale comnunications capacity sold by companies like Global Crossing and
left them unable to support mountains of debt. Global Crossing’s debts prompted a
bankruptey filing, but other telecom firms such as Qwest and Level 3 are also struggling
with impacts from the market downturn in the telecom sector.

However, available data indicate that the telecom sector has been on a market downturn
for well over a year, and the sector as a whole began facing extreme volatility in late
2000 and into 2001. As the Global Crossing case represents, the volatility in the telecom
sector stems in large part from the extreme imbalance between a surplus supply of fiber-
optic network capacity and a much-lower-than-anticipated demand for such capacity.

Consider the following data related to telecom stocks. The following plot reiterates my
statement that the telecom sector has been in decline for well over a year.
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The SEC or other regulatory or legislative bodies may seek to enact restrictions on
telecom companies’ use of the IRU technique, especially when swaps are used and an
equal-value exchange is reported as income or capital cxpenses by a company. Global
Crossing will certainly be a case study for changes in the telecom sector.

The telecom sector could very well rebound if and when demand for broadband capacity
increases. Most estimates suggest that a measurable increase in demand may begin to
develop in the next four to five years. In the meantime, we may continue to see ongoing
volatility among companies that heavily invested in fiber-optic networks and yet could
7ot sell capacily o gain a profit on those networks.

If we summarize the complex market conditions that brought about the current volatility
in the encrgy market, there are a number of factors that have impacted the earnings
potential of merchant energy companies and relate to the bankruptcy of Enron Corp. The
downturn in the energy market began in the second quarter of 2001, when wholesale
prices began a dramatic decline. In addition, mild weather conditions and increased
conservation efforts caused demand 1o drop in many areas of the country. This impacted
the earnings potential for energy ¢ompanies primarily based in the unrcgulated marketing
and trading of power. Companies that have a regulated utility operation did not seem to
be as impacted by the drop in wholesale prices because they had a steady stream of
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revenue coming from the utility. In addition, concerns about a glut of generating capacity
began to concern investors and raised doubts about the ability of energy companies
heavily invested in power-plant construction or power trading to make a profit under
conditions of excess generating capacity.

These concerns began to drive down the energy merchant business as a whole in the
second and third quarters of 2001, after following a period of profitability and strong
investor enthusiasm for energy companies throughout most of 2000. Certainly the
dramatic collapse of Enron in the third and fourth quarters of 2001 shook the energy
market as a whole and cast a shadow over the energy merchant business in particular,
Capital markets that had been generous only a year earlier significantly constricted,
further impacting the growth and expansion plans that energy merchant companies had
previously espoused. However, it must be understood that the collapse of Enron was not
the sole precipitator of the downturn in the energy market. The following information
shows that the decline in the energy market began about one year ago (in February and
March of 2001), and was certainly accelerated by the Enron collapse.
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Current data suggest that market conditions may keep the energy market rather
constricted for the next three or four years. Wholesale prices for natural gas should
remain about $3.00/MMBtu for the next year at least and probably well into 2003. This
will tend to lower earnings for energy companies primarily involved in the marketing and
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trading of power in wholesale transactions. In addition, according to RDI, a research
consulting firm, more plants were added in 2001-2002 than were added in all of the
1990s combined. As a result of this perceived glut, an increasing number of merchant
companies are modifying their once-ambitious plans for generation capacity expansion.
Thus, claims of an energy glut may be overestimated. In a time period in which many
experts suggest is three to four years out, demand and supply balance should even out
once more, which would drive the need for additional generating capacity and possibly
increase wholesale prices if adequate supply does not exist.

Moreover, energy companies such as Enron and Williams that invested heavily in the
telecom market clearly encountered some negative financial consequences as a result of
that expansion. However, in the case of Enron’s bankruptcy, the telecom exposure was
only one factor among many other market conditions within the energy sector and capital
markets that contributed to the company’s collapse. It would not be accurate to suggest
that the company’s exposure to the telecom sector was a major contributing factor to
Enron’s collapse. Further, it would not be accurate to suggest that the market downturn in
the telecom sector has been a major driver for volatility among those energy companies
that have expanded into telecom. Market conditions in the energy sector (including the
dramatic drop in wholesale prices and decrease in demand) and the current restriction in
capital markets are clearly the driving forces behind any existing volatility among the
earnings and stock prices of energy companies. While exposure to the telecom market
may be an added problem for energy companies, it is not the primary factor for the
current volatility we are seeing among energy companies,
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